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Salman Khurshid

Minister of State (Independent Charge) 

Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India 

	MESSAGE


The Indian economy has expanded at a rapid rate during the current decade and the corporate sector has emerged as the biggest contributors in this growth story.  Not only has India witnessed large inflow of foreign investments during this period but has also seen the emergence of Indian multinationals on the global corporate scene.  The capital market and its expansion has been an important factor in giving a boost to the growth of the corporate sector during the current decade.  With this growth of the capital market, some of the Indian companies are now enjoying market capitalizations and are amongst the top companies in the whole world.  However, relatively low participation of retail investors in the corporate economy continues to be a cause of concern.  It has been ascertained that the total number of retail investors is much less than 1% of the total Indian population.


While on one hand, the number of retail investors is low, on the other hand substantial amount of household savings are available which can be channelized in the corporate economy through various investment schemes. This can enable the common people to derive higher returns from their investments and link the growth of corporate sector to the growth of income of these households.  This requires an effective outreach initiative to the common people where they can be educated as well as encouraged to take informed investment decisions in the corporate economy in order to get higher returns.


Taking note of this, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs has decided to mainstream the investor awareness program as a national agenda during the current year.  For this purpose, we have partnered with a number of institutions who will be organizing more than 3,000 investor programmes throughout the country this year.  We are also organizing the ‘India Investor Week’ during July 2010 with the theme ‘Informed Investor – an Asset to Corporate India’.


The Ministry is bringing out a comprehensive investor guide on this occasion which will help the ‘aam aadmi’ desirous of making investments to understand their rights and responsibilities as well as various investment instruments along with their associated risks and returns.  I am sure that the publication of this Book will be a significant step in spreading awareness on investor issues and will help in integrating the common man into the corporate economy of the country.

Salman Khurshid
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R.Bandyopadhyay
Secretary 

Ministry of Corporate Affairs, 

Government of India 

	FOREWORD


Buoyant and participative financial and capital markets are not only one of the most important requirements for growth of corporate economy, but are also an important instrument of financial inclusion.  The buoyancy in these markets is as much dependent on the performance of the corporate sector as is on the participation of informed investors in the market operations.  With the twin objectives to bring more people into the corporate economy by way of investment of their surplus incomes and to make them informed investors, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs has undertaken various initiatives under the aegis of Investor Education and Protection Fund.  These include media campaigns and organizing investor awareness programmes with the help of investor associations and some of the institutions working in this field.  As a part of this initiative, the Ministry has also made available educational content in different regional languages at its website.  For redressal of the investor grievances, the Ministry has made available the services through an investor helpline.

      With a view to convert the investor education and awareness programme of the Ministry into a mass movement, it has been decided to upscale this initiative in a big way and to bring a number of organizations as partners in this area.  I am happy to announce that the three professional institutes, the major trade and industry chambers, the stock exchanges along with the Reserve Bank of India, SEBI and Department of Public Enterprises have come together to take up a very large number of investor awareness programmes throughout the country.  We expect the number of these programmes to go beyond 3,000 during the current financial year.

      In order to educate the investors for taking informed investment decisions, the Ministry has decided to bring out an easy to understand book that provides lucid information on various investment instruments and the rights and responsibilities associated with each one of them.  This Investor’s Guide has been edited by Shri Prithvi Haldea, a noted expert on the subject. Valuable material has also been provided by SEBI, RBI, Stock Exchanges and the Professional Institutes in this regard.  The publication of this book, which will also be available shortly in other languages, will help in encouraging a much larger number of common people to participate in the corporate economy.  This will be a small contribution by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs towards the national agenda of inclusive growth and I am sure that a large number of investors – existing and potential – will benefit from the contents of this Book.


The Ministry appreciates the contribution made by Shri Prithvi Haldea and the organizations that have partnered with the Ministry in this initiative of nation building and hopes that the investors will be encouraged for greater participation in the capital market in an informed and wise manner.

R.Bandyopadhyay



	EDITOR’S NOTE


Investments by households in India have increasingly moved either to risk-free, fixed-return, low-yielding instruments or to non-financial assets. Low knowledge among households of financial concepts and products has a direct impact on utilization by households of the financial markets. Financial literacy also plays a significant role in efficient allocation of household savings and the ability of individuals to meet their financial goals. Investors tend to use thumb rules or seek advice from friends and relatives, which are often poor approximations compared to those that follow from a scientific analysis. They will tend to make bad choices, contribute insufficiently, begin saving late, stay away from modern finance, or fall prey to fraud or mis-selling. If they get bad advice, the outcomes will be poor, and they will lose faith in the system. History shows that most investors allow others to destroy their wealth.

Small investors have always played a crucial role in the capital market. There is, however, an increasing need for their larger role. Less than 1 % of our population invests directly in the market with another 2 to 3 % coming through the mutual funds. Worse, less than 2 per cent of the household savings go to the capital market.  Every earner is a potential saver; every saver is a potential investor; and every investor ought to be financially literate. Unless the common person becomes a wiser investor, and is protected from wrongdoings, wealth creation for the investor will remain a distant dream. We need to convert a nation of savers into a nation of investors. 

Individuals need to be empowered so that they can make informed decisions. Imparting financial knowledge to people is a public good. The government, regulators and the financial services industry need to come together to initiate action to improve financial literacy and deliver accurate information in simple formats.  

This Investors’ Guide is a humble beginning in this direction. 

The three institutions-ICAI, ICSI and ICWAI had prepared Investors’ Handbooks. However, these had different coverage and focus. This present Investors’ Guide to the Capital Market is a compilation of the best materials appearing in these handbooks, updating the various sections with the changes in the market/laws/guidelines, rewriting several sections to make them investor-friendly and adding a large number of new sections. The format of presentation has also been made more appealing.

The Editor would like to appreciate the commitment of Shri Salman Khurshid, Minister of State (Independent Charge) ,Ministry of Corporate Affairs and Shri  R.Bandyopadhyay, Secretary, Ministry of Corporate Affairs to empower the investors and would like to thank them for providing the opportunity of writing this Guide. 

Prithvi Haldea

1st June, 2010
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Chapter 1

	INVESTOR EDUCATION AND PROTECTION FUND


About IEPF

Investor Education and Protection Fund (IEPF) has been established under Section 205C of the Companies Act, 1956 by way Companies (Amendment) Act, 1999 for promotion of investors’ awareness and protection of the interests of investors.

Activities undertaken by IEPF

Investor Education and Protection Fund (Awareness and Protection of Investors) Rules, 2001 stipulate the activities related to investors’ education, awareness and protection for which the financial sanction can be provided under IEPF.

(i)  Activities stipulated under Rules

· Education programme through Media

· Organizing seminars and symposia

· Funding proposals for registration of Voluntary Associations and Institutions or other organizations engaged in Investor Education and Protection activities

· Funding proposals for projects for Investors’ Education and Protection including research activities

· Coordinating with institutions engaged in Investor Education, Awareness and Protection activities

(ii)  Activities undertaken by the IEPF

· Educating and creating awareness among investors through Voluntary associations or organizations registered under IEPF; 100 associations have been registered so far.

· Educating investors through Media, Conducted panel discussions on DD (Delhi, Mumbai, Kolkata, Chennai and Ahmedabad), Telecast of TV Video spots on DD & private channels, print advertisement in national as well as regional newspapers. All these programmes have been undertaken in Hindi, English and regional languages.

· Organizing seminars and workshops through associations registered under IEPF;

· Financing research projects pertaining to investor education and awareness;

· Coordinating with institutions engaged in investor education and awareness 

· Indian Institute of Capital Markets (IICM) has been engaged for conducting research/study on unclaimed dividend, interest etc. and also conducting “Training of Trainers” programme.

INVESTOR RELATED WEBSITES OF IEPF

iepf.gov.in
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Created and Maintained by 

PRIME Database (PRAXIS)

info@iepf.gov.in

Financial literacy allows the investors to fully appreciate opportunities and associated risks, take informed decisions and participate actively in the economic growth story of the country by converting savings into investments. 

As a step towards achieving this objective, the MCA launched a website www.iepf.gov.in in September, 2007. Besides providing information about IEPF and the various activities that have been undertaken/ funded by it, this website fulfils the need for an information resource for small investors on all aspects of the capital market and do it in the small investors’ language. 

This website presently covers information on IPO Investing, Mutual Fund Investing, Stock Trading, Depository Account, Debt Market,  Derivatives, Indices, Indices (Comic Strip),  Index Funds, Investor Grievances & Arbitration (Stock Exchanges), Investor Rights & Obligations, Dos and Don’ts etc.

This website is now available in Hindi as well as 12 major regional languages. 

Going forward, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs intends to cover many other areas on this website like lifetime investment strategy, insurance, plantation companies, fixed deposits, small savings and banking. It is also proposed to 

introduce several investor-friendly services like online help desks, webcasts, investment planning worksheets,  retirement planning, tax guides, quiz contests, working with financial advisors and investor alerts.
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Created and Maintained by 

Prime Investors Protection Association and League 

info@watchoutinvestors.com
Mission
To prevent unscrupulous entities from harming investors and, in the process help build public confidence in the financial system, thereby enabling flow of public investment to the right avenues.

A free public service...
The best defense against frauds is self-defense. This first-of-its-kind-in-the-world, free public service arms the investors with a self-defense tool to protect themselves from fraudulent/non-compliant companies, intermediaries and individuals. This website is now a national web-based registry of such entities. 

Why should investors use this website?
watchoutinvestors.com enables investors to do a fast, efficient and user-friendly search and provides them with the information on such entities/persons which they can use:

· before making any new investments with such entities

· for continuously reviewing their existing portfolio vis-à-vis such entities.

· for getting automatic email alerts on companies in their portfolio for new actions (mywatchout).

· when dealing with such entities in any manner

Why this website?

Consider the following:

· Over the years, thousands of unscrupulous entities have defrauded the investors or have broken the economic laws of the land. The practice continues.

· Investors have lost confidence in the market consequent to a series of mishaps.

· In many cases, though penal regulatory action has been taken against such entities, the information about such actions lies scattered and is in a difficult-to-access, difficult-to-use format. Defaulters keep reappearing to harm the investors again, often with changed company names or by floating new companies/ schemes, encouraged as they are by inadequate deterrents. Unregistered and indicted intermediaries abound, and investors suffer at their hands.

· Regulatory action is reactive and rarely compensates the investors.

· Absence of any organized database prevents regulators and investors from taking any pre-emptive action.

· NRIs are a further disadvantaged lot, far as they are from the market and the regulators.

· On the whole, investors feel cheated and helpless, and have become over-cautious. As a result, the capital market and the economy are suffering.

The creation of the website
watchoutinvestors.com has been created to provide information to the investors in respect of unscrupulous entities who have committed frauds or who have not been complying with the economic laws of the land. Many of these entities keep reappearing to harm the investors again, often with a new company or changed company names or by floating new schemes, taking advantage of short public memory and exploiting greed.

Though penal regulatory action has been taken against many of such entities, information about such actions was scattered and was in a difficult-to-access, difficult-to-use format across a large number of sources i.e. websites, databases, publications, notifications and orders of the government and of other organizations, agencies, courts of law, tribunals and commissions. It was almost impossible for an investor to locate an indicted entity at any regulator’s website and worse, the absence of a combined database of actions taken by all regulators prevented the investors from assessing the extent of defaults by a given entity.

Over several years, watchoutinvestors.com has undertaken the huge job of collating, value adding, cleaning, standardizing, reformatting and tabulating information on all regulatory actions of the past few years and re-presented on this website in a form and manner that can be accessed in a user friendly manner.

In fact, this website is easier to search and navigate than the official websites of the very regulatory agencies whose actions have been tracked and listed by it.

Over 1,06,000 entities are already listed on this website
As of 31st May,2010, the website had listed over 1,06,000 entities covering:

     Companies/Firms   : 72,517

     Individuals               : 33,947 

Regulators covered
The website covers the orders passed by several regulatory bodies, including the following:

· Bombay Stock Exchange Ltd.

· Central Depository Services (India) Ltd.

· Company Law Board

· Debt Recovery Tribunals

· Employees’ Provident Fund Organization

· Insurance Regulatory & Development Authority

· Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Registrars Of Companies

· National Housing Bank

· National Securities Depository Ltd.

· National Stock Exchange of India Ltd.

· Reserve Bank of India

· Securities and Exchange Board of India

Daily updation
The website is updated on a daily basis.

Simple search results

All regulatory charges and actions are rewritten in simple English, and standardized.

The search results are provided in a simple tabular format. For each entry, the reason for the action and the action taken by the regulatory body is provided in a summary form.  

For each entry, the source document is attached, wherever available or identified to enable verification and full details. 

Decisions of the higher appellate authorities are also included. 

Company name changes database

The website also allows investors to check for dubious name changes of thousands of companies.

Increasing usage

watchoutinvestors.com is being used by lakhs of investors (over 27 lakhs as on 31st May, 2010). The website is also helping investors indirectly by increasing usage by regulators, investment bankers, stock exchanges and law firms.
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Created and Maintained by 

Midas Touch Investors Association

midas@investorhelpline.in

Investor Helpline: A novel concept

· A free of charge, dedicated portal to handle investor grievances.

· Right from filing grievances to tracking status, the interaction with administrator has been made online to make it user friendly.

· Specific Forms for Different types of Grievances.

GRIEVANCE TYPES
· Non Receipt of Refund Order/ Allotment Advise related 

· Non-Receipt of Dividend 

· Non-Receipt of Share certificates / Units after allotment / transfer/ Bonus Transmission etc. 

· Non-Receipt of Debentures / Bond Certificate or Interest / Redemption Amount 

· Offer for Rights Issue 


· Non-Receipt of Investments and returns thereon on Collective Investment Schemes/ Plantation Companies 

· Non-Receipt of Annual Report / AGM Notice / Proxy Form 

· Non-Registration of Change in Address of Investor 

· Non-Receipt of Fixed / Public Deposits related amounts 


· Demat related Grievances 

· General Form 

Chapter 2

	EDITOR’S 20 MANTRAS


Save prudently…

Invest even more wisely

Investing
· Investing is compulsory.

· You have to invest otherwise your savings will depreciate in value/purchasing power.

· However, mindless or reckless investing is hazardous to wealth.

20 Mantras to Wise Investing

Mantra 1

Invest only in fundamentally strong companies
· Do not go for momentum  or penny stocks.

· Invest only in companies with strong fundamentals; these are the ones that will withstand market pressures, and perform well in the long term.

· Equity investments cannot be sold back to the company/promoters. 

· Strong stocks are also liquid stocks.

Mantra 2

Read carefully

· Do not gamble away your hard earned money.

· Due diligence is a must.

· Read about the offer. This is an advice difficult to practice with offer documents now running into more than 1000 pages; abridged prospectus too is difficult to read. Yet, read you must, at least sections on risk factors, litigations, promoters, company history, project, objects of the issue and  key financial data.
Mantra 3

Follow life-cycle investing

· You can afford to take greater risks when you are young.

· As you cross 50, start getting out of risky instruments.

· By 55/60, you should be totally out of equity. (You can’t afford to lose your capital when you have stopped earning new money). There are better things in life at that age than watch the price ticker on TV! 

Mantra 4

Invest in IPOs
· IPOs are a good entry point.

During bull runs, almost all IPOs provide positive, and in many cases huge, returns on the listing day. If an investor does not book profit, he is either greedy or takes a wrong call on the company/ industry/ market. He should then not fault the IPO price. Remember that…
· IPOs have to be bought; these are not forced upon the investors.

· The problem is that we put IPOs on a pedestal and expect them to perform forever. An IPO becomes a listed stock on the listing date. It will then behave like that.  

· Decide whether you are investing in an IPO or in a company. If as an IPO, then exit on  listing date. If as a company, then remain invested as you would in a listed stock.

In any case, invest only if the QIB oversubscription is healthy.

And use the ASBA process to invest.
Mantra 5

Surely invest in every PSU IPO
· IPOs are only from very good and profitable PSUs; also very little  risk of fraud.

· There would always be a discount for the retail investors.

· Don’t get bothered by the listing price; stay invested.

Mantra6

Invest in mutual funds, but select the right fund and scheme

· In India, mutual funds are dominated by corporate money, and have little focus on the small investors.

· Still, mutual funds are a better vehicle for a small investor.

· There are too many mutual funds, too many schemes; select the right one.

Mantra 7

Learn to sell

· Most investors buy and then just hold on (Most advice by experts on the media is also to buy or hold, rarely to sell).

· Profit is profit only when it is in your bank (and not in your register or Excel sheet).

· Remember, you cannot maximize the market’s profits so don’t be greedy. 
· Set a profit target, and sell.
Mantra 8

Deal only with registered intermediaries

· Many unauthorized operators in the market who will lure you with promises of high returns, and then vanish with your money.

· Dealing with registered intermediaries is safer and allows recourse to regulatory action.

Mantra 9

Let not greed make you an easy prey!
· Many scamsters are roaming around, to exploit your greed.

· Most scams rob small investors.
· Be careful about the entity seeking your money.

Mantra 10

Beware of the media, especially the stock-specific advice on electronic media
· Too many “saints” in the capital market offering free advice!

· In reality, many of these advisors have vested interests.
· Also beware of the get-rich schemes being sold through SMS and emails.

Mantra 11

Don’t get taken in by advertisements 
· The job of an advertisement is to make you feel-good.
· Don’t get carried away by attractive headlines, appealing visuals, catchy messages.

Mantra 12

Beware of fixed/guaranteed returns schemes

· Any one who is offering a return much greater than the bank lending rate is suspicious.

· Remember plantation companies-promised huge returns (in some cases 50% on Day 1)!

Mantra 13

Beware of the grey market premia
· These are artificial and normally created by the promoter himself.

Mantra 14

Don’t get overwhelmed by sectoral frenzies
· The present sectoral frenzy is around Logistics and Infrastructure.

· Remember, all companies in a sector are not good. Each sector will have some very good companies, some reasonably good companies and many bad companies.

· Be also wary about companies that change their names to reflect the current sectoral fancy.

Mantra 15

Don’t over-depend upon ‘comfort’ factors like

· IPO Grading
· Independent Directors 

Mantra 16

Don’t blindly take decisions based on  accounts just because these are audited
· High incidence of fraudulent accounts and of mis-advertising of financial results. Satyam case is a wake up call.

· Read qualifications and notes to the accounts.

· Look out especially for unusual entries-related party transactions, sundry debtors, subsidiaries’ accounts.

Mantra 17

Cheap shares are not necessarily worth buying
· Do not chase price, chase value.

· Price can be low because the company in fact is not doing well (but hype over the company/sector may induce you).

· Worse, the price can be low because the face value has been split (over 500 companies have split their shares).

-
Rationale given: make shares affordable to small investors

-
Not valid as in demat, one can buy even one share

-
Real purpose: to make shares appear “cheap”

-
Companies with a share price of Rs.50 have split 1:10!

Mantra 18

Be wary of companies where promoters issue shares/warrants to themselves
· Preferential allotments to promoters are almost always made for the benefit of the promoters only.  (The fair route should be rights issue).

Mantra 19

Don’t be fooled by Corporate Governance Awards/CSR

· There is a high incidence of fraudulent companies upping their CG and CSR activities.
The last Mantra 20

Be honest

· Be honest to yourself as only then you can demand honesty.

· We are very weak investors/no strong investor associations/take every thing lying down.

· Need to form/join strong investor associations and fight for our rights.

· Need to demand disgorgement.
Chapter 3 

	RIGHTS OF INVESTORS


Shareholders are the real owners of a company. They benefit, through dividends and capital appreciation, when the company performs well. On the other hand, they carry the risk of losing part or fully their investment if the company performs badly. 

As an owner of the company, a shareholder has some fundamental rights. At the same time, he should perform his role responsibly.

Rights as a shareholder

· To receive the shares on allotment or purchase within the stipulated time.

· To receive copies of the Annual Report containing Balance Sheet, Profit & Loss Account and Auditor’s Report. 

· To receive dividends in due time once approved in general meetings.

· To receive corporate benefits like rights, bonus, etc. once approved. 

· To receive offer in case of takeover, delisting or buyback.
· To participate/vote in general meetings either personally or through proxy. 

· To inspect the statutory registers at the registered office of the company. 

· To inspect the minute books of the general meetings and to receive copies thereof.

· To proceed against the company, if in default, by way of civil or criminal proceedings.

· To receive the residual proceeds in case of winding up.
Rights as a debentureholder

· To receive interest/redemption in the stipulated time.

· To receive a copy of the trust deed on request.

· To apply before the CLB in case of default in redemption of debentures on the date of maturity.

· To apply for winding up of the company if the company fails to pay its debt 

· To approach the Debenture Trustee for grievances. 
Rights as a buyer/seller of securities to get

· The best price 




· Proof  of   price / brokerage charged 

· Money/shares on time 

· Statement of accounts from the broker, depository etc.

Obligations as a buyer/seller of securities

· Enter into proper agreements with the broker, depository etc.

· Possess  a valid contract  note

· To make payment on time
· To deliver shares on time
-
To engage in fair practices

Rights for redressal against

· Fraudulent prices
· Unfair brokerage 

· Delays  in receipt of money or shares

-
Fraudulent and investor unfriendly companies
As an investor, your responsibility is
· To be specific.

· To remain informed.

· To be vigilant.

· To exercise your rights on your own or as a group.

Chapter 4

	DO’S AND DON’TS


Primary Market
DO’s


· Read the Prospectus/ Abridged Prospectus carefully, with  special attention to:


· Risk factors 

· Background of promoters

· Company history


· Outstanding litigations and defaults


· Financial statements


· Object of the issue

· Basis of Issue price


· Instructions for making an application


· In case of any doubts/problems, contact the compliance officer named in the offer document.


· In case you do not receive, within due period, the credit to demat account or refund of application money, lodge a complaint with the compliance officer of the issuer company and with the post-issue lead manager.


DON’Ts

· Don’t be influenced by any implicit/explicit promise made by the issuer or any one else. 
· Don’t invest only based on the prevailing bull run of the market index or of scrips of other companies in the same industry or scrips of the issuer company/group companies.
· Don’t expect the price of the shares of the issuer company to necessarily go up upon listing, and forever.
Secondary Market


DO’s

· Before investing, please check about the credentials of the company, its management, fundamentals and recent announcements made by them and other disclosures made under various regulations. The sources of information are the websites of the exchanges and companies, databases of data vendors, business newspapers and magazines etc. 

· Adopt trading/investment strategies commensurate with your risk-bearing capacity as all investments carry some risk, the degree of which varies according to the investment strategy adopted. 

· Assess the risk-return profile of the investment as well as the liquidity and safety aspects before making your investment decision.

· Transact only through SEBI-recognized stock exchanges.


· Deal only through SEBI-registered brokers/sub-brokers.


· Read carefully and complete all required formalities for opening an account with the broker (Client registration, Client-Trade Member agreement etc).

· Sign the “Know Your Client” Agreement.

· Give clear and unambiguous instructions to your broker/sub-broker/DP.


· Insist on a contract note for each transaction and verify details in the contract note, immediately on receipt. If in doubt, crosscheck details of your trade available with the details on the exchange’s website.


· Pay the required margins in the prescribed time.


· Deliver the shares/depository slip in case of sale and pay the money in case of purchase within the prescribed time.



· Pay the brokerage/ payments/ margins etc. to an authorized person only.


· Obtain receipt for collateral deposited towards margin.


· Scrutinize both the transactions and the holding statements that you receive from your DP.

· Handle Delivery Instruction Slips (DIS) Book issued by the DP carefully. Insist that the DIS numbers are pre-printed and your account number (Client ID) is pre-stamped.


· In case you are not transacting frequently, make use of the freezing facility provided for in your demat account.

· Keep copies of all investment documents. Ask all relevant questions and clear your doubts before transacting.

DON’Ts

· Don’t forget to take account of the potential risks that are involved in any investment.
· Don’t undertake off-market transactions. 
· Don’t deal with unregistered intermediaries.

· Don’t fall prey to promises of unrealistic returns or guaranteed returns.

·  Don’t invest on the basis of hearsays, rumors and tips.


· Don’t be influenced into buying into fundamentally unsound companies (penny stocks) based on sudden spurts in trading volumes or prices or favourable articles/stories in the media.
· Don’t follow the herd and don’t play on momentum.

· Don’t blindly follow investment advice given on TV channels/websites/SMS.
· Don’t invest under peer pressure or blindly imitate investment decisions of others who may have profited from their investment decisions. 

· Don’t try to time the market.


· Don't get misled by companies showing approvals / registrations from Government agencies as the approvals could be for certain other purposes. 

· Don't get carried away with advertisements about the financial performance of companies. 

· Don't blindly follow media reports on corporate developments, as some of these could be misleading. 

· Don't get misled by guarantees of repayment of your investments (and returns) through post-dated cheques. 

· Don’t hesitate to approach the proper authorities for redressal of your doubts/grievances.

· Don’t leave signed blank Delivery Instruction Slips (DIS) of your demat account in the open.

· Don’t give signed blank DIS to your DP or to your broker.

Dealing with Brokers & Sub-brokers

DO’S

· Deal only with SEBI registered brokers/sub-brokers and verify that the broker/sub-broker has a valid SEBI registration certificate. 

· State clearly who will be placing orders on your behalf and give clear and unambiguous instructions to your broker/ sub-broker.

· Insist on client registration form to be signed by the broker before commencing operations.

· Enter into an agreement with your broker/ sub-broker setting out terms and conditions clearly.

· Ensure that you read the agreement and risk disclosure document carefully before signing.

· Make sure that you sign on all the pages of the agreement and ensure that the broker or an authorized representative, signs on all the pages of the agreement. Also the agreement should be signed by the witnesses by giving their name and address.

· Insist on a valid contract note/ confirmation memo for trades done within 24 hours of the transaction.

· Sign the duplicate contract note/ confirmation memo to be kept with the broker once you receive the original.

· Insist on a bill for every settlement.

· Ensure that the broker’s name, trade time and number, transaction price and brokerage are shown distinctly on the contract note.

· Insist on periodical statement of accounts.

· Issue cheques/drafts only in the trade name of the broker.

· Ensure receipt of payment/ deliveries within 48 hours of payout.

· In case of disputes, file written complaint to intermediary/ stock exchange/SEBI within a reasonable time.

· In case of disputes with the sub-broker, inform the main broker immediately.

· Familiarize yourself with the rules, regulations and circulars issued by stock exchanges /SEBI.

· Keep track of your portfolio in your demat account on a regular basis.

· Ensure that you have money before you buy. 

· Ensure that you are holding securities before you sell.    
DON’TS

· Don't deal with unregistered brokers / sub - brokers or other unregistered intermediaries.

· Don't execute any document with any intermediary without fully understanding its terms and conditions.  

· Don't leave the custody of your Demat Transaction Slip book in the hands of any broker/sub-broker. 

· Don't forgo obtaining all documents of transactions even if the broker/sub-broker is well known to you. 

Mutual Funds

DO’s


· Read the offer document carefully before investing.
· Note that investments in mutual funds may be risky, and do not necessarily result in gains.

· Invest in a scheme depending upon your investment objective and risk appetite.

· Note that past performance of a scheme or a fund is not indicative of the scheme’s or the fund’s future performance. Past performance may or may not be sustained in the future.

· Keep regular track of the NAV of the schemes in which you have invested.


· Ensure that you receive an account statement for your investments/redemptions.


DON’Ts

· Don’t invest in a scheme just because somebody is offering you a commission or some other incentive, gift etc.
· Don’t get carried away by the name of the scheme/mutual fund.
· Don’t be guided solely by the past performance of a scheme/fund or be taken in by promises of future returns.

· Don’t forget to take note of the risks involved in the investment.

· Don’t hesitate to approach the proper authorities for redressal of your doubts/grievances.

· Don’t deal with any agent/broker dealer who is not registered with AMFI.


Buyback 

DO’s


· Read the special resolution regarding the proposed buyback in detail and then vote for it.

· Compare the price offered in the buyback with the market price during last few months as also with the company’s Earning per Share, Book Value etc. and then determine whether the price offered is reasonable.


· Read the instructions for making the application for tendering of shares carefully.


· Ensure that your application reaches the collection centre within the prescribed time.


· Furnish all the documents asked for in the letter of offer.


· Send application through the mode (post/courier/hand delivery/ ordinary post etc.) specified in the letter of offer.


· Contact the Merchant Banker if no response is received from the company regarding consideration for the tendered shares.


· Contact the Compliance Officer mentioned in the letter of offer in case of any grievance.


· Contact the Registrar of Companies in case   Companies Act has been violated.

DON’Ts

· Don’t submit multiple applications.


· Don’t forget to fill up the application legibly.


· Don’t mutilate the application form.


· Don’t send the application form to a wrong address.


· Don’t send the application form after the closure of the offer.


· Don’t forget to give complete information in the application form.

· Don’t forget to sign the application form.


· Don’t give wrong/ contradictory information in the application form.

Open Offers (under Takeover Regulations)

DO’s


· Ensure that you are aware of all competitive offers and revision of offer/offer price before deciding on accepting the offer.


· Refer to national dailies/ SEBI website for details of competitive offers or revisions of offers.


· Note that the offer is subject to statutory approvals as mentioned in the letter of offer.

· Check whether the offer will result in delisting of the company.

· In case of demat shares, ensure credit is received to the Special Depository Account before the closure of the Offer.

· Carefully note the timings/days for hand delivery of the documents mentioned in the letter of offer.


· Wait till the last date for Offer Revision (i.e. 7 working days prior to date of closing of offer) before tendering your acceptance.

· Submit the Form of Withdrawal accompanying the letter of offer at any specified collection center up to 3 working days before date of closing of the offer in case you want to withdraw the shares tendered.


· Ensure that signatures on the Form of Acceptance, Transfer Deed, Depository Instruction and Form of Withdrawal are the same and in the same order as those lodged with the company.


· In case of non receipt of the Offer Document, you can tender or withdraw from the Offer by making an application on a plain paper giving the necessary details.
 

DON’Ts


· Don’t wait for the last date of the offer for tendering your acceptance.


· Don’t fill in the details of the buyer/transferee in the transfer deed to be sent.

· Don’t file an incomplete application form/invalid documents.

Collective Investment Schemes

DO’s


· Ensure that the entity is registered with SEBI.


· Read the offer document carefully.


· Read the appraisal report of the scheme. 

· Check the viability of the project.


· Check the background/expertise of the promoters.

· Ensure clear and marketable title of the property/assets of the entity.

· Ensure that the Collective Investment Management Company (CIMC) has the necessary resources for implementation of the scheme.


· Check the credit rating/tenure of the scheme.

· Check for the promise vis-à-vis performance of the earlier schemes, if any.


· Ensure that the CIMC sends you a copy of its Annual Report within two months from closure of each financial year.


· Remember that SEBI does not guarantee returns or undertake repayment of money to the investors.


DON’Ts


· Don’t invest in a CIS entity not registered with SEBI.


· Don’t get carried away by indicative or promised returns or by market rumours/ advertisements.


Derivatives
DO’S

· Go through all rules, regulations, bye-laws and disclosures made by the exchanges.

· Trade only through a Trading Member (TM) registered with SEBI or authorized person of the TM registered with the exchange.

· While dealing with an authorized person, ensure that the contract note has been issued by the TM or the authorized person only.

· Pay the brokerage/payments/margins etc. to the TM only.

· Ensure that for every trade you receive duly signed contract note from your TM.

· Obtain receipt for collateral deposited with the TM towards margin.

· Go through details of the Client-TM Agreement.

· Know your rights and duties vis-à-vis those of the TM.

· Be aware of the risk associated with your positions in the market/margin calls.

· Collect/pay mark to market margins on your futures position on a daily basis from/to TM.

DON’TS
· Don’t start trading before reading and understanding the Risk Disclosure Documents.

· Don’t trade on any product without knowing the risk and rewards associated with it.
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	WHO REGULATES WHICH TYPE OF ENTITY


Given below is a list of types of companies/ intermediaries/service providers in the financial market. The names of the relevant regulatory bodies are given in the second column. The addresses of these bodies are provided in List 1 at the end of this Guide.

	Type of Entity
	Regulatory body

	Advertising Agencies
	INS

	Auditors
	ICAI/CAG

	Banks
	RBI

	Banks - Issue Collection
	SEBI

	Chit Funds
	REGISTRAR OF CHIT FUNDS

	Collective Investment Schemes
	SEBI

	Companies - All
	MCA/ROC

	Companies - Listed
	MCA/ROC/SEBI/SE

	Company Secretaries
	ICSI

	Co-Operative Banks
	RBI

	Cost Accountants
	ICWAI

	Credit Rating Agencies
	SEBI

	Custodial Services
	SEBI

	Debenture Trustees
	SEBI

	Depositories
	SEBI

	Depository Participants
	SEBI/NSDL/CDSL

	Financial & Investment Consultants
	-

	Financial Institutions
	MOF

	Foreign Brokers
	SEBI

	Foreign Debt Funds
	SEBI

	Foreign Investment Institutions
	SEBI

	Housing Finance Companies
	NHB

	Insurance Brokers/ Agents
	IRDA

	Insurance Companies
	IRDA

	Investment Bankers (Merchant Bankers)
	SEBI

	Investor Associations
	SEBI

	Mutual Funds & Asset Management Companies
	SEBI

	Mutual Fund Brokers/ Agents
	AMFI/SEBI

	Newspapers & Magazines
	PCI

	Non-Banking Financial Companies (NBFCs)
	RBI

	Nidhi Companies
	MCA

	Plantation Companies
	SEBI

	Portfolio Managers
	SEBI

	Primary Dealers
	RBI

	Radio
	MIB

	Registrars & Share Transfer Agents
	SEBI

	Solicitors & Legal Advisors
	BCI

	Stock Broker Associations
	-

	Stock Brokers
	SEBI/SE

	Stock Exchanges
	SEBI

	Sub-Brokers
	SEBI

	TV Channels
	MIB

	Venture Capital Funds
	SEBI
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	ROLE OF CAPITAL MARKET


Capital market plays an extremely important role in promoting and sustaining the growth of an economy. It is an important and efficient conduit to channel and mobilize funds to enterprises, and provide an effective source of investment in the economy. It plays a critical role in mobilizing savings for investment in productive assets, with a view to enhancing a country’s long-term growth prospects. It thus acts as a major catalyst in transforming the economy into a more efficient, innovative and competitive marketplace within the global arena.

In addition to resource allocation, capital markets also provide a medium for risk management by allowing diversification of risk in the economy. A well-functioning capital market also tends to improve information quality as it plays a major role in encouraging the adoption of stronger corporate governance principles, thus supporting a trading environment, which is founded on integrity.

Capital market has played a crucial role in supporting periods of technological progress and economic development throughout history. Among other things, liquid markets make it possible to obtain financing for capital-intensive projects with long gestation periods. This certainly held true during the industrial revolution in the 18th century and continues to apply even as we have moved towards the so-called “New Economy”.

The existence of deep and broad capital market is absolutely crucial and critical in spurring the growth of our country. An essential imperative for India has been to develop its capital market to provide alternative sources of funding for companies and in doing so, achieve more effective mobilization of investors’ savings. Capital market also provides a valuable source of external finance.

For a long time, the Indian market was considered too small to warrant much attention. However, this view has changed rapidly as vast amounts of international investment have poured into our markets over the last decade. The Indian market is no longer viewed as a static universe but as a constantly evolving market providing attractive opportunities to the global investing community. 

Chapter 7

	INTRODUCTION TO THE CAPITAL MARKET


A capital market is a market for securities (equity and debt), where business enterprises (companies) and governments can raise long-term funds. It is defined as a market in which money is provided for periods longer than a year (raising of short-term funds takes place on other markets like the money market). Financial regulators, such as SEBI and RBI regulate and oversee the capital market in their designated jurisdictions to ensure an orderly development of the market and protection of investors.

Capital market can be classified into primary market and secondary market. In the primary market, new stocks and bonds are sold by companies to investors. In the secondary market, the existing issued securities are sold and bought among investors or traders through a stock exchange.

Capital market development is essential for the economic development of a country. The objective of economic activity in any country is to promote the well-being and standard of living of its people, which depends upon the distribution of income in terms of goods and services in the economy. For the growth process in the economy, production plays a vital role. Production of output depends upon material inputs, human inputs, and financial inputs. Material inputs are in the form of raw materials; plant, and machinery etc., Human inputs are in the form of intellectual, managerial and labour manpower. Financial inputs are in the shape of capital, cash, credit etc. The proper availability and utilization of these inputs promotes the economic growth of a country.

The financial inputs, among other sources, emanate from the capital market system.  The capital market thrives with investors’ confidence based upon their return on investment as well as from anticipated capital appreciation from their investment. 

Investors are a heterogeneous group; they comprise wealthy and middle class, educated and illiterate, young and old, expert and lay man. However, all investors need protection; not protection for assured growth of their investments but protection from malpractices and frauds.  An investor typically has three objectives: safety of the invested money, liquidity of the invested money and returns on the investments. There can often be conflicts in the objective of allowing raising of capital for economic development on one hand and protection of investors on the other. However, it is beyond debate that unless the interests of investors are protected, raising of capital would be difficult. An efficient capital market should, therefore, provide a mechanism for efficient raising capital as well as have adequate safeguards to protect the interests of the investors. 

In the Indian scenario, efforts were made right since Independence, to create a healthy and efficient capital market through legislative measures. The Capital Issues (Control) Act, 1947 was the first piece of legislation passed in India to control the capital market. Subsequently, The Companies Act was enacted in 1956. 

The watershed event in this direction was in 1992 when the Capital Issues Control Act was replaced by the Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992. This Act provides 
 “for the establishment of a Board to protect the interests of investors in securities and to promote the development of, and to regulate, the securities market and for matters connected therewith or incidental thereto.”

SEBI has given priority to both the development, promotion and regulation of the capital market and to investor protection. Its greater focus on investor protection has earned it the name of the Watchdog of the capital market.  SEBI strongly believes that investors are the backbone of the capital market as they are the providers of the capital for the economic growth of the country and also are the fulcrum around which the trading in securities takes place.
SEBI has laid down guidelines for almost all constituents of the capital market-from issuers on one hand to stock exchanges on the other hand and all other intermediaries like stock brokers, merchant bankers and underwriters. It also regulates the intermediary fund managers like mutual funds, portfolio managers and collective investment schemes. 

Alert to the changing markets-both domestic and international, SEBI continuously revises its various guidelines and regulations.

In the primary market, the focus is on regulation through disclosures. Starting of with the Disclosure and Investor Protection (DIP) Guidelines, SEBI has recently converted these guidelines into the Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations) (ICDR). These Regulations prescribe detailed norms and directions on disclosures. 

However, many investors, especially small investors, do not possess adequate expertise/ knowledge to take informed investment decisions. Many of them are not aware of the risk-return profiles of various investment products. A large number of investors are not fully aware of the precautions they should take while dealing with the market intermediaries. Many are not familiar with the market mechanisms and practices as well as with their rights and obligations.

In the last decade, far-reaching developments have taken place in the capital market. These have impacted the issuers, the intermediaries as well as the investors. The present capital market is significantly different from what it used to be even in the nineties, leave aside the period prior to that.  However, new challenges emerge almost on a daily basis.  These are substantially fuelled by the huge rewards that the capital market has the potential to offer compared to any other form of investment. At the same time, wrong investment decisions can lead to huge losses too. As such, this market requires considerable skill and expertise, and a higher-than-normal risk profile

Different securities carry different risk-return profiles. Generally, higher risks carry higher returns and vice-versa. The risks may be in the form of credit risk (counter party may default on payment), return risk (the returns from the investment depends upon several contingent factors) and liquidity risk (it may be difficult to convert the securities into cash]. While the counter party risk has been significantly mitigated by the regulator, the other two risks are market-related risks.

Various investment options are available in the capital market and an investor should choose the right products based upon his life cycle stage and upon various parameters like liquidity, safety, returns and taxes, He of course needs to decide whether he has the skills and time for active management of his investments or would he rather pass on this responsibility to a mutual fund or a portfolio manager.

Investors do not have any control over the day to day activities of any company. Investor cannot guide the fate or destiny of the money invested. An investor to that extent is quite fragile. Worse, he is exposed to additional risks if the promoters of the company siphon off or misutilize his money. There are, no doubt, laws some of which are adequate to protect the interests of investors, but inadequacies of certain legislative measures have come to light wherein innocent investors have been deprived of their hard earned money. 

“Investor protection” is a very popular phrase which all those concerned with regulation of the capital market use these days, be it SEBI, stock exchanges, investors associations, and even the companies themselves. The term “Investor Protection” is a wide term encompassing various measures designed to protect the investors from malpractices of companies, merchant bankers, depository participants and other intermediaries. 

“Investors Beware” should be the watchword of all programs for mobilization of savings for investment. As all investments have some risk element, this should be borne in mind by the investors. If caution is thrown to the winds, they have only to blame themselves.

Understanding Financial Markets

The financial markets can broadly be divided into money market and capital market.

Money Market: Money market is a market for debt securities that pay off in the short term usually less than one year, for example, the market for 90-days treasury bills. This market encompasses the issuance and trading of short term non-equity debt instruments including treasury bills, commercial papers, bankers’ acceptance, certificates of deposits, etc.

Capital Market: Capital market is a market for long-term debt and equity shares. In this market, the capital funds comprising of both equity and debt are issued and traded. This includes both private placement sources of debt and equity as well as organized markets like stock exchanges. Capital market can be further divided into the primary market and the secondary market.
In the primary market, securities are offered to the public for subscription, for the purpose of raising capital or funds or dilution of the promoter’s holding for the purposes of listing. 

Secondary market refers to a market where securities, both equity and debt, are traded after being initially offered to the public in the primary market and/or listed at the stock exchanges. Majority of the trading is done in the secondary market. 

For an investor, the secondary market provides an efficient platform for trading of his securities. For the management of the company, secondary equity markets serve as a monitoring and control conduit—by facilitating value-enhancing control activities, enabling implementation of incentive-based management contracts, and aggregating information (via price discovery) that guides the management decisions.

COMPONENTS OF THE CAPITAL MARKET

The focus of the capital market is the investor. The other components of the market which include the government, regulators, issuers, exchanges and various types of intermediaries, all of whom work for the investor.  

Some of the market components work as regulators, some as mediators, some as issuers and some as investors. These are:

	REGULATORS
	Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA), Ministry of Finance (Stock Exchange Division), Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) and Stock Exchanges.

	INTERMEDIARIES
	Participants in the Indian capital market (SEBI- regulated):

· Stockbrokers, sub-brokers, share transfer agents, bankers to an issue, trustees, registrars to an issue, merchant bankers, underwriters, portfolio managers, investment advisers, and other such intermediaries;

· Depositories, participants, custodians of securities, FIIs, credit rating agencies, and other such intermediaries 

	ISSUERS
	Corporate (Primary & Secondary Market), venture capital funds and collective investment schemes, including mutual funds.


RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE MARKET

Capital market risk usually defines the risk involved in the investments. The stark potential of experiencing losses following a fluctuation in the security prices is the reason behind the capital market risk. Capital market risk cannot be diversified. It can also be referred to as capital market systematic risk. 

While an individual is investing in a security, risk and return cannot be separated. Risk is an integrated part of the investment. Higher the potential of return, higher is the risk associated with it. Examination of the risks involved in the capital market investment is one of the prime aspects of investing. The element of risk is what distinguishes an investment from savings.

Systematic risk is common to the entire class of liabilities or assets. Depending on economic changes, the value of investments can fall enormously. There may be some other financial events also impacting the investment markets. In order to check capital market risk, asset allocation can be fruitful.

Any investment in stocks or bonds comes with the following types of risks. 

· Market Risk 

· Industry Risk 

· Regulatory Risk 

· Business Risk 

Market Risk is the overall risk involved in capital market investments. The stock market rises and falls depending on a number of factors. The collective view of the investors to invest in a particular stock or bond plays a significant role in the stock market rise and fall. Even if the company is going through a bad phase, the stock price may go up due to a rising stock market while conversely, the stock price may fall because the market is not steady even if the company is doing well. 

Industry Risk are risks emanating from the market forces and regulations relating to a given industry. Thus, all stocks within an industry would be affected by industry related factors. 

Regulatory Risk are risks arising out of changes in regulations and laws, either specific to the company/industry or the country as a whole. 

Business Risk may affect the investors if the company goes through some changes in management, strategies, market share and labor force.

It is important for investors to realize that returns on equities can be cyclical and that the market will move in both directions. . 
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	INVESTMENT CHOICES IN THE CAPITAL MARKET


Among all investment options available, securities are considered the most challenging as well as rewarding. But investment in securities requires considerable skill and expertise and carries the risk of loss if the choice of securities is not right or they are not bought / sold at right time. 

There are a large variety of instruments referred to as securities in common parlance. These include:

(i)
shares, scrips, stocks,   bonds, debentures, debenture stock or other marketable securities of a like nature in or of any incorporated company or other body corporate; 

(ii)
derivative; 

(iii)
units or any other instrument issued by any collective investment scheme to the investors in such schemes; 

(iv)
security receipts; 

(v)
units or any other such instrument issued to the investors under any mutual fund scheme;

(vi)
any certificate or instrument issued to investor by any issuer being a special purpose distinct entity which possesses any debt or receivable including mortgaged debt assigned to such entity and acknowledging beneficial interest of such investor in such debt or receivable including mortgage debt as the case may be;

(vii)
government securities; 

(viii)
such other instruments as may be declared by the central government to be securities; 

(ix)
rights or interest in securities.

Different securities carry different risk-return profiles. Generally, higher risks carry higher returns and vice-versa. The risk could be in the form of credit risk (counter party may default payment as it may not have integrity), return risk (the return from the investment may depend on several contingent factors) and liquidity risk (it may be difficult to convert security into cash). 

Investment decisions are based upon the investors’ life cycle stages and other factors such as liquidity, safety, return on investments, tax savings, active involvement required to manage the investment, and minimum amount requirement for selecting the instruments.

It is not always possible to meet all financial goals with available savings. If savings are limited but the needs are substantial, then the savings should be invested in avenues that would offer high returns. But usually, high return also means high risk. All investors are not in a position to take high risks.

There are investment opportunities that are high on risk and there are investment opportunities that are low on risk. Each is called an asset class. An investor allocates his savings to one or more asset classes depending upon his circumstances. This decision is called the asset allocation decision. Asset   allocation   decision   is   perhaps   the   most   important   decision   in   the investment process. The essence of asset allocation lies in the fact that, over time, it can determine up to 90% of the portfolio’s return.

How much risk an investor can take depends on his financial circumstances and the mental make-up. Every investor must know his own unique risk profile and then make the investment decisions. As such, the questions he should ask himself are:

· What kind of investor am I?

· Am I prepared to take high risks?

· Am I averse to taking risks?

There are scientific methods by which an investor can understand his risk profile. For example, answering the following set of questions could give him an idea about his risk profile:

Your age is

· Between 25-35

· Between 35-50

· Between 50-65

· Above 65

Your position is best described by

· You are self-dependent and do not support anybody

· You have dependent(s)

· Nearing retirement

· Retired

How much of the following needs have been taken care of? (Fully, partially, not at all)

· Insurance

· Retirement

· Children’s education

· Housing

What proportion of your current expenses is funded from investments?   

· Nil 

· Up to 15%

· Between 15% and 30%

· Between 30% and 50%

· More than 50%

Your earnings in the future will

· far exceed inflation

· be marginally ahead of inflation

· keep pace with inflation

· not keep pace with inflation

When the price of the share you have purchased drops steeply you would

· Sell your investment

· Sell part of your investment

· Do nothing

· Buy more of the same investment

Each of the above questions would impact the risk profile of an investor. For example, lower the age, greater is the expected willingness to take risks. This is because younger people have a lifetime of earnings ahead of them and thus can afford to take higher risks with their present savings. Similarly, in case a person does not have any dependents, he can take more risk.

At the very basic level, there are three asset classes from which to choose from based upon an investors’ risk profile. They are equity, debt and cash. Equity is risky, debt has low risk and cash has even lower risk. Within each of the above asset classes, the investor has to select specific instruments for investment.

Financial circumstances and the investor profile dictate the investment avenues for an investor. Financial instruments vary in terms of the liquidity, safety, and returns they offer. The challenge in making the investment decision is to choose the right combination of instruments keeping in mind the financial situation and investor profile.

Each investment option has some advantages and some limitations. For example, while bank savings account would be highly liquid (you can withdraw whenever you like), investment in Public Provident Fund would be difficult to withdraw.

Risks are generally positively correlated with probability of returns. For example, returns in equity shares can be high, but the associated risks are also relatively higher than other options. Risks can be classified into unsystematic and systematic. Unsystematic risks are those that can be minimized by diversifying one’s portfolio. For example, instead of investing in the shares of steel companies alone, one could invest into other sectors like Pharmaceuticals and Software. In this situation, your portfolio may not be terribly affected even if the steel sector were to register a mediocre performance. On the other hand, systematic risks are those that cannot be minimized through portfolio diversification. For example, a Korean investor could not possibly have minimized or eliminated his loss due to the currency crisis in South East Asia, through a strategy of diversification of his portfolio.

The character of the investor is also important. Some investors have the time and the knowledge to study their investment portfolios carefully- these could be called as ‘active’ investors. Others do not intend to watch their investments regularly, due to lack of time or knowledge or inclination, and are looking for essentially safer avenues for parking their funds.

INVESTMENT OPTIONS
Various options available are described in the following paragraphs and evaluated broadly on criteria such as

· Liquidity

· Safety

· Returns

· Tax savings

· Active involvement required to manage the investment

· Minimum amount that can be invested

Equity Shares

An equity share, commonly referred to as ordinary share represents a fractional ownership of the company in which a shareholder, as a fractional owner, undertakes the entrepreneurial risks and rewards associated with a business venture. The holders of such shares are members of the company and have voting rights. Equity Shares can be purchased in the Primary and Secondary Markets.

Primary Market: Primary market refers to issue of securities by companies/entities to the public. Apart from shares, other instruments commonly issued in the primary market are debentures, convertible debentures, shares with attached options like warrants etc.

Secondary Market: Secondary market refers to the stock exchanges where an investor can buy (or sell) shares which are listed on them. As a result of significant changes in the recent past, particularly computerization, online trading, dematerialization and depository participation, investors are dealing with a much more transparent and efficient secondary market.

Equity Shares yield returns in two ways: one, dividends declared by companies usually at the end of a year (and sometimes during the course of the year) and, two, capital gains on selling.

Liquidity of investments in equity shares depends upon the trading volumes of the share. If the share is actively traded, an investor can easily sell the shares and realize the sale proceeds. However, if the share is not traded (or is delisted), then liquidity is a constraint. Technically, it is possible to buy even one share in the dematerialized securities regime.

Equity is a volatile instrument. It is an appropriate investment avenue for an investor who is prepared to take risks in order to generate higher returns. Over the long term, returns from equity shares at aggregated levels have been historically higher than most other avenues. However, individual investors could gain or lose depending on the shares they invest in and when they buy and sell. An investor needs to be aware of the companies in which he invests and continuously monitor their performance. For this, he should have some basic knowledge of finance and of the market processes. 

The trends in equity market are reflected in the movement of the equity indices and the volume of the trading activity.

Preference Shares

· Preferred Stock / Preference Shares: Owners of these kinds of shares are entitled to a fixed dividend or dividend calculated at a fixed rate to be paid regularly before a dividend can be paid in respect of equity share. These also enjoy priority over equity shareholders in payment of surplus. However, in the event of liquidation, their claims rank below the claims of the company’s creditors, bondholders/ debenture holders.

· Cumulative Preference Shares: A type of preference share on which dividend accumulates if it remains unpaid. All arrears of preference dividend have to be paid out before paying dividend on equity shares.

· Cumulative Convertible Preference Shares: A type of preference shares where the dividend payable on the same accumulates, if not paid. After a specified date, these shares will be converted into equity capital of the company.

· Participating Preference Share: The right of certain preference shareholders to participate in profits after a specified fixed dividend contracted for, is paid. Participation right is linked with the quantum of dividend paid on the equity shares over and above a particular specified level.

Security Receipts 

Security receipt means a receipt or other security, issued by a securitization company or reconstruction company to any qualified institutional buyer pursuant to a scheme, evidencing the purchase or acquisition by the holder thereof, of an undivided right, title or interest in the financial asset involved in securitization.

Debt Instruments

Debt instruments represent contracts where one party is the lender (investor) and the other party is the borrower (issuer). The debt contract specifies the rate of interest, time of interest payment, repayment of principal, etc. In India, the term “bond” is used to represent the debt instrument issued by the central and state governments and PSUs. The term “debenture” is used for debt issues from the private corporate sector. 

The principal features of a debt instrument are:

· Maturity

· Coupon

· Principal

Maturity refers to the date on which the principal would be repaid. Coupon is the rate at which interest is calculated with reference to the face value. For example, a 10% 2010 bond refers to face value of Rs. 100, coupon rate of 10% p.a., and repayment of the face value in the year 2010.

The coupon rate may be fixed for the entire period or may be related to a benchmark rate. In the latter case, the coupon rate changes as the benchmark rate changes. This instrument is called a floating rate debt instrument.

There are debt instruments that come with options to redeem the principal earlier than the maturity date. If the option rests with the issuer, it is a bond that is callable. If the option to redeem rests with the investor, it is puttable.

There are many different types of debt instruments in India. These are:

· Bonds (from PSUs and Financial Institutions)

· Government (Central or State) Securities

· Treasury Bills

· Company Debentures

· Commercial Paper

· Certificates of Deposit

The secondary market activity for debt instruments takes place in the debt segment of the exchange. The trends in the debt market are reflected in the debt indices and the turnover data. In India, the debt market activity is dominated by banks and institutions.

Bonds

A Bond is a loan given by the buyer to the issuer of the instrument. Bonds may be issued by companies, financial institutions or the government. Over and above the scheduled interest payments, the holder of a bond is entitled to receive the redemption value of the instrument at the specified maturity date. In simple terms, a bond investor lends money to the issuer and in exchange, the issuer promises to repay the loan amount on a specified maturity date and usually pay the periodic interest payments over the life of the loan. Few more popular types of Bonds are as follows:

· Zero Coupon Bonds: Bonds issued at a discount and repaid at a face value. No periodic interest is paid. The difference between the issue price and redemption price represents the return to the holder. The buyer of these bonds receives only one payment at the maturity of the bond. These are also sometimes referred to as deep-discount bonds. 

-
Convertible Bonds: Bonds giving the investor the option to convert the bond into equity at a fixed conversion price.

-
Tax-Saving Bonds: Tax-Saving Bonds offer tax exemption up to a specified amount of investment.

-
Regular Income Bonds: Regular-Income Bonds, as the name suggests, are meant to provide a stable source of income at regular, pre-determined intervals.

Similar instruments issued by companies are called debentures. Bonds are usually not suitable to achieve capital appreciation. Sometimes, an investor buys bonds at a lower price just before a decline in interest rates, and the subsequent drop in the interest rates leads to an increase in the price of the bond, thereby facilitating capital appreciation.

Bonds are suitable for regular income purposes. Depending on the type of bond, an investor may receive interest semi-annually or even monthly, as is the case with monthly-income bonds. 

Bond prices are dependent on the face value of these instruments. The most common face value is Rs. 100. Minimum amount of investment is  generally around Rs. 5,000. An investor need not be actively involved in investment management.

Public Sector Undertakings and Financial Institutions Bonds:
Various bonds are floated from time to time by Public Sector Undertakings as well as Development Financial Institutions. Most such bonds offer attractive schemes like monthly interest, quarterly interest, various redemption options, deep discount bond options etc.

Government Securities (G-Secs)

These are sovereign (credit risk-free) coupon bearing instruments which are issued by the Reserve Bank of India on behalf of the Government of India, in lieu of the Central Government’s market borrowing programme. These securities have a fixed coupon that is paid on specific dates on half-yearly basis. These securities are available in a wide range of maturity dates, from short dated (less than one year) to long dated (up to twenty years).

RBI Tax Free Bonds:
RBI Tax Free Bonds are special bonds issued by the RBI offering tax-free facility. The rate of interest in such bonds is generally lower than regular bonds and hence these attract only high taxpayers. These bonds tend to be long-term instruments.

RBI Tax free bonds are very safe as they come from the country’s central bank. Returns from the bonds are steady and can be ascertained clearly in advance based on the YTM. 

Treasury Bills

Short-term (up to 91 day) bearer discount securities issued by the Government as a means of financing its cash requirements.

Company Debentures
Instruments issued by a company bearing a fixed rate of interest usually payable half yearly on specific dates with the principal amount repayable on a particular date on redemption. Debentures are normally secured / charged against the assets of the company in favour of the debenture holder. Companies borrow from debenture-holders and generally offer a fixed rate of interest to such investors. Most debentures are redeemed after a specified period. The period could be short (less than 18 months) or long depending on the terms of issue. In some cases, companies also pay a premium on maturity. 

Investors can subscribe to public issue of debentures by companies or buy debentures from the secondary market. In view of the fixed returns from these securities, prices of debentures are generally much less volatile relative to shares. Investors earn interest and capital gains (difference between the purchase price and the sale price or if held till redemption, the difference between purchase price and the redemption price).

Yields on debentures could be higher or lower than the specified rate of interest depending on the correlation between face value and market value. For example, assume that a Rs. 100 debenture carrying 15% interest is bought for Rs. 90. The price paid is Rs. 90 whereas the interest earned is Rs. 15. This would translate to a yield of 16.67%.

In the above example, the investor would get back Rs. 100 from the company (face value) if he holds the debentures up to maturity. Hence, apart from the interest yield of 16.67%, he would also gain Rs. 10 by way of capital gain. When this capital gain is also considered for computing the yield, it is termed as Yield to Maturity (YTM). 

Most debt issues are required to be rated by credit rating agencies. Rating indicates the quality of the instrument. An indication of credit rating is given below:

	Credit Rating Symbols and What They Mean

	High Investment Grades

	AAA
	Highest Safety

	AA
	High Safety

	Investment Grades 
	

	A
	Adequate Safety

	BBB
	Moderate Safety

	Speculative Grades 
	

	BB
	Inadequate Safety

	B
	High Risk

	C
	Substantial Risk

	D
	In Default


Different rating agencies might have different symbols than the ones given above.

Returns from high quality debentures are steady and can be ascertained in advance based on the YTM. These returns would vary only if the company were to renege on its payment obligations. An investor need not be actively involved in investment management, except to the extent of keeping basic track of companies, which might be performing badly and could fail to fulfill their interest or repayment obligations.

Commercial Paper

A short term promise to repay a fixed amount that is placed on the market either directly or through a specialized intermediary. It is usually issued by companies with a high credit standing in the form of a promissory note redeemable at par to the holder on maturity and therefore, doesn’t require any guarantee. Commercial paper is a money market instrument issued normally for a tenure of 90 days.

Certificate of Deposit

A time deposit with a bank. CDs are generally issued by commercial banks but they can be bought through brokerages. They bear a specific maturity date, a specified interest rate, and can be issued in any denomination, much like bonds. Like all time deposits, the funds may not be withdrawn on demand. 

Mutual Fund Schemes
Mutual Funds are entities which collect funds from small investors, pool these funds together and invest into various equity and debt instruments (or even money market instruments and government securities). Mutual Funds employ competent finance professionals who research the markets effectively, which an individual investor might not successfully manage. Further, these entities are taken seriously by a company’s management in view of their large fund base.

Mutual fund schemes can be open-ended or close-ended. Open-ended schemes do not have a fixed maturity. Investors can buy/sell units of such schemes from/to the fund itself at prices determined by the Net Asset Value (NAV) plus or minus a load, applied either at the point of purchase or sales by the fund. Liquidity in open-ended mutual funds is very high. 

In case of close-ended mutual funds, liquidity depends on the availability of buyers and sellers in the stock exchange where these units are listed. Thus, liquidity is similar to that of listed shares. Close-ended schemes may be listed on stock exchanges and traded at listed prices. If it is not listed, regular repurchase facility will be provided by the mutual Funds. These prices could vary substantially from the NAV due to investor perceptions, demand and supply situations etc. 

NAV is a common expression in the mutual fund industry and denotes Net Asset Value. NAV per Unit is equal to the Market value of the assets of the scheme less liabilities divided by number of units outstanding.

Mutual Fund Schemes are floated with objectives that determine their investment pattern. A growth-oriented scheme would predominantly invest in equities and would seek capital appreciation as its major objective. A debt-oriented scheme would predominantly invest in debt instruments and would seek regular income as its major objective.  A balanced scheme would invest partially in equity and rest in debt and would balance the objectives of growth and income. Tax Saving Schemes are designed to provide tax shelter to the investors.

Equity-oriented mutual funds
These funds invest in equities and generate capital appreciation. Redemptions are effected within 2-3 days in most such mutual fund schemes.

Safety levels are low though slightly better than direct investment in shares by investors, as most funds invest in a basket of equities thus hedging their individual risks partly through the basket approach. Returns in equity funds are volatile and would depend on the market movement in general and investment expertise of the mutual fund in particular. An investor need not be actively involved in investment management. However, the investor should watch the NAV and the load.

Debt-oriented mutual funds
These funds seek to provide a regular return to investors and would invest in debt instruments where risk levels are lower (relative to equity), and would generate regular returns for the fund and consequently for its investors.

In view of the nature of the fund’s investments, safety levels are relatively high in debt-oriented funds. An investor need not be actively involved in investment management. However, the investor should be watchful about the NAV movements. While generally the returns from debt funds are expected to be steady, there could be NAV volatility if the interest ranges change.

Mutual Funds also float innovative schemes like index funds, specific sector funds, money market funds, gilt funds, etc. Index funds seek to invest in index stocks (e.g. only those stocks which are used to determine the Sensex, Nifty etc.). Specific sector funds seek to invest into specified sectors like Pharmaceuticals or Software. Money market and gilt funds seek to invest into those markets alone.

Tax Saving Schemes of Mutual Funds and Financial Institutions
These schemes are floated by mutual funds and financial institutions after obtaining government approval for offering specified tax benefits to investors. An investor thus gets an additional sweetener.  Other features of these investment options are on par with the regular features of mutual funds and financial institutional options.

Derivative Products
Futures, options, forwards and swaps are called 

derivative products. They derive their value from another asset, index or reference rate.

A forward contract is a customized contract where the settlement takes place at a future date but at prices agreed on the date the contract is written.

A futures contract is similar to a forward except that it is standardized and traded on the derivative exchange.

An option gives the right and not obligation to the buyer to buy/sell an asset at a future date but at a price agreed on the date of writing the contract. A buyer of an option pays a price called premium. An option that gives the right to buy an asset is a call option. When the right given is a right to sell the asset, it is a put option. 

Warrants are long dated call options on equity shares.

SUMMARY OF OPTIONS AVAILABLE

	Investment Option
	Liquidity 
	Safety 
	Active Involvement Required?
	Tax Savings
	Amount Required

	Equity Shares 
	Moderate to High
	Low 
	Generally 

Yes
	Long Term Low Tax
	Medium 

	Company Debentures 
	Low 
	Moderate 
	Generally No 
	Refer Tax Chapter 
	Medium 

	Public Sector and FI Bonds 
	Moderate 
	High 
	No 
	Refer Tax Chapter 
	Low 

	RBI Tax Free Bonds 
	Moderate 
	High 
	No 
	Tax 
	Low 

	Debt oriented Mutual Funds 
	High 
	Moderate 
	No 
	Moderate 
	Low 

	Equity oriented Mutual Funds
	High 
	Low 
	No 
	Good 
	Low 


The above table is indicative. Attractiveness of each option changes practically every day depending on economic conditions, government policies and other factors.

Chapter 9 

	INVESTMENT PLANNING


Why is investing important? 

One needs to invest to maximize returns on one’s savings and also to be able to generate cash flows for meeting several financial needs of the future. One must, however, invest with knowledge and full care in order to not only protect one’s hard-earned capital but also generate good returns.

What should be the investment objectives?

There are normally three objectives: safety, return and liquidity. This means that one would like an investment to be absolutely safe, while it generates handsome returns and provides high liquidity. However, it is difficult to maximize all three objectives simultaneously. Typically, one objective trades-off against another. For example, if one wants high returns, one may have to take some risks, or if one wants high liquidity, one may have to compromise on returns. For people who have a regular income, growth-oriented investments, with some risks, are ideal.

Specification of the financial goals

Investments are made with certain financial objectives. These objectives should be defined clearly and be measurable in money terms. For example, it is not enough to say “I want to retire comfortably”. Such an objective should be stated, as “I want to retire with the ability to spend Rs. 2,00,000 annually, adjusted for inflation”.

An investor saves today, to meet certain financial needs tomorrow. Unless the investor is clear about the purpose of saving, his efforts would not result in the desired benefits. An investor should therefore first identify his financial needs. For example, an investor may have one or more of the following financial needs:

1.
To retire at age 55 with an annual income of Rs.3,00,000. I am now 35 years of age

2.
To completely payoff the housing loan by the time I retire 20 years later.

3.
To pay for my five year old daughter’s college education that would cost me Rs. 1,50,000 per year for 4 years.

The first step for an investor is to clearly write down the financial needs. The financial needs would be expressed in terms of the amount required and the future date on which required. In the above three examples, we would write:

	Example 
	Amount required 
	When required Number 

	1 
	Rs. 3,00,000 p.a. 
	Each year beginning from the 20th   year from now 

	2 
	Rs. 5000 p.m. 
	For the next 20 years

	3 
	Rs. 1,50,000 p.a. 
	Beginning from 12th year from now till 16th year. 


Every investor should take out time and prepare such a statement of financial goals covering as many requirements as possible. This is the basis on which the financial plan would be prepared. If the financial capability is found to be inadequate to meet all these goals then they have to be prioritized.

The investors’ financial needs depend on the age, stage in the career path, size of the family, needs of the other family members etc. Some of the needs can be identified with precision while others can only be tentatively determined. There may be unanticipated needs as well for which provisions have to be made. Sometimes financial needs change with investor’s changing circumstances.

In order to prepare a financial plan, these goals have to be stated in clear and determinable terms of age, amounts and time frame. The financial planning process is merely an exercise of allocation of today’s money to meet tomorrow’s needs. The financial plan is not static. It has to be reviewed from time to time to account for the changing circumstances.

Assessing the financial capacity

An investor sets aside some money today to realize the financial goals stated in the financial plan. How much money can be set aside now depends on the present circumstances. This can be understood by understanding the income, assets and liabilities of the individual investor. The balance sheet lists the investor’s assets and liabilities. Hopefully, the assets exceed the liabilities and this excess is the net worth. All assets and liabilities should be valued at the current market value instead of any cost basis. For example, if you own an equity share bought at Rs. 1,000 and it is worth Rs.5,000 now, your balance sheet should reflect Rs.5,000. 

	Balance Sheet of Mr. A as at 31st March 2010

	Assets 
	Liabilities 

	Cash 
	80,000 
	House loan outstanding 
	6,00,000 

	Investments 
	4,00,000 
	Car loan outstanding 
	1,00,000 

	House 
	8,00,000 
	Net worth 
	11,80,000

	Car 
	2,00,000 
	
	

	Life insurance surrender value
	4,00,000
	
	

	Total 
	18,80,000 
	Total 
	18,80,000 


An investor should live within his means. Means is the income. Out of this income, routine expenses are met. The remaining amount is available for savings. An investor should prepare a statement of income and expense. It is called “Cash Flow Statement”. The sources of income are  salary, dividends, interest, self-employment earnings etc.

After identifying the income, an investor should identify the expenses. Expenses are generally grouped into living expenses, payments already committed and taxes.

The excess of income over expenses in each year is the amount available to save. The investor tries to achieve his financial goals subject to his saving capacity. The Cash Flow Statement is prepared under different scenarios. These are death, disability and retirement.

	Cash Flow Statement of Mr. A for the period 1.4.2009 to 31.3.2010

	
	Expected 
	Alternate scenarios 

	
	
	Disability 
	Death 
	Retirement 

	Income 
	Business income net/Salary 

Dividends, interest received 

Others 
	4,00,000

1,00,000

 0 
	0 

1,00,000

0
	0 

1,00,000

0 
	0 

1,00,000

 0 

	
	Total 
	5,00,000
	1,00,000
	1,00,00
	1,00,000

	Expense 
	Family living expenses 

Insurance premia

Loan installments

Pension contribution

Taxes 

Total 
	2,00,000 

20,000 

35,000 

30,000 

1,50 000 

4,35,000 
	2,50,000

20,000 

35,000 

30,000 

30,000 

32,65,000 
	1,50,000

20,000 

35,000 

0 

30,000 

2,35,000 
	2,00,000

20,000 

35,000 

0 

30,000 

2,85,000 

	Excess (Deficit) 
	65,000
	(2,65,000)
	(1,35,000) 
	(1,85,000)


What is investment planning?

The balance sheet shows what the investor owns and what he owes. The cash flow statement shows the money available for making investments. Together, these two statements tell the investor’s financial circumstances and the saving potential. Financial planning is the process of meeting as many of the investor’s financial needs as possible with his saving potential.

12 steps to investing

Before making any investment, you must ensure that you:

1,
Obtain written documents explaining the investment

2.   Read and understand such documents

3.   Verify the legitimacy of the investment

4.
Find out the costs and benefits associated with the investment

5.
Assess risk-return profile of the investment

6.
Know the liquidity and safety aspects of the investment

7.
Ascertain if the product is appropriate for your specific goals

8.
Compare the product with other investments opportunities available

9.
Examine if it fits with other investments you are considering or you have already made,

10.
Deal only through registered intermediaries

11.
Seek all clarifications about the intermediary and the investment, 

12.
Explore the options available to you should something go wrong, and then, if satisfied, make the investment.

PROCESS OF INVESTING
As investors, we would all like to beat the market and we would all like to pick "great" investments on instinct. However, while intuition is undoubtedly a part of the process of investing, it is just part of the process. As investors, it is not surprising that we focus so much of our energy and efforts on investment philosophies and strategies, and so little on the investment process. It is far more interesting to read about how Peter Lynch picks stocks and what makes Warren Buffett a valuable investor, than it is to talk about the steps involved in creating a portfolio or in executing trades. Though it does not get sufficient attention, understanding the investment process is critical for every investor for several reasons:

1.
The investment process outlines the steps in creating a portfolio, and emphasizes the sequence of actions involved from understanding the investors risk preferences to asset allocation and selection to performance evaluation. By emphasizing the sequence, it provides for an orderly way in which an investor can create his or her own portfolio or a portfolio for someone else.

2.
The investment process provides a structure that allows investors to see the source of different investment strategies and philosophies. By doing so, it allows investors to take the hundreds of strategies that they see described in the common press and in investment newsletters and to trace them to their common roots. 

3.
The investment process emphasizes the different components that are needed for an investment strategy to be successful, and by so doing explain why so many strategies that look good on paper never work for those who use them. 

Investing well has a secret formula – having the right information, planning and making good choices. 

The Investment Process is graphically depicted on the next page.
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PURCHASING PROCESS

From where to purchase the products? 

· Brokers: Brokers offer several services like purchase/sale of equity, debt and derivative products, mutual fund units, IPOs etc.

· Banks: Many banks  offer facilities for purchase/sale of equity, debt and derivative products, mutual fund units, IPOs etc. physically as well as through their websites 

· Mutual Funds: Almost all Mutual Funds facilitate online and physical buying/selling of mutual funds.

· Stock Exchanges: Close ended mutual funds are traded on stock exchanges and can be brought through brokers. Open ended mutual funds can also be bought/sold on the stock exchange platform.

Steps involved for becoming a capital market investor

· The first requirement is a PAN Card. This is mandatory for all investors.

· The other requirements are a bank account and a demat account. The demat account is normally linked to a bank account in order to facilitate paying in and out of funds and securities.

· The next step is to select a broker and fill a KYC form and enter into a broker-client agreement.

· The broker then allocates a unique client ID, which acts as the identification. 

· You are now ready to buy/sell securities.

Chapter 10

	PRIMARY MARKET


Primary market is the market where new securities are issued by a company to the investors or where the existing owners dilute their shareholding in favour of new investors. 

TYPES OF ISSUES

Primarily, issues can be classified as Public, Rights or Preferential Issues (also known as private placements). In addition, companies also make bonus issues. While public and rights issues involve a detailed procedure, preferential issues and bonus issues are relatively simple. 
ISSUES

1.
PUBLIC ISSUES
(a)
Initial Public Offering (by unlisted companies)


- Fresh Issue


- Offer for Sale

(b)
Further Public Offering (by listed companies)

- Fresh Issue

- Offer for Sale



2.
RIGHTS ISSUES
3.
PRIVATE PLACEMENTS

- Private Placement (by unlisted companies)

-
Preferential Issue (by listed companies)

-
Qualified Institutions Placement (by listed companies)
4.
BONUS ISSUES

- Bonus Issues (by unlisted companies)

The classification of issues is illustrated below:
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Public Issue

Public issues can be further classified into Initial Public Offerings (IPOs) and Further Public Offerings (FPOs) or Follow-on Public Offerings. In a public offering, an issuer makes an offer to new investors to join its shareholding family (existing shareholders can also participate in a FPO). To do so, the issuer company is required to make detailed disclosures as per SEBI’s ICDR Regulations in its offer document released o the public. 

The significant features of the two types of public issue are illustrated below:

 Initial Public Offering (IPO) is when a hitherto unlisted company makes either a fresh issue of securities or some of its existing shareholders make an offer for sale of part of their shareholding, or both, for the first time to the public through an offer document.  This paves the way for the listing and trading of the issuer’s securities. 

An IPO, where fresh securities are issued, is typically made by a company when it needs money for growth-expansion or diversification or acquisitions or even to meet its increasing working capital requirements. Companies also go in for IPOs mainly for the purpose of obtaining valuations for their companies, as market-validated valuations convert shares into a currency, which can also be used, for example for pledging or for acquisitions. In a fresh securities sale, the proceeds of the share sales go to the issuing company.
 An IPO, where an offer for sale is being made by the existing shareholders, is typically made either because some of the existing shareholders-typically venture capital/private equity funds, want an exit route where they can either sell their shares through the IPO or liquidate these in the market once the shares are listed, or in some cases, where the promoters themselves want to convert some of their shares into cash. The other objective could be to obtain valuations for their companies, as market-validated valuations convert shares into a currency, which can also be used, for example for pledging or for acquisitions. In an offer for sale, the proceeds of the share sales go to the selling shareholders and not to the issuing company.
Further Public Offering (FPO) is when an already listed company makes either a fresh issue of securities to the public or the existing promoters make an offer for sale to the public through an offer document. An offer for sale under FPO is allowed only if it is made to satisfy the continuous listing obligations.

An FPO, where fresh securities are issued, is typically made by a company when it needs money for growth-expansion or diversification or acquisitions or even to meet its increasing working capital requirements. An FPO is also the preferred route (over a rights issue) when the company wants to bring in new investors-both institutional as well as retail.
 An FPO, where an offer for sale is being made by the existing shareholders, is typically made to comply with the listing guidelines which require a minimum level of public shareholding. It may be pointed out that the FPO route is also being utilized extensively by the Government for the PSUs for the purpose of disinvestment of government’s holdings and use the proceeds for the social/other purposes. 
SEBI Regulations also allow both unlisted and listed companies to make public issue of bonds. 

Rights Issue

Rights Issue is when a listed company issues fresh securities to its existing shareholders in a particular ratio to the number of securities held prior to the issue as on a record date. This route is normally used by a company who would like to raise capital without diluting the stake of its existing shareholders, as in a rights issue the stake held by each shareholder remains the same even after the issue. (There could be some instances where the promoter may not like to bring in his money and therefore allow dilution of his stake by giving up on his rights entitlement).

Rights issues are typically made at a discount to the prevailing market price, and hence are seen as a reward to the shareholders.

Bonus Issue

A Bonus Issue is when a company makes an issue of securities to its existing shareholders in a particular ratio to the number of securities held on a record date, without any payment for the same. The shares are issued out of the company’s free reserves or from the share premium account.

Bonus issues are typically seen as a reward to the shareholders.

Private Placement

A private placement is an issue of securities by a company to a select group of persons, which is neither a public issue nor a rights issue, with the condition that the number of investors should not exceed 49. 

This is a faster and economical way for a company to raise capital. 

Private Placements by a listed company can be of two types (Private Placements by unlisted companies are not regulated by SEBI):

Preferential Allotment

A private placement of securities is generally known as a preferential allotment. The issuing company is required to follow an elaborate set of guidelines prescribed under the SEBI ICDR Regulations on issue pricing, disclosures, lock-in etc.

Preferential allotments are typically made to the promoters, VC/PE firms, collaborators and other strategic/financial investors, and are done primarily to raise funds required by the company.

Qualified Institutional Placement

A Qualified Institutional Placement (QIP) is a private placement of securities only to the Qualified Institutional Buyers. The issuing company is required to follow an elaborate set of guidelines prescribed under the SEBI ICDR Regulations on issue pricing, disclosures, etc. 

QIPs are typically made to raise funds required by the company, and also for meeting the listing requirements on minimum public holding.

THE INDIAN PRIMARY MARKET

The Indian IPO market has witnessed a significant amount of activity in the past 6 years (except for 2008-09 which was marred by the global economic meltdown). :

IPOs: Equity & Convertibles

	Year
	No. of 
Issues
	Issue Amount
(Rs. crore)

	2000-2001
	109
	2375

	2001-2002
	6
	1082

	2002-2003
	6
	1039

	2003-2004
	19
	3191

	2004-2005
	23
	14662

	2005-2006
	76
	10808

	2006-2007
	76
	23706

	2007-2008
	84
	41323

	2008-2009
	21
	2034

	2009-2010
	39
	24948


SOURCE: PRIME Database

The Indian FPO market too has witnessed a significant amount of activity in the past 6 years (except for 2008-09):

FPOs: Equity & Convertibles

	Year
	No. of 
Issues
	Issue Amount
(Rs. crore)

	2000-2001
	1
	5

	2001-2002
	0
	0

	2002-2003
	0
	0

	2003-2004
	9
	14616

	2004-2005
	6
	6769

	2005-2006
	26
	12868

	2006-2007
	9
	1287

	2007-2008
	6
	10896

	2008-2009
	0
	0

	2009-2010
	5
	21993


SOURCE: PRIME Database

Regarding public issues of bonds, the market was dominated by the financial institutions till 2004-05. After a lull of 2 years, this market is showing some signs of activity with some issuances being made by NBFCs:

Public Bonds Issues

	Year
	No. of 
Issues
	Issue Amount
(Rs. crore)

	2000-2001
	9 
	4139

	2001-2002
	13
	5341

	2002-2003
	8
	4693

	2003-2004
	6
	4324

	2004-2005
	5
	4095

	2005-2006
	0
	0

	2006-2007
	0
	0

	2007-2008
	1
	1000

	2008-2009
	1
	1500

	2009-2010
	3
	2500


SOURCE: PRIME Database

The Indian IPO/FPO market typically witnessed small-sized issuances till the 90s. The decade of 2000 saw India emerging as a market ready for large-sized IPOs. The following table provides brief details of the top 10 largest IPO/FPOs ever:

 TOP 10 Indian IPOs / FPOs ever

	SNO
	Company Name 
	IPO / 
FPO
	Opening 
Date
	Issue 
Amount 
(Rs.crore)

	
	
	
	
	

	1
	OIL & NATURAL GAS CORP.LTD.
	 FPO
	05/03/2004
	10542.40

	2
	RELIANCE POWER LTD.
	 IPO
	15/01/2008
	10123.20

	3
	ICICI BANK LTD.
	 FPO
	19/06/2007
	10044.00

	4
	NMDC LTD.
	 FPO
	10/03/2010
	9930.45

	5
	DLF LTD.
	 IPO
	11/06/2007
	9187.50

	6
	NTPC LTD.
	 FPO
	03/02/2010
	8480.10

	7
	NHPC LTD.
	 IPO
	07/08/2009
	6038.55

	8
	CAIRN INDIA LTD.
	 IPO
	11/12/2006
	5788.79

	9
	ICICI BANK LTD.
	 FPO
	01/12/2005
	5750.00

	10
	TATA CONSULTANCY SERVICES LTD.
	 IPO
	29/07/2004
	5420.49


SOURCE: PRIME Database

There is enough depth in the retail investors, and they have come in very large numbers to invest in IPOs/FPOs. The following table shows the top 10 IPOS/FPOs in terms of number of applications from retail investors: 

Top 10 IPOs & FPOs –by Number of Retail Applications

	SNO.
	Company Name (As at the Time of Issue)
	IPO/
FPO
	Opening
Date
	Issue
Amount
(Rs.crore)
	No. of
Retail Applications

	1
	RELIANCE POWER LTD.
	IPO
	15/01/2008
	10123.20
	4623083

	2
	MANGALORE REFINERY & PETROCHEMICALS LTD.
	IPO
	21/05/1992
	1142.66
	4457731

	3
	RELIANCE POLYPROPYLENE LTD.
	FPO
	12/11/1992
	325.00
	4367028

	4
	TATA TIMKEN LTD.
	IPO
	02/09/1991
	21.50
	4069264

	5
	RELIANCE POLYETHYLENE LTD.
	FPO
	12/11/1992
	325.00
	3788190

	6
	JINDAL VIJAYANAGAR STEEL LTD.
	IPO
	10/02/1995
	814.56
	2815252

	7
	RELIANCE PETROLEUM LTD.
	IPO
	23/09/1993
	2172.00
	2663251

	8
	RAYMOND SYNTHETICS LTD.
	IPO
	20/08/1990
	28.80
	2568615

	9
	INDUSTRIAL FINANCE CORP.OF INDIA LTD.,THE
	IPO
	07/12/1993
	525.00
	2401206

	10
	RELIANCE PETROLEUM LTD.
	IPO
	13/04/2006
	2700.00
	1939274


SOURCE: PRIME Database

With regard to rights issues, there continues to be a reasonable market with nearly 30 companies tapping this route in each of the past 6 years, raising significant amounts:

Rights Issues: Equity & Convertibles

	Year
	No. of 
Issues
	Issue Amount
(Rs. crore)

	2000-2001
	27
	729

	2001-2002
	13
	1041

	2002-2003
	12
	431

	2003-2004
	22
	1006

	2004-2005
	26
	3616

	2005-2006
	36
	4126

	2006-2007
	38
	3703

	2007-2008
	30
	32518

	2008-2009
	23
	12622

	2009-2010
	29
	8321


SOURCE: PRIME Database

As far as QIPs are concerned, this route was introduced only in 2006-07, and has witnessed huge volumes since then:
QIPs: Equity & Convertibles

	Year
	No. of
Issues
	Issue Amount
(Rs. crore)

	2006-2007
	25
	4963

	2007-2008
	38
	25770

	2008-2009
	2
	189

	2009-2010
	67
	39768


SOURCE: PRIME Database
ENTRY NORMS FOR COMPANIES

SEBI has laid down entry norms for companies wanting to make a public issue. 

IPOs from Unlisted Companies

An unlisted issuer making a public issue (i.e. an IPO) is required to satisfy the following provisions. It has various routes available as described below:
Entry Norm I (commonly known as the “Profitability Route”)


The Issuer Company shall meet the following requirements:

(a) Net Tangible Assets of at least Rs. 3 crore in each of the preceding three full years.

(b)
Distributable profits in at least three of the immediately preceding five years.

(c)
Net worth of at least Rs. 1 crore in each of the preceding three full years.

(d)
If the company has changed its name within the last one year, at least 50% revenue for the preceding 1 year should be from the activity suggested by the new name.

(e)
The issue size does not exceed 5 times the pre-issue net worth as per the audited balance sheet of the last financial year


To provide sufficient flexibility and also to ensure that genuine companies do not suffer on account of rigidity of the entry norm parameters, SEBI has provided two other alternative routes to companies not satisfying any of the above conditions, as under:


Entry Norm II (commonly known as the “QIB Route”)

(a)
The issue shall be through the book building route, with at least 50% of the issue amount to be mandatory allotted to the Qualified Institutional Buyers (QIBs).

(b)
The minimum post-issue face value capital shall be Rs. 10 crore or there shall be a compulsory market-making for at least 2 years after the listing date.


Entry Norm III (commonly known as the “Appraisal Route”)

(a)
The “project” shall be appraised and shall have participation to the extent of 15% by Financial Institutions / Scheduled Commercial Banks of which at least 10% shall come from the appraiser(s).

(b)
The minimum post-issue face value capital shall be Rs. 10 crore or there shall be a compulsory market-making for at least 2 years after the listing date.


In addition to satisfying the aforesaid entry norms, the company shall also satisfy the criteria of having at least 1000 allottees in its issue.

FPOs from Listed Companies

A listed company making a public issue (i.e. an FPO) is required to satisfy the following requirements:

(a) 
If the company has changed its name within the last one year, at least 50% revenue for the preceding 1 year should be from the activity suggested by the new name.

(b) 
The issue size does not exceed 5 times the pre- issue net worth as per the audited balance sheet of the last financial year


Any listed company not fulfilling these conditions shall be eligible to make a public issue by complying with the QIB Route or the Appraisal Route as specified for IPOs.

Certain category of entities which are exempted from the aforesaid entry norms, are as under:

(a) 
Private Sector Banks

(b) 
Public sector banks

(c) 
An infrastructure company whose project has been appraised by a Public Financial Institution or IDFC or IL&FS or a bank which was earlier a PFI and not less than 5% of the project cost is financed by any of these institutions.

Rights Issues

There are no entry norms for a listed company making a rights issue

OTHER ENTRY PROVISIONS

A company making a public issue is required to inter-alia comply with the following provisions:

Minimum Promoter’s Contribution and Lock-in: In a public issue by an unlisted company, the promoters shall contribute not less than 20% of the post issue capital which should be locked in for a period of 3 years. “Lock-in” indicates a freeze on the shares. The remaining pre-issue capital should also be locked in for a period of 1 year from the date of listing. In case of public issue by a listed issuer (i.e. FPO), the promoters shall contribute not less than 20% of the post issue capital or 20% of the issue size. This provision ensures that promoters of the company have some minimum stake in the company for a minimum period after the issue or after the project for which funds have been raised from the public has commenced. 

IPO Grading: Every company coming out with an IPO has to go in for an IPO Grading. (see later section on IPO Grading).

SEBI’S ROLE IN AN ISSUE  

Till the early nineties, the Controller of Capital Issues in the Ministry of Finance used to accord permission to companies wishing to tap the capital market and also approve the price, according to its formula, at which an issue could be made.

However, following the introduction of the disclosure-based regime under the aegis of SEBI in 1992, the focus was shifted to disclosures. The companies were allowed to determine the issue price without any regulatory interference or formula, based upon market forces, and investors were required to take an informed decision based upon the disclosures.

All issues are governed by SEBI in terms of SEBI ICDR guidelines.  

All companies making a public issue and all listed companies making a rights issue of more than Rs.50 lakh are required to file a draft offer document with SEBI. The company’s merchant banker has to ensure that it is in compliance with all the requirements of the SEBI ICDR Guidelines. SEBI examines the compliance with these guidelines and also ensures that all material information is disclosed in the offer documents.

The company can make an issue only after receiving observations from SEBI on the offer document, and incorporating all changes suggested by SEBI.   The validity of the observation letter is 12 months.

The draft offer document filed is also placed by SEBI on its website for public comments.  

There is no requirement of filing any offer document to SEBI in case of preferential allotments and QIPs. For QIPs, however, the merchant banker handling the issue has to file a copy of the draft document with the stock exchanges where the company’s securities are listed and also file the final placement document with SEBI after allotment for record purpose. 

Fast Track Issues (FTI)

SEBI has introduced FTI in order to enable well-established and compliant listed companies satisfying certain specific entry norms/conditions to access Indian Primary Market in a time effective manner. Such companies can proceed with FPOs / Right Issues by filing a copy of RHP / Prospectus with the RoC or the Letter of Offer with designated SE, SEBI and Stock Exchanges. Such companies are not required to file Draft Offer Document for SEBI comments and to Stock Exchanges.

Entry Norms for companies seeking to access Primary Market through FTI’s in case aggregate value of securities including premium exceeds Rs. 50 lakh:

(i) 
The shares of the company have been listed on any stock exchange having nationwide terminals for a period of at least three years immediately preceding the date of filing of offer document with RoC/ SE.

(ii) 
The “average market capitalization of public shareholding” of the company is at least Rs. 10,000 crore for a period of one year up to the end of the quarter preceding the month in which the proposed issue is approved by the Board of Directors / shareholders of the issuer;

(iii) 
The annualized trading turnover of the shares of the company during six calendar months immediately preceding the month of the reference date has been at least two percent of the weighted average number of shares listed during the said six months period;

(iv) 
The company has redressed at least 95% of the total shareholder / investor grievances or complaints received till the end of the quarter immediately proceeding the month of the date of filing of offer document with RoC/ SE.

(v) 
The company has complied with the listing agreement for a period of at least three years immediately preceding the reference date;

(vi) 
The impact of auditors’ qualifications, if any, on the audited accounts of the company in respect of the financial years for which such accounts are disclosed in the offer document does not exceed 5% of the net profit/ loss after tax of the company for the respective years.

(vii) 
No prosecution proceedings or show cause notices issued by the Board are pending against the company or its promoters or whole time directors as on the reference date; and

(viii) 
The entire shareholding of the promoter group is held in dematerialized form as on the reference date.

Does SEBI recommend any issue?

It should be distinctly understood that SEBI does not recommend any issue nor does it take any responsibility either for the financial soundness of any scheme or the project for which the issue is proposed to be made or for the disclosures made in the offer document.

Does SEBI approve the contents of the offer document?

Submission of offer document to SEBI should not in any way be deemed or construed that the same has been cleared or approved by SEBI. The merchant banker certifies that the disclosures made in the offer document are adequate and are in conformity with SEBI guidelines. 

If SEBI has issued observations on the offer document, does it mean that the investment is safe?

Investors should make an informed decision based on the disclosures made in the offer documents. SEBI does not associate itself with any issue/issuer and its role should in no way be construed as a guarantee for the funds that the investor proposes to invest in an issue. 
OFFER DOCUMENTS/ PROSPECTUS / LETTERS OF OFFER

“Offer document” means Prospectus in case of a public issue or public offer for sale and Letter of Offer in case of a rights issue. An offer document contains all relevant information about the company, promoters, project, financial details, objects of raising the money, terms of the issue etc to help an investor take the investment decision. In essence, an offer document is the document used for inviting subscription to the issue being made.

“Draft Offer document” means the offer document in the draft stage. The draft offer documents are required to be filed with SEBI at least 30 days prior to the filing of the Offer Document with the Registrar of Companies, Ministry of Corporate Affairs. SEBI may specify changes, if any, in the Draft Offer Document and the merchant banker is required to carry out such changes in the draft offer document before filing the final Offer Document with the ROC. The Draft Offer document is available on the SEBI website for public comments for a period of 21 days from the date of its filing with SEBI.

“Red Herring Prospectus” is a prospectus which has all the information as required in an Offer Document except the details of either the issue price or the number of shares being offered or the amount of issue. (This means that in case the price is not disclosed, the number of shares and the upper and lower price bands are disclosed. On the other hand, the issue size can be mentioned but the number of shares is determined later after the issue price is fixed. An RHP for FPO can be filed with the ROC without the price band and the issuer, in such a case, will notify the floor price or a price band by way of an advertisement one day prior to the opening of the issue. To elaborate, in the case of book-built issues, the price cannot be determined until the bidding process is completed, such details are not shown in the Red Herring prospectus filed with ROC in terms of the provisions of the Companies Act. Only on completion of the bidding process, the details of the final price are included in the offer document. The offer document filed thereafter with ROC is called a prospectus.

“Prospectus” is an offer document in case of a public issue, which has all relevant details including price and number of shares offered. This document is registered with the ROC before the issue opens in case of a fixed price issue and after the closure of the issue in case of a book built issue.

“Abridged Prospectus” is an abridged version of an offer document of a public issue and is issued along with the application form. It contains all the salient features of a prospectus.

 “Letter of offer” means the offer document prepared by a company for its rights issue. The Letter of Offer contains all disclosures as required in term of the SEBI Guidelines to enable the shareholders in making an informed decision.

“Abridged Letter of Offer” means the abridged version of a Letter of Offer. The company is required to send the Abridged Letter of Offer to every shareholder, along with the application form. A company is also required to send the main Letter of Offer upon request by any shareholder.

“Shelf Prospectus” is a prospectus which enables an issuer to make a series of issues within a period of 1 year without the need for filing a fresh prospectus every time. This facility is available to public sector banks /public financial institutions, and has been mainly used for public issue of bonds. 

“Placement Document” means a document prepared for the purpose of Qualified Institutional Placement and it contains all relevant and material disclosures to enable QIBs to make an informed investment decision.

UNDERSTANDING THE OFFER DOCUMENT

Cover Page

The Cover Page of the offer document covers full contact details of the issuer company, the nature, number, price and amount of instruments offered and issue size, names of lead managers and registrars, and particulars regarding listing. Other details such as Credit Rating, IPO Grading are disclosed, if applicable.

Risk Factors

The issuer identifies and provides its view on the internal and external risks that are and will be faced by the company. The company also provides a note on the forward looking statements. This information is disclosed in the initial pages of the document and it is also clearly disclosed in the abridged prospectus. It is advised that the investors should go through all the risk factors of the company before making an investment decision.

Introduction

The introduction covers a summary of the industry and business of the issuer company, the offering details in brief, and summary of consolidated financial, operating and other data. 

General information about the company, the merchant bankers and their responsibilities, the details of brokers/syndicate members to the issue, credit rating (in case of debt issues), debenture trustees (in case of debt issues), monitoring agency, book building process and details of underwriting agreements are also included.

Important details of the capital structure, objects of the offering, funds requirement, funding plan, schedule of implementation, funds deployed, sources of financing of funds already deployed, sources of financing for the balance fund requirement, interim use of funds, basic terms of issue, basis for issue price and tax benefits are also provided.

About the Company

This presents a review of the business of the company, business strategy, competitive strengths, industry-regulation (if applicable), history and corporate structure, main objects, subsidiary details, management and board of directors, compensation, corporate governance, related party transactions, exchange rates,  dividend policy and management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations.

Financial Statements

Financial statement, changes in accounting policies in the last three years and differences between the accounting policies and the Indian Accounting Policies (if the Company has presented its Financial Statements also as per either US GAAP/IAS are presented.

Legal and other information

Litigations involving the company and its subsidiaries, promoters and group companies are disclosed. Also material developments since the last balance sheet date, government approvals/licensing arrangements, investment approvals (FIPB/RBI etc.), other government indebtedness, etc. are also disclosed.

Other regulatory and statutory disclosures

Under this head, the information includes authority for the issue, prohibition by SEBI if any, eligibility of the company to enter the capital market, general disclaimer clause, disclaimer in respect of jurisdiction, disclaimer clause of the stock exchanges, listing, minimum subscription, letters of allotment/refunds, expert opinion, changes, if any, in the auditors in the last 3 years, expenses of the issue, fees payable to the issue management team,  underwriting commission, brokerage and selling commission, previous rights and public issues, previous issues for cash, issues otherwise than for cash, outstanding debentures or bonds, outstanding preference shares, commission and brokerage on previous issues, capitalization of reserves or profits, option to subscribe in the issue, purchase of property, revaluation of assets, classes of shares, stock market data for equity shares of the company, promise vis-à-vis performance in the past issues and mechanism for redressal of investor grievances.

Offering information

Information includes terms of the issue, ranking of equity shares, mode of payment of dividend, face value and issue price, rights of the equity shareholders, market lot, nomination facility to investors, issue procedure, book building procedure if applicable, bid form, who can bid, maximum and minimum bid size, bidding process, bidding  at different price levels, escrow mechanism, terms of payment and payment into the escrow collection account, electronic registration of bids, build up of the book and revision of bids, price discovery and allocation, signing of underwriting agreement and filing of prospectus with SEBI/ROC, announcement of statutory advertisement, issuance of can and allotment in the issue, designated date, general instructions, instructions for completing the bid form, payment instructions, submission of bid form, other instructions, disposal of application and application moneys,  interest on refund of excess bid amount, basis of allotment or allocation, method of proportionate allotment, dispatch of refunds, communications undertaking by the company, utilization of issue proceeds, restrictions on foreign ownership of Indian securities, etc.

Other Information

This covers description of equity shares and main terms of the Articles of Association, material contracts and documents for inspection, declarations, definitions and abbreviations.

What is the amount of faith that an investor can lay on the contents of the documents? 

SEBI accepts no responsibility for the quantity, quality or accuracy of information contained in the offer document. The document is prepared by an independent specialized agency- a merchant banker, registered with and regulated by SEBI. Merchant bankers are required to do thorough due diligence while preparing an offer document. 

Whom should an investor approach if there are any problems with the disclosures?

The draft offer document submitted to SEBI is put out by it on it website for public comments. In case a person has any information about the issuer or its directors or any other aspect of the company which is material but has not been disclosed or some information has been disclosed incorrectly, he can notify SEBI about the same.

IPO GRADING

IPO grading has been introduced as an endeavor to make additional information available to the investors to facilitate better decision making before investing in an IPO.

A grade is assigned by a SEBI-registered Credit Rating Agency (CRA) to every IPO. The grade represents a relative assessment of the fundamentals of that IPO in relation to the other listed equity securities in India. 

What are the IPO grading scales?

IPO grading is assigned on a five-point point scale with a higher score indicating stronger fundamentals and vice versa as below.

IPO grade 1: Poor fundamentals
IPO grade 2: Below-average fundamentals
IPO grade 3: Average fundamentals
IPO grade 4: Above-average fundamentals
IPO grade 5: Strong fundamentals
Is grading optional?

IPO grading is mandatory. Any issuer who wishes to offer shares through an IPO is required to obtain a grade for his IPO.

Who is authorized to award the IPO grades?

IPO grades are awarded by the following SEBI-registered CRAs:

Brickwork Ratings India Pvt.Ltd.

www.brickworkratings.in

Credit Analysis & Research Ltd (CARE)

www.careratings.com

CRISIL Ltd.

www.crisil.com

ICRA Ltd.



www.icra.in

Fitch Ratings India (P) Ltd.
www.fitchindia.com

What are the factors that are evaluated by the CRA to assess the fundamentals of the IPO while arriving at the grade?

The IPO grading process is expected to take into account the prospects of the industry in which the company operates, the competitive strengths of the company that would allow it to address the risks inherent in its business and capitalize on the opportunities available, as well as the company’s financial position. 

While the actual factors considered for grading may not be identical or limited to the following, the areas listed below are generally looked into by the CRAs while arriving at an IPO grade

· Business Prospects and Competitive Position

(a)
Industry Prospects

(b)
Company Prospects

· Financial Position

· Management Quality

· Corporate Governance Practices

· Compliance and Litigation History

· New Projects—Risks and Prospects

Does IPO grading consider the price at which the shares will be offered in the IPO?

No. IPO grading is done without taking into account the price at which the security will be offered in the IPO. Since IPO grading does not consider the issue price, the investor needs to make an independent judgment regarding the price at which to bid for the shares offered through the IPO, irrespective of the IPO grade.

Does an IPO grade, which indicates ‘above average or strong fundamentals’ mean high safety?

An IPO grade is not a suggestion or recommendation as to whether one should subscribe to the IPO or not. IPO grade needs to be read together with the disclosures made in the prospectus including the risk factors as well as the price at which the shares are offered in the issue.

Empirical data now clearly shows that a high graded IPO may not provide positive returns and vice versa.

At what stage is an issuer required to obtain the IPO grade?

IPO grading can be obtained either before filing the draft offer documents with SEBI or thereafter. However, the Prospectus/Red Herring Prospectus, as the case may be, must contain the grade given to the IPO.

Can a company go for IPO grading from more than one CRA?

A company can approach more than one CRA. However, the Prospectus/Red Herring Prospectus, as the case may be, must contain the grade given to the IPO by all CRAs that were approached by the company for grading its IPO.

Can the issuer reject an IPO grade?

IPO grade/s cannot be rejected. Irrespective of whether the issuer finds the grade given by the CRA acceptable or not, the grade has to be disclosed in the offer document/issue advertisements. However, the issuer has the option of approaching another CRA. In such an event too, all grades obtained for the IPO will have to be disclosed.

What is the role of SEBI in the IPO grading exercise?

SEBI does not play any role in the assessment made by the CRA. The grading is intended to be an independent opinion of the CRAs. 

Who bears the cost of the IPO grading process?

The company making the IPO is required to bear the expenses incurred for grading its IPO.

Where can one find the grades obtained for the IPO and details of the grading process?

All grades obtained for the IPO along with a description of the grades are disclosed in the prospectus, abridged prospectus, issue advertisements etc. The Grading Letter of the CRA which contains the detailed rationale for assigning a particular grade is available as a Material Document for inspection at the registered office of the company.

CATEGORY OF INVESTORS

Investors are classified by SEBI under the following 3 categories-:

(i)
Retail Individual Investor (RIIs) means an investor who applies or bids for securities for a value of not more than Rs. 1,00,000.

(ii)
Qualified Institutional Buyers (QIBs) means

(a) 
Public financial institution as defined in section 4A of the Companies Act, 1956;

(b) 
Scheduled commercial banks;

(c) 
Mutual funds;

(d) 
Foreign institutional investor registered with SEBI;

(e) 
Multilateral and bilateral development financial institutions;

(f) 
Venture capital funds registered with SEBI;

(g) 
Foreign venture capital investors registered with SEBI;

(h) 
State Industrial Development Corporations;

(i) 
Insurance companies registered with the Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority (IRDA);

(j) 
Provident funds with minimum corpus of Rs. 25 crore;

(k) 
Pension funds with minimum corpus of Rs. 25 crore;

(l) 
National Investment Fund set up by resolution F. No.2/3/2005-DD-II dated November 23, 2005 of Government of India published in the Gazette of India.”

(iii)
Non-Institutional Investors (NIIs) means investors who do not fall within the definition of the above two categories.

ALLOTMENTS

Allotment in a public issue to various investor categories is as follows:

In case of book-built issues

1. 
In case an issuer company makes an issue of 100% of the net offer to public through 100% book building process—

(a) Not less than 35% of the net offer to retail individual investors;

(b) Not less than 15% of the net offer to non-institutional investors;

(c) Not more than 50% of the net offer to Qualified Institutional Buyers:

2. In case of compulsory book-built issues, at least 50% of the net offer should be allotted to Qualified Institutional Buyers, failing which the issue will be declared as invalid and all subscription monies shall need to be refunded.

3. In book-built issues made pursuant to the requirement of mandatory allocation of 60% to QIBs in terms of Rule 19(2) (b) of Securities Contract (Regulation) Rules, 1957, the respective figures are 30% for RIIs and 10% for NIIs.

There is no discretion permitted in the allotment process. All investors are allotted shares on a proportionate basis within their respective investor categories.

In case of fixed price issues

The proportionate allotment of securities to different investor categories is as follows:

1. A minimum 50% of the net offer shall initially be made available for allotment to retail individual investors.

2. The balance net offer shall be made available for allotment to:

a. 
Individual applicants other than retail individual investors, and

b. 
Other investors including corporate bodies/ institutions, irrespective of the number of securities applied for.

RESERVATIONS

Firm allotment investors 

SEBI guidelines provide that an issuer making an issue to public can allot shares on a firm basis to some categories as specified below:

(i) 
Indian and Multilateral Development Financial Institutions

(ii) 
Indian Mutual Funds

(iii) Foreign Institutional Investors 

(iv) 
Permanent/regular employees of the issuer company

(v) 
Scheduled Banks

Reservations on a competitive basis

Reservation on competitive basis is when allotment of shares is made in proportion to the shares applied for by the concerned reserved categories. Reservation on competitive basis can be made in a public issue to the following categories:

(i) 
Employees of the company

(ii) 
Shareholders of the promoting companies in the case of a new company and shareholders of group companies in the case of an existing company

(iii) 
Indian Mutual Funds

(iv)  Foreign Institutional Investors 

(v) 
Indian and Multilateral development Institutions

(vi) 
Scheduled Banks

In an FPO, the reservation on competitive basis can be made for the existing retail individual shareholders and in such cases the allotment to such shareholders shall be on a proportionate basis

PRICING OF AN ISSUE

Indian primary market ushered in an era of free pricing in 1992. Following this, the Regulations have provided that the issuer in consultation with the merchant banker, on the basis of market demand, decides the price.  There is no price formula stipulated by SEBI and SEBI does not play any role in price fixation. The company is, however, required to give full disclosures in the offer document, under the Chapter on Justification of Issue Price, of the parameters which they had considered while deciding the issue price. These parameters include EPS, PE multiple and return on net worth and comparison of these parameters with peer group companies.

There are two types of issues one where company fixes the price (called fixed price issues) and the other where the company  stipulate a floor price or a price band and invite bids from the market to then determine the final price ( book building issues).

Fixed Price Offers

An issuer company is allowed to freely price the issue. The basis of issue price is disclosed in the offer document where the issuer discloses in detail about the qualitative and quantitative factors justifying the issue price. 

Book Building Offers

Book Building means a process by which a demand for the securities proposed to be issued is elicited and built up and the price for the securities is assessed on the basis of the bids obtained. The issuer can stipulate a price band of 20% (cap in the price band should not be more than 20% of the floor price) .This method provides an opportunity to the market to discover price for the securities, though within a band of 20%.

Differential Pricing

Pricing of an issue where one category is offered shares at a price different from the other category is called differential pricing. In ICDR Regulations, differential pricing is allowed only if the securities allotted to an applicant are at a price higher than the price at which the net offer to the public is made. 

Discount to Retail

An issuer company can allot shares to retail individual investors at a discount of maximum 10% to the price at which the shares are offered to the other categories.

UNDERSTANDING BOOK BUILDING

What is book building?

Book building is a process of price discovery. The applicants bid for the shares quoting the price and the quantity that they would like to bid at. The bids have to be made within the price band specified by the issuer. Retail investors also have the option of not bidding at a particular price but rather using the ‘cut-off’ option. After the bidding process is complete, the ‘cut-off’ price i.e. the final issue price is arrived at by the issuer depending upon the bids received at various prices. Though an issuer can stipulate the final price to be any price including the highest price of the price band in case the entire quantity of shares proposed to be sold are bid for at that price, he can also choose any lower price point within the band. All applicants who have bid at or above the cut off price are then eligible for allotment and are allotted shares at the same cut off price even if they had bid at a higher price (Dutch auction process). The basis of allotment is then finalized and allotment/refund is undertaken. 

What is a price band?

The red herring prospectus may contain either the floor price for the securities or a price band within which the investors can bid. The spread between the floor and the cap of the price band cannot be more than 20%. This means that the cap should not be more than 120% of the floor price. 

The price band can be revised after the issue has opened. Such revision has to be notified to the stock exchanges, by issuing press release and advertisements and also displaying the same on the terminals of the syndicate members. Moreover, the bidding period has to be extended for a further period of three days, subject to the total bidding period not exceeding ten days.

Who decides the price band?

It is up to the company to decide on the price or the price band in consultation with its merchant bankers. 

How does the “cut-off” option work for the retail investors?

“Cut-off” option is available only for the retail individual investors i.e. investors who are applying for securities worth up to Rs. 1,00,000. Such investors are required to tick the cut-off option which indicates their willingness to subscribe to shares at the price finally discovered and decided by the issuer. Unlike specific price bids which become invalid if the bid price is lower than the final price, bids received under the cut-off option remain valid for consideration for allotment

ISSUE PROCESS 

How does one come to know about the forthcoming issues? And from where can one get copies of the draft offer document?

SEBI issues press releases every week regarding the draft offer documents received and observations issued during the period. The draft offer documents are put up on its website. The final offer documents that are filed with SEBI/ROC are also put up on its website. 

Hard copies of the draft offer documents can be obtained from SEBI on a payment of Rs.100 or from stock exchanges, issuer and lead managers. Soft copies can be downloaded from the SEBI website.

Issue advertisements are released by the companies in newspapers, magazines and even electronic media.

Where can one get the forms for applying/ bidding for the shares?

Application forms for applying/bidding for shares are available with all syndicate members, bank collection centers and brokers to the issue. In case of applications made under ASBA, the application forms are available from the designated bank branches.

Is it compulsory for the investor to have a demat account?

All applications in public issues of size in excess of Rs.10 crore are to made compulsorily in the demat mode. Since almost all issues are now above this amount, an investor should open a demat account in case he wishes to apply for shares in an IPO/FPO.

Is it compulsory for an investor to have a PAN to apply in an IPO/FPO?

Yes. It is compulsory to have a PAN and has to be disclosed in the application form. (Photocopy of the PAN is no longer required to be attached with the application form).

For how many days does an issue remain open?

A public issue has to be kept open for at least 3 working days but not more than 10 working days. In case the price band in a public issue made through book-building process is revised, the bidding period has to be extended for a minimum period of 3 working days. However, the total bidding period should not exceed 10 working days. 

Rights issue is kept open for a minimum period of 15 days and for a maximum period of 30 days.

How can one know about the demand for an issue at any point of time during the issue period?

In issues made through book building, the company is required to ensure online display of the demand and bids during the bidding period. This is the open book system of book building which allows the investors to be guided by the movements of the bids during the period in which the bid is kept open. 

The hour-to-hour status of bidding in a book-built issue is available on the websites of BSE and NSE on a consolidated basis. The data regarding bids is also available investor category wise.

Can the investor change/revise his bid?

Yes. An investor can change or revise the quantity or price of his bid by using the form for changing/revising the bid that is available along with the application form. However, this has to be done before the closure of the issue.

Can an investor cancel his bid?

Yes. An investor can cancel his bid anytime before the finalization of the basis of allotment by making an application to the registrar to the issue.

What proof can an investor request from a syndicate member that his bid has been entered into the system?

The syndicate member is required to return the counterfoil with the signature, date and stamp of the syndicate member. The investor should retain this as a proof that his bid was accepted in the system.

What is basis of allocation/basis of allotment?

After the closure of the issue, the bids received are aggregated under different categories i.e., firm allotments, Qualified Institutional Buyers (QIBs), Non-Institutional Buyers (NIBs), Retail, etc. The oversubscription ratios are then calculated for each of the categories as against the shares reserved for each of the categories in the offer document. Within each of these categories, the bids are then segregated into different buckets based on the number of shares applied for. The oversubscription ratio is then applied to the number of shares applied for and the number of shares to be allotted for applicants in each of the buckets is determined. Subsequently, the number of successful allottees is determined. 

All allotments, including in fixed price issues, are done on a proportionate allotment basis.

How and within how much time does an investor get securities in his demat account and/or a refund in case of non-allotment of shares?

The Company, after closing of the issue, finalizes the basis of allotment. Based upon this, advice is sent to the Depository for credit of shares to the demat accounts of the successful allottees. 

Refunds are made through various modes viz. registered/ordinary post, Direct Credit, RTGS (Real Time Gross Settlement), ECS (Electronic Clearing Service) and NEFT (National Electronic Funds Transfer).

If an investor is residing in one of the 68 centers as specified by the Reserve Bank of India, he will get electronic refunds through ECS except where the investor has disclosed eligibility under Direct Credit and RTGS. (see section on ECS).

If an investor is residing at any other centre, he will get refunds through registered/ordinary post. 

How does one know if he has been allotted any shares? 

The issuer is required to publish an advertisement giving details of the basis of allotment.

The investor is entitled to receive an allotment advice within 15 days from the date of closure of a book-built issue and the demat credit or refund should take place within this period.

How long does it take after the issue for the shares to get listed?

The listing on the stock exchanges is done within 7 days from the finalization of the basis of allotment. This typically is 15-18 days after the closure of the book built issue. In case of fixed price issue, it is about 35 days after closure of the issue.

APPLICATIONS SUPPORTED BY BLOCKED AMOUNT (ASBA)
Background

Until 2008, a retail investor was required to attach a cheque/demand draft covering the full amount of his application. Details of such cheques were first entered by the Syndicate Member, then the cheques were sent to the bankers for clearing, which again required entering of the applicant’s data and finally the cleared applications were sent to the Registrar who again processed the data. This process caused delays and errors.

Furthermore, in issues that were oversubscribed, the Registrar then had to process the refund warrants/refund instructions. Nearly a month after the application was made, the investor would receive the refund. In highly oversubscribed issues, the volume of refund-related work obviously became huge. Compounding this was the problem of refund warrants getting misplaced/lost in transit. Little wonder, the largest number of complaints in IPOs was related to refunds. Worse, an investor’s money remained out of his reach for this period, and was utilized by the system without paying interest to the investor, and the incidence of this was substantial as most cases resulted not in allotment but in refunds.

A part of this problem was solved by SEBI a few years ago by mandating electronic refund through the banking system (ECS). 

ASBA is now a new system introduced by SEBI in 2008 to revolutionize the entire system of applications and refunds.

What is ASBA?

ASBA means “Application Supported by Blocked amount”. ASBA is an application containing an authorization to the investor’s bank to block in his bank account an amount equivalent to the application money. The money remains in the bank. Upon finalization of the basis of allotment, only the amount equivalent to the allotment amount is debited to the bank account, and the rest is freed up. If the allotment is nil, then the entire blocked application amount gets released.

Who can apply through the ASBA process?

All investors are allowed to apply through the ASBA process.

What are the benefits for the investor applying through ASBA?

Applying through ASBA process has the following benefits for the investor:

(i) 
The investor need not pay the application money by cheque. He only issues an authorization to his bank to block the bank account to the extent of the application money.

(ii) 
The investor does not have to bother about refunds, as in ASBA only that much money which is required for allotment of securities, is taken from the bank account.

(iii)
The investor continues to earn interest on the blocked money as the same remains in his bank account.

(iv)
The ASBA application form is much simpler.

(v) 
The investor deals with a known intermediary i.e. his own bank.

Is it mandatory for investors to apply through ASBA only?

No. An investor has the option of making application through ASBA or through the existing process of applying with cheque.

What is a Self certified Syndicate Bank (SCSB)?

Banks which have been authorized by SEBI to accept ASBA applications called Self Certified Syndicate Banks (SCSBs).  

Is an issuer required to provide ASBA mode for all issues? 

The issuer is required to provide ASBA mode in all public issues though book building where a uniform payment option is being offered to the retail investors.

Is it mandatory for all SCSBs to offer the ASBA process in all issues?

It is mandatory for all issuers and all SCSBs to offer the ASBA process in the bookbuilt issues.

Where can one submit the ASBA application forms? 

At present, not all the banks are participating in the ASBA process. Even banks who are participating are not offering this facility in all their branches. However, the acceptance centres are increasing by the day. The list of SCSBs and their branches where ASBA application forms are being accepted is available on the website of SEBI (www.sebi.gov.in).

Can one use the existing application form for public issues for applying through ASBA?

No. The application form for ASBA is different from the regular application form for public issues. The ASBA application forms are available with the designated branches of SCSB.

Can one withdraw the bid made through ASBA?

Yes, the ASBA-supported bids can be withdrawn during the bidding period. For this, the bank to which the bid was submitted has to be requested for withdrawal through a duly signed letter. The blocked amount will be unblocked immediately.

After the bid closure period, one can send the withdrawal request to the Registrars, who will cancel the bid and instruct the SCSB to unblock the application money in the bank account, but only after the finalization of the basis of allotment.

Who should one approach if it is found that all details in the ASBA form were correct, yet the application was rejected by citing the reason of wrong data?

The relevant SCSB should be contacted. If not resolved, one should write to SEBI.

Does an investor necessarily need to have a DP account with the same SCSB where ASBA application is being submitted?

No. 

Can one apply in the same issue both through ASBA process and through the existing system of payment through cheque?

No. An investor can apply only through one of the routes.

Is there any different treatment in allotment for ASBA and non-ASBA forms?

No. ASBA forms are treated at par with the non-ASBA forms 

Does an investor get an acknowledgement for ASBA applications?

Yes. The SCCB is required to give an acknowledgement.

Who is responsible for errors in the data uploaded in the electronic bidding system?

In case there is an error by the investor in entering the data in the application form, the investor shall be responsible. In case there is an error by SCSB in entering the data in the electronic bidding system of the stock exchanges, the SCSB shall be responsible.

What happens when an issue fails/ is withdrawn?

In case an issue fails or is withdrawn, the SCSB shall unblock the application money upon receiving instructions from the Registrar.

ELECTRONIC CLEARING SCHEME (ECS) FOR REFUNDS

SEBI mandated in 2006 the use of ECS for refunds in public issues. Applicants residing in 68 centers, as provided by RBI, now get refunds through ECS (in addition with other modes of making refunds electronically like RTGS, Direct credit and NEFT). Applicants in other centers however get refunds through the normal practice of registered / ordinary post. 

Under ECS, the bank account details of the investors are taken directly from the depositories’ databases and the amounts are electronically credited to the investor’s accounts. An investor should ensure that his bank details including MICR code (a 9 digit code which appears in the cheque leaf) are provided to the DP, and is updated whenever necessary.

The list of the 68 centres is provided below:

	1
	Agra 

	2
	Ahmedabad

	3
	Allahabad 

	4
	Amritsar

	5
	Aurangabad

	6
	Bangalore

	7
	Bhilwara

	8
	Bhopal

	9
	Bhubaneswar

	10
	Burdwan(non-MICR) 

	11
	Chandigarh

	12
	Chennai

	13
	Coimbatore

	14
	Dehradun

	15
	Dhanbad(non-MICR) 

	16
	Durgapur (non-MICR) 

	17
	Erode

	18
	Gorakhpur

	19
	Guwahati

	20
	Gwalior

	21
	Haldia (Non- MICR)

	22
	Hubli 

	23
	Hyderabad

	24
	Indore

	25
	Jabalpur

	26
	Jaipur

	27
	Jalandhar 

	28
	Jammu

	29
	Jamshedpur

	30
	Jodhpur

	31
	Kakinada (non-MICR) 

	32
	Kanpur

	33
	Kochi/Ernakulam

	34
	Kolhapur

	35
	Kolkata

	36
	Kozhikode

	37
	Lucknow 

	38
	Ludhiana 

	39
	Madurai

	40
	Mangalore

	41
	Mumbai

	42
	Mysore

	43
	Nagpur

	44
	Nashik

	45
	Nellore (non-MICR) 

	46
	New Delhi

	47
	Panaji

	48
	Patna

	49
	Pondicherry

	50
	Pune

	51
	Raipur

	52
	Rajkot

	53
	Ranchi 

	54
	Salem

	55
	Shimla (non-MICR) 

	56
	Sholapur 

	57
	Siliguri (non-MICR)

	58
	Surat

	59
	Thiruvananthapuram 

	60
	Tiruchirapalli

	61
	Tirupati(non-MICR) 

	62
	Tirupur 

	63
	Trichur

	64
	Udaipur

	65
	Vadodara

	66
	Varanasi 

	67
	Vijaywada

	68
	Visakhapatnam


INTERMEDIARIES INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE PROCESS

The key intermediaries who are involved in the issue process, and are all registered with SEBI, are Merchant Bankers to the issue (known as Book Running Lead Managers -BRLM- in case of book built public issues), Registrars to the issue, Bankers to the issue Underwriters and Syndicate Members.

Merchant Bankers

A Merchant Banker does the due diligence to prepare the offer document. They are also responsible for ensuring compliance with all laws/regulations and for marketing of the issue.

In the pre-issue process, the Lead Manager (LM) takes up the due diligence of the company’s operations/ management/ business plans/ legal etc. before including this information in the Offer Document. For this, the LMs are required to examine various documents, including those relating to litigation, and also undertake independent verification of information. The LMs also ensure compliance with stipulated requirements and completion of prescribed formalities with SEBI, stock exchanges and ROC. Appointment of the other intermediaries like Registrar, Printer, Advertising Agency and Bankers to the Offer is also undertaken by the LM. The LM also draws up and implements the marketing strategy for the issue. 

The post issue activities including management of escrow accounts, allocation, intimation of allocation, credit for allotted securities and /or refunds are performed by the LM.  The merchant banker is responsible for ensuring timely and proper fulfillment of the roles of various agencies associated with the issue process.

Registrars 

After the closure of an issue, the data of all applicants is processed by the Registrar who, after deleting all invalid applications, prepares the basis of allotment. Upon finalization of the basis of allotment, the Registrar finalizes the list of eligible allottees and then ensures crediting of shares to the demat accounts of the successful applicants and dispatch/credit of refunds to the unsuccessful applicants. 

Bankers to the Issue

The Bankers to the Issue receive the application monies and notify the Registrar the details of all the payments that have been cleared.

The Lead Merchant Banker has to ensure that Bankers to the Issue are appointed in all the mandatory collection centers as specified in SEBI (ICDR) Regulations. 

Under the ASBA process, the bankers to the issue also accept application forms.

Underwriters

In case of underwritten issues, the underwriters undertake to subscribe to the securities offered by the company to the extent of undersubscription by the public, 

Syndicate Members

The Book Runner(s) may appoint as syndicate members those intermediaries who are registered with SEBI and who are permitted to carry on activity as an Underwriter. The syndicate members are mainly responsible to collect and enter the bid forms into the system in book-built issues.

SOME TERMS AND CONCEPTS

Green-shoe Option

A Green Shoe option means an option of allocating shares in excess of the shares included in a public issue and operating a post-listing price stabilizing mechanism for a period not exceeding 30 days in accordance with the provisions of SEBI (ICDR) Regulations which is granted to a company to be exercised through a Stabilizing Agent. This is an arrangement wherein the issue would be over allotted to the extent of a maximum of 15% of the issue size. From an investor’s perspective, an issue with green shoe option provides a higher probability of getting shares and also that post listing price may show relatively more stability.

Safety Net

A safety net scheme is a scheme under which a buy back shall be done of the shares allotted in an issue only from the original resident individual allottees limited up to a maximum of 1000 shares per allottee and such offer is kept open for a period of 6 months from the  date listing. This scheme has to be finalized in advance and disclosed in the prospectus. 

Lock-In

“Lock-in” indicates a freeze on the shares. SEBI (ICDR Regulations) Guidelines have stipulated lock-in requirements on shares of promoters mainly to ensure that the promoters or main persons, who are controlling the company, shall continue to hold some minimum percentage in the company after the public issue. The requirements are detailed in part IV of Chapter III of SEBI (ICDR) Regulations.

There is lock-in on the shares held before IPO and also on shares acquired through preferential allotment route. However there is no lock- in on shares/ securities allotted through QIP route. 

Promoter

The promoter has been defined as a person or persons who are in over-all control of the company, who are instrumental in the formulation of a plan or programme pursuant to which the securities are offered to the public and those named in the offer document as promoters(s). It may be noted that a director / officer of the issuer company or person, if they are acting as such merely in their professional capacity are not be included in the definition of a promoter. 

However, a financial institution, scheduled bank, foreign institutional investor and mutual fund shall not be deemed to be a promoter merely by virtue of the fact that ten per cent or more of the equity share capital of the issuer is held by such person. Further such financial institution, scheduled bank and foreign institutional investor shall be treated as promoter for the subsidiaries or companies promoted by them or for the mutual fund sponsored by them.

‘Promoter Group’ includes the promoter, an immediate relative of the promoter (i.e. any spouse of that person, or any parent, brother, sister or child of the person or of the spouse). In case promoter is a body corporate, a subsidiary or holding company of that body corporate; any company in which the promoter holds 10% or more of the equity capital or which holds 10% or more of the equity capital of the Promoter; any company in which a group of individuals or companies or combinations thereof who holds 20% or more of the equity capital in that company also holds 20% or more of the equity capital of the issuer company. In case the promoter is an individual, any company in which 10% or more of the share capital is held by the promoter or an immediate relative of the promoter’ or a firm or HUF in which the ‘Promoter’ or any one or more of his immediate relative is a member; any company in which a company specified in (i) above, holds 10% or more, of the share capital; any HUF or firm in which the aggregate share of the promoter and his immediate relatives is equal to or more than 10% of the total, and all persons whose shareholding is aggregated for the purpose of disclosing in the prospectus “shareholding of the promoter group”

However, a financial institution, scheduled bank, foreign institutional investor and mutual fund shall not be deemed to be a promoter merely by virtue of the fact that ten per cent or more of the equity share capital of the issuer is held by such person. Further such financial institution, scheduled bank and foreign institutional investor shall be treated as promoter for the subsidiaries or companies promoted by them or for the mutual fund sponsored by them.

Chapter 11

	PSU IPOs ( DISINVESTMENTS) 


There is now a renewed focus on disinvestments in India.


PSUs or Public Sector Undertakings are among the largest and most profitable organizations in India. Of the total of 247 Central Public Sector Enterprises (CPSEs) and subsidiaries of CPSEs (as per data available with Department of Public Enterprises as on 31st January 2010), only 47 are listed. 45 of these are listed at BSE, which constitute 25% of the total market capitalization of 4890 companies listed at BSE. In addition, 27 Public Sector Banks (PSBs) with their subsidiaries and 6 State Level Public Enterprises (SLPEs), account for another 6% of the total market capitalization at BSE. Thus all PSUs together constitute 31.2% of the total market capitalization at BSE or Rs. 17.68 lakh crore. 


PSUs have the potential for even a more dominant role, with a large number of profitable unlisted CPSEs that can go to the market. Based upon data (of profit making PSUs as on 31st March 2008), there are as many as 102 3-year profit making CPSEs that are still unlisted. With the government’s announcement of reducing its stake in listed and unlisted (profit-making) companies to 90% via public offers, a large number of PSU public offers are now in the pipeline. This would also help achieve the goal set out in the manifesto which stated that “Indian people have every right to own part of the shares of public sector companies, while the government retains the majority shareholding.” 


Small investors should invest in PSU IPOs

Small investors should look out for the PSU disinvestment issues. Since only the best of the PSUs are being taken to the market, there should be little concern for the investors regarding the quality of the company or credentials of the promoters. The only other important factor is the offer price. The Government has already demonstrated its bias towards the small investors and in almost all IPOs/FPOs floated in the recent past, the retail investors have been offered a discount of 5% on the discovered price.

Ideally, the small investors should not see these issues as trading opportunities and should not necessarily look at selling out on the listing date. A medium to long term view would be ideal. The following table demonstrates the returns on PSU IPOs that were floated in the past few years:

	COMPANY
	IPO MONTH
	OFFER PRICE (Rs.)
	MARKET PRICE AS ON 28.05.2010 (Rs.)
	% GAIN/ LOSS

	NTPC LTD.
	38261
	62
	200.95
	224.11

	POWER FINANCE CORP.LTD.
	39083
	85
	289.55
	240.65

	POWER GRID CORP.OF INDIA LTD.
	39326
	52
	103.05
	98.17

	RURAL ELECTRIFICATION CORP.LTD.
	39479
	105
	283.6
	170.1

	SJVN LTD.
	40269
	26
	24.15
	 

	TOTAL
	 
	 
	 
	191.51


For more details about past and future disinvestments, investors may visit www.bsepsu.com, a website created by BSE exclusively on disinvestments.

Chapter 12

	DEPOSITORY ACCOUNT


THE DEPOSITORY INFRASTRUCTURE
What is a Depository?

A depository is an organization which holds securities (like shares, debentures, bonds, government securities, mutual fund units etc.) of investors in electronic form at the request of the investors through a registered Depository Participant (DP). It also provides services related to the transactions in securities.

How is a depository similar to a bank?

It can be compared with a bank, which holds the funds for depositors. A Bank-Depository analogy is given in the following table:

Bank and Depository–An analogy

	BANK 
	DEPOSITORY 

	Holds funds in an account
	Hold securities in an account

	Transfers    funds    between  accounts on the instruction of the account holder
	Transfers   securities   between accounts on the instruction of the account holder

	Facilitates  transfer  without having to handle money
	Facilitates  transfer  of  owner- ship  without having to  handle securities

	Facilitates safekeeping of money

	Facilitates safekeeping of securities



How many Depositories are registered with SEBI?

At present, two Depositories are registered with SEBI:

· National Securities Depository Limited (NSDL)

· Central Depository Services (India) Limited (CDSL).

Who is a Depository Participant?
A depository interfaces with the investors through its agents called Depository Participants (DPs). If you want to avail of the services offered by a depository, you need to open an account with a DP. This is similar to opening an account with any branch of a bank in order to utilize the bank’s services.

How many Depository Participants are registered with SEBI?

As in May 2010, a total of 796 DPs (286 NSDL and 512 CDSL) are registered with SEBI. These collectively have 18842 centres spread all across the country.

These comprise banks, brokers, registrars and other financial sector participants.

DEMATERIALISATION

What is dematerialization?

Dematerialization is the process by which physical share certificates held by an investor are converted into an equivalent number of securities in electronic form and credited into the investor’s account.

What are the benefits of dematerialization? 

· A safe, convenient way to hold securities 

· Immediate transfer of securities  

· No stamp duty on transfer of securities  

· Elimination of risks associated with physical certificates such as bad delivery, fake securities, delays, thefts etc.  

· Reduction in paperwork involved in transfer of securities  

· Reduction in transaction cost  

· No odd lot problem, even one share can be sold 

· Nomination facility  

· Change in address recorded with DP gets registered with all companies in which investor holds securities electronically eliminating the need to correspond with each of them separately  

· Transmission of securities is done by DP eliminating correspondence with companies 

· Automatic credit into demat account of shares, arising out-of bonus/ split/ consolidation/merger etc.  

· Holding investments in equity and debt instruments in a single account

How does one convert physical shares into electronic holding (how can one dematerialize the securities)?

In order to dematerialize physical (paper) securities, one has to fill in a DRF (Demat Request Form) which is available with the DP and submit the same along with physical certificates that are to be dematerialized. Separate DRF has to be filled for each ISIN. The complete process of dematerialization is outlined below:

· Surrender certificates for dematerialization to the DP.

· DP intimates to the Depository regarding the request for dematerialization through the system.

· DP submits the certificates to the RTA of the Company.

· RTA confirms the dematerialization request from the depository.

· After dematerializing the certificates, the RTA updates the accounts and informs the depository regarding completion of dematerialization.

· Depository updates its accounts and informs the DP.

· DP updates the demat account of the investor.

What is an ISIN?

ISIN (International Securities Identification Number) is a unique 12 digit alpha-numeric identification number allotted for each security (e.g. INE383C01018). ISIN is not assigned to a company; in fact, for even equity shares issued by a company of different types like equity-fully paid up, equity-partly paid up, equity with differential voting /dividend rights issued by the same issuer will have different ISINs.

Do dematerialized shares have distinctive numbers? 

Unlike physical shares, dematerialized shares do not have any distinctive numbers. These shares are fungible, which means that all the holdings of a particular security are identical and interchangeable.  

Can odd lot shares be dematerialized?

Yes. Odd lot share certificates can also be dematerialized. 

DEMATERILISATION IS NOW COMPULSORY

Is it compulsory for every investor to open a beneficial owner (BO) account to trade in the capital market?

Though trading in physical format is permitted, because of the inherent strengths of the electronic mode, over 99.9% settlements presently takes place in the electronic demat mode. For better prices of shares to be bought or sold and for the convenience of operations, an investor should have a depository account.

Moreover, SEBI now allows issue of securities through an IPO/FPO only in the demat format, and as such investors wishing to participate in the primary market should have a depository account (To facilitate trading by small investors-maximum 500 shares, irrespective of their value- in physical mode the stock exchanges provide a separate trading window which gives the facility for small investors to sell physical shares. However, this segment has been near-dormant for many years now, plagued as it is with lack of liquidity and huge discounts on the market price that need to be offered).

OPENING A DEMAT ACCOUNT

How can an investor avail the services of a depository? 

To avail the services of a depository, an investor is required to open a Beneficial Owner (BO) account with a Depository Participant (DP) of any depository.

How should an investor select the right DP? 

The most important factors are:

· Credibility of the DP (reputation, antecedents, experience of other investors, infrastructure)

· Various charges that are levied by the DP

· Location of the DP office (proximity to your office/residence, business hours)

· Other services offered by the DP like banking, broking etc. to ensure one-window dealing and convenience.

How is a depository account opened?

The DP will provide an account opening form. This form must be supported by copies of any one of the approved documents to serve as proof of identity (POI) and proof of address (POA) as specified by SEBI. Besides, production of PAN card in original at the time of opening of account is also mandatory.

The investor should carry all documents in original for verification by the DP.

The investor would also be required to sign an agreement with the DP in a depository prescribed standard format, which details the rights and duties of the investor and the DP. The DP is required to provide the investor with a copy of this agreement and also the detailed schedule of charges.  

The DP will open the account and give an account number, which is called the BO ID (Beneficiary Owner Identification Number).

Why is an investor required to give his bank account details at the time of account opening?

Bank account details are necessary for the protection of interest of the investors. When any cash or non cash corporate benefits such as rights or bonus or dividend is announced for a particular scrip, the depositories provide to the concerned company/ RTA, the details of the investors and their electronic holdings as on record / book closure date for reckoning the entitlement of corporate benefit. The disbursement of cash benefits such as dividend is credited directly by the company/ RTA to the beneficiary owner through the ECS (Electronic Clearing Service) facility wherever available or by issuing warrants on which the bank account details are printed for the towns where the ECS facility is not available. The printing of the bank account number on the dividend warrant prevents any fraudulent misuse. 

Can multiple accounts be opened by a person?

Yes. An investor can open more than one account in the same name with the same DP and also with different DPs, and with one or both the depositories. 

Is it necessary to have account with the same DP as the investor’s broker has? 

No. Depository / DP can be chosen by the investor as per his convenience. 

Can an investor open a single account for securities owned in different ownership patterns such as securities owned individually and securities owned jointly with others?

No. The depository account must be opened in the same ownership pattern in which the securities are held in the physical form. For example, if a share certificate is in the individual name and another certificate is held jointly with some one, two different accounts would need to be opened.

What is required to be done if one has physical certificates with the same multiple names, but the sequence of names is different i.e. some certificates with ‘A’ as first holder and ‘B’ as second holder and other set of certificates with ‘B’ as the first holder and ‘A’ as the second holder?

In this case, the investor may open only one account with ‘A’ & ‘B’ as the account holders and lodge the security certificates with different order of names for dematerialization in the same account. An additional form called “Transposition cum Demat Form" will have to be filled in which will allow change in the order of names.

Can an investor operate a joint account on “either or survivor” basis just like a bank account?

No. The demat account cannot be operated on “either or survivor” basis like a bank account.

Can someone else operate the account on behalf of the BO on the basis of a power of attorney?

Yes. If the BO authorizes a person to operate the account by executing a power of attorney and submits it to the DP, that person can operate the account on behalf of the BO.

Is addition or deletion of names of accountholders permitted after opening the account?

No.  The names of the account holders of a BO account cannot be changed.  If any change has to be effected by addition or deletion, a new account has to be opened in the desired holding pattern (names) and the securities then need to be transferred to the newly opened account, and the old account may be closed.

Can an investor close his demat account with one DP and transfer all securities to another account with another DP?

Yes. The investor can submit account closure request to his DP in the prescribed form. The DP will transfer all the securities lying in the account, as per the instruction, and close the demat account.

Can an investor freeze or lock his account(s)?

An investor can freeze or lock his account and/or ISIN and/or specific number of securities under an ISIN for any given period of time as per applicable Regulations of SEBI and Bye Laws of the respective depository. Accounts can be frozen for debits (preventing transfer of securities out of accounts) or for credits (preventing any movements of hindrances into accounts) or for both. 

Does the investor have to keep any minimum balance of securities in his account?

No.

DEPOSITORY CHARGES

What are the various charges an investor has to pay for opening, maintenance and closure of a BO account?

For the benefit of the investors, SEBI has mandated removal of account opening charges, transaction charges (for credit or buy transactions of securities), custody charges and account closing charges (Custody charges are now paid by the issuer companies.)

The investors are required to pay only the following charges:

· Transactions fees (only for sell transactions)

· Annual account maintenance charges

· Dematerialization and dematerialization of securities

Flexibility is provided by the depositories and SEBI to fix the above charges (The DP may revise the charges any time but has to provide a 30 days notice to all its account holders).

SEBI requires all DPs to submit to their Depository their charge structure every year (latest by 30th April). The depository in turn is required to put all these charge structures on its website to enable the investors to get a comparative overview.
INTRA-DEPOSITORY AND INTER-DEPOSITORY TRANSFERS

If a BO holds an account with NSDL/CDSL, can he receive securities from an account in CDSL/NSDL?

Inter depository transfers are possible without any additional costs.

No charges are levied by a depository on DP and consequently by a DP on a BO when a BO transfers all the securities lying in his account to another branch of the same DP or to another DP of the same depository or another depository, provided the BO account at the transferee DP and at transferor DP are one and the same, i.e. identical in all respects.   In case the BO Account at the transferor DP is a joint account, the BO account at the transferee DP should also be a joint account in the same sequence of ownership.

All other transfer of securities consequent to closure of account, not fulfilling the above-stated criteria, would be treated like any other transaction and charged as per the schedule of charges agreed upon between the two DPs.

CHANGES IN INVESTOR DETAILS

Can an investor change the details of his bank account?

Yes. The investor must immediately inform the DP regarding the change in his bank account and corresponding change in MICR / IFSC code (as all monetary benefits like dividends are directly credited to the bank account/bank account is printed on the warrants).

What should be done if the address of the investor changes?

The investor should immediately inform his DP of any change in his address, who in turn will update the record with the depository. There is no need any more to inform all the companies/RTAs individually.

BUYING AND SELLING DEMAT SECURITIES

What is the procedure for buying or selling dematerialized securities?

The procedure for buying and selling dematerialized securities is almost similar to the procedure for buying and selling physical securities. The only difference lies in the process of delivery (in case of sale) and receipt (in case of purchase) of securities.

In case of purchase:

· The broker will receive the securities in his account on the payout day.

· The broker will give instruction to its DP to debit his account and credit BO’s account.

· BO will give ‘Receipt Instruction’ to DP for receiving credit by filling appropriate form. However, the BO can give standing instruction for credit to his account that will obviate the need of giving Receipt Instruction every time.

In case of sale:

· BO will give delivery instruction through a Delivery Instruction Slip (DIS) to DP to debit his account and credit the broker’s account. Such instruction should reach the DP’s office at least 24 hours before the pay-in, failing which the DP will accept the instruction only at the BO’s risk.

What is Delivery Instruction Slip (DIS)? What precautions should one take with respect to the DIS?

A DIS is like a bank cheque book. To give the delivery of the sold shares, the investor needs to fill the DIS. The following precautions should be taken:

· Obtain from DP the DIS booklet and ensure the DP issues an acknowledgment for the DIS booklet issued to the investor.

· Ensure that DIS numbers are pre-printed.

· Ensure that the investor’s account number [Client ID] is pre-stamped on each DIS sheet.

· For joint accounts, all the joint holders need to sign the DIS before delivering it to the broker.

· Do not use loose DIS slips.

· Do not leave blank signed DIS with anyone (broker/ sub-broker, DP or any other person).

· Keep the DIS book safely.

· If only one sale entry is made in the DIS slip, strike out the remaining space to prevent misuse by any one.

· The BO should personally fill all details in the DIS.

· If the DIS booklet is lost / stolen / not traceable, the investor should inform the DP immediately in writing. On receipt of such intimation, the DP will cancel the unused slips of the DIS booklet.

Is it possible to give delivery instructions to the DP over the internet?

Yes. Both NSDL and CDSL have the facility for delivering instructions to your DP over the internet, called SPEEDe and EASI respectively.

Are shares allotted in public issues credited directly in the electronic form?

Yes.

TRANSACTION STATEMENT

How does one know that the DP has updated the account after each transaction?

The DP provides to the investor a Transaction Statement periodically, which gives details of current balances and various transactions made during the period. If desired, the DP can be asked to provide the Transaction Statement at intervals shorter than the stipulated ones, at a small cost.

The depositories also provide an SMS Alert facility whereby investors can receive alerts for debits to their demat accounts and for credits in respect allotment under an IPO/FPO. The investor needs to provide his mobile number to the depository for this purpose.

The DPs can provide the transaction statement in electronic form under digital signature subject to their entering into a legally enforceable arrangement with the BOs to this effect. 
What if there are any discrepancies in the statement of holdings?

In case of any discrepancy in the statement of holdings, the investor should contact his DP and in case of discrepancies in corporate benefits, he should contact the company /RTA. If the discrepancy is not resolved, the investor should approach the concerned Depository.

PLEDGING

Can one pledge dematerialized securities? 

Yes. 

  

What should one do to pledge demat securities?

The procedure to pledge demat securities is as follows:

· Both BOs, investor (pledgor) and the lender (pledgee) must have BO accounts with the same depository;

· The pledgor will need to instruct his DP to create a pledge by submitting the Pledge Request Form.

· The pledgee will need to confirm the request through his DP.

· Once this is done, securities are pledged.

· All financial transactions between the pledgor and the pledgee are handled outside the depository system, as per the usual practice. 

What is the procedure for closure of pledge after repayment of the loan?

After the repayment of loan, the pledgor can request for a closure of the pledge by instructing the DP in a prescribed format. The pledgee, on receiving the payment, will instruct his DP accordingly for the closure of the pledge.

Can a pledgor change the securities offered in a pledge?

Yes. If the pledgee agrees, the pledgor can change the securities offered in a pledge.

Who receives the corporate benefits on the pledged securities?

Only the securities pledged are blocked in the account of pledgor in favour of the pledgee. The pledgor would continue to receive all the corporate benefits.

LENDING/ BORROWING OF SECURITIES

What is Lending and Borrowing of securities?

If an investor required to deliver a particular security does not readily have that security, he can borrow the same from another person who is willing to lend, as per the Securities Lending and Borrowing Scheme.

Can lending and borrowing be done directly between two persons?

No. Lending and borrowing has to be done through an ‘Approved Intermediary’ registered with SEBI. The approved intermediary would borrow the securities for further lending to the borrower. Lenders of the securities and borrowers of the securities are required to enter into separate agreements with the approved intermediary for lending and borrowing the securities.  Lending and borrowing is effected through the depository system.

Can and how does an investor lend the securities lying in his account?

Yes. The investor needs to enter into an agreement with an approved intermediary. After that, one can lend securities any time by submitting the lending instructions to the DP.

How does the investor get back the securities lent by him?

The intermediary may return the securities at any time or at the end of the agreed period of lending.  The intermediary will return the securities together with any benefits received during the period of the loan. 

How does one receive the corporate benefits which accrue on the securities during the period of lending?

Initially, the benefits are given to the intermediary. However, whenever the securities are returned / recalled, the intermediary will need to return the benefits to the lender.

NOMINATION AND TRANSMISSION

Who can nominate?

Nomination can be made only by individuals holding beneficiary accounts either singly or jointly.  Non-individuals including society, trust, body corporate, karta of Hindu Undivided Family and holders of power of attorney cannot nominate.

Who can be a nominee?

Only an individual can be a nominee. A nominee cannot be a society, trust, body corporate, partnership firm, Karta of Hindu Undivided Family or a power of attorney holder.

Why is it important to nominate?

Nomination is helpful in a smooth transmission of shares to the nominee upon the death of the BO. 

Can nomination once made be changed?

The nomination once made can be changed at a later date by the BO.

What is transmission of demat securities?

Transmission is the process by which the securities of a deceased account holder are transferred to the account of his legal heir/nominee. Transmission in the case of demat holdings is very convenient as the transmission formalities for all securities held in a demat account can be completed by submitting documents just to the DP, whereas in case of physical securities, the legal heirs/nominees/surviving joint holders have to independently correspond with each company of which the securities are held.

In the event of death of the sole holder, how should the successor claim the securities lying in the demat account?

The claimant should submit to the concerned DP the Transmission Request Form (TRF) along with the following supporting documents

1.
In case of death of sole holder where the sole holder has appointed a nominee, a notarized copy of the death certificate.

2.
In case of death of the sole holder, where the sole holder has not appointed a nominee, a notarized copy of the death certificate and any one of Succession certificate or
copy of the probated will or the Letter of Administration.

The DP will then transfer securities to the account of the claimant.

REMATERIALISATION

Can electronic holdings be converted back into physical certificates?

Yes. This process is called rematerialization.

If an investor wishes to get back his securities in the physical form, he will need to fill the RRF (Remat Request Form) and request his DP for rematerialization of the specified securities in his account. The process of rematerialization is outlined below:

· Investor makes a request for rematerialization. 

· DP intimates the depository of the request. 

· Depository confirms rematerialization request to the RTA. 

· RTA updates accounts and prints the share certificates.

· Depository updates the accounts and downloads the details to the DP.

· Registrar dispatches the certificates to the investor. 
Chapter 13

	SECONDARY MARKET


Invest as an informed investor

You should not buy securities on impulse, a hot tip or follow the herd. You should discriminate between information, casting away irrelevant and illogical pieces of information, and checking for opportunities and facts before buying a security. You should examine the fundamentals of a security before taking a decision to invest.

INTRODUCTION

What is meant by the secondary market?

Secondary Market refers to a market where securities are traded after being initially offered to the public in the primary market and/or listed on the Stock Exchange. Majority of the trading is done in the secondary market. Secondary market comprises of equity markets and the debt markets. For the investor, the secondary market provides an efficient platform for trading of his securities. 

What is SEBI’s role in the secondary market?

SEBI is the regulatory authority to protect the interests of the investors in securities and to promote the development of, and to regulate, the securities market and for matters connected therewith and incidental thereto. 

What is SEBI Risk Management System?

The primary focus of risk management by SEBI has been to address the market risks, operational risks and systemic risks. To this effect, SEBI has been continuously reviewing its policies and drafting risk management policies to mitigate these risks, thereby enhancing the level of investor protection and catalyzing market development. The key risk management measures initiated by SEBI include:-

· Categorization of securities into groups 1, 2 and 3 for imposition of margins based on their liquidity and volatility.

· VaR based margining system.

· Specification of mark to market margins

· Specification of Intra-day trading limits and Gross Exposure Limits

· Real time monitoring of the Intra-day trading limits and Gross Exposure Limits by the Stock Exchanges

· Specification of time limits of payment of margins

· Collection of margins on upfront basis

· Index based market wide circuit breakers

· Automatic de-activation of trading terminals in case of breach of exposure limits

· VaR based margining system has been put in place based on the categorization of stocks based on the liquidity of stocks depending on its impact cost and volatility. It addresses 99% of the risks in the market.

· Additional margins have also been specified to address the balance 1% cases.

· Collection of margins from institutional clients on T+1 basis

The liquid assets deposited by the broker with the exchange should be sufficient to cover upfront VaR margins, Extreme Loss Margin, MTM (Mark to Market Losses) and the prescribed BMC. The Mark to Market margin would be payable before the start of the next day’s trading. The Margin would be calculated based on gross open position of the member. The gross open position for this purpose would mean the gross of all net positions across all the clients of a member including his proprietary position. The exchanges would monitor the position of the brokers’ online real time basis and there would be automatic deactivation of terminal on any shortfall of margin.

What are the various departments of SEBI regulating trading in the secondary market? 

The following departments of SEBI take care of the activities in the secondary market.

	Sr. No. 
	Name of the Department 
	Major Activities 

	1. 
	Market Intermediaries Registration and Supervision department (MIRSD) 
	Registration, supervision, compliance monitoring and inspections of all market intermediaries in respect of all segments of the markets viz. equity, equity derivatives, debt and debt related derivatives.  

	2. 
	Market Regulation Department (MRD) 
	Formulating new policies and supervising the functioning and operations (except relating to derivatives) of securities exchanges, their subsidiaries, and market institutions such as Clearing and settlement organizations and Depositories (Collectively referred to as ‘Market SROs’.) 

	3. 
	Derivatives and New Products Departments (DNPD) 
	Supervising trading at derivatives segments of stock exchanges, introducing new products to be traded, and consequent policy changes 


What are the various accounts an investor should have for trading in securities market? 

Beneficial owner Account (B.O. account) / Demat Account: It is an account opened with a depository participant in the name of client for the purpose of holding and transferring securities. 

Trading Account: An account which is opened by the broker in the name of the respective investor for the maintenance of transactions executed while buying and selling of securities.

Client Account / Bank Account:  A bank account which is in the name of the respective client and is used for debiting or crediting money for trading in the securities market.

What factors should be taken into account before investing in securities?

One should take into account the following factors before investing in securities:

i. 
whether there is a regulatory framework in place in respect of the security and you are protected in case of any eventuality;

ii. 
whether the offer of the security is in compliance with the due process of law;

iii. 
whether the security has any counter party risk;

iv. 
whether the security can be liquidated to cash easily so that you can meet your liquidity needs;

v. 
whether the security generates returns compatible with its risk; and

vi. 
whether the security fits into your investment portfolio and meets your investment goals (diversification, investment horizon, regularity of income, growth opportunities, the quality of the issuer, etc.).

One can convert a security to cash if it is listed and traded actively on stock exchanges. One can sell securities on an exchange and get cash as per the settlement cycle of the exchange. Since transactions on stock exchanges enjoy settlement guarantee, one will invariably get cash in time. If one does not get cash for whatsoever reason, there is an institutional arrangement to settle the claims. However, all securities are not listed on exchanges and not all listed securities are actively traded. If liquidity is of paramount importance, one should look at the history of trading of that particular security.

Why is it advisable to trade only through a stock exchange?

Stock exchange lists securities and provides investors an opportunity to trade in the listed securities. It ensures certain compliances and disclosures from companies in the investor’s interest. It guarantees settlement of trades executed on behalf of the investors and provides the protection if the broker becomes a defaulter.

Any trade in securities outside stock exchanges other than spot transactions is not backed by regulatory framework of exchanges or SEBI. Hence, an investor does not get any protection if he trades outside an exchange. 

The brokers/sub-brokers are the investor’s link to the stock exchange. They are intermediaries in the market, under the regulatory discipline of SEBI/the concerned stock exchange. They enter into transactions in securities on the investor’s behalf. An investor’s relationship with them is governed by the terms set out in the client- broker/client-sub-broker agreement. 

Besides, the stock exchanges offer a ready market for the securities. Larger number of buyers and sellers available at a stock exchange ensures liquidity to the investors.

Moreover, when one deals through an exchange, the investor gets the best price prevailing at that time for the trade and the right to receive the money or securities on time. 

The other benefit of trading on an exchange is that an investor does not have to take any counterparty risk which is assumed by a clearing corporation. If an investor were to deal (buy or sell) directly with another person, he is exposed to the counter party risk, i.e. the risk of nonperformance by that party. However, when one deals through a stock exchange, this counter party risk is removed due to trade/ settlement guarantee offered by the stock exchange mechanism. 

Further, an investor also has several protection mechanisms against defaults by the broker. Finally, an investor has an access to the investor grievance redressal mechanism of the stock exchanges.

How many stock exchanges are there in the country?

Presently, in the capital market segment, there are 2 national level stock exchanges (NSE and BSE) and 16 regional exchanges recognized by SEBI. NSE and BSE are the dominant players. 

Over the years, the regional stock exchanges have been edged out and a majority of these are not offering any trading facility. This would be evident from the following table:

TURNOVER AT STOCK EXCHANGES (CASH SEGMENT)

(Rs.crore)

	STOCK
EXCHANGE
	1992-93
	1993-94
	1998-99
	2000-01
	2001-02
	2002-03
	2003-04
	2007-08
	2008-09
	2009-10
(Apr-Feb)

	Ahmedabad
	22183
	23540
	29734
	54035
	14844
	15459
	4544
	0
	0
	0

	Bangalore
	730
	2316
	6779
	6033
	70
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0

	Bhubaneshwar
	1899
	420
	77
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0

	BSE
	45696
	84536
	311999
	1000032
	307392
	314073
	502618
	1578857
	1100075
	1279031

	Calcutta
	-
	57641
	171780
	355035
	27075
	6540
	1928
	446
	393
	393

	Cochin
	65
	294
	773
	187
	27
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0

	Coimbatore
	27
	1026
	395
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0

	Delhi
	7413
	12098
	51759
	83871
	5828
	11
	3
	0
	0
	0

	Gauhati
	443
	452
	30
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0

	Hyderabad
	676
	984
	1276
	978
	41
	5
	2
	0
	0
	0

	ISE
	-
	-
	1
	233
	55
	65
	0
	0
	0
	0

	Jaipur
	296
	616
	65
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0

	Ludhiana
	1050
	1620
	5978
	9732
	857
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0

	Madhya Pradesh
	356
	134
	1
	2
	16
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0

	Madras
	3407
	2299
	370
	109
	24
	0
	101
	0
	0
	0

	Magadh
	-
	1938
	0
	2
	0
	1
	0
	0
	0
	0

	Mangalore
	12
	107
	11
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0

	NSE
	-
	-
	414383
	1339511
	513167
	617989
	1099534
	3551038
	2752023
	3851778

	OTCEI
	2
	39
	142
	126
	4
	0
	16
	0
	0
	0

	Pune
	752
	3459
	7453
	6171
	1171
	2
	0
	0
	0
	0

	SKSE
	265
	302
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0

	Uttar Pradesh
	5508
	6889
	18627
	24747
	25237
	14763
	11751
	475
	89
	25

	Vadodara
	1681
	2997
	1749
	1
	10
	3
	0
	0
	0
	0

	TOTAL
	92461
	203707
	1023382
	2880805
	895818
	968911
	1620497
	5130816
	3852580
	5131227


In addition, MCX-SX is already operating in the currency futures segment and is expected to launch the capital market segment within 2010. Moreover, United Stock Exchange is also expected to launch the currency futures segment within 2010.

INDICES

What are Stock Market Indices?

A stock market index should capture the behaviour of the overall equity market. Movements of the index should represent the returns obtained by "typical" portfolios in the country. 

The ups and downs of an index reflect the changing expectations of the stock market about future dividends of India's corporate sector. When the index goes up, it is because the stock market thinks that the prospective dividends in the future will be better than previously thought. When prospects of dividends in the future become pessimistic, the index drops. The ideal index gives us instant-to-instant readings about how the stock market perceives the future of India's corporate sector.


Every stock price moves for two possible reasons: news about the company (e.g. a product launch, or the closure of a factory, etc.) or news about the country (e.g. nuclear bombs, or a budget announcement, etc.). The job of an index is to purely capture the second part, the movements of the stock market as a whole (i.e. news about the country). This is achieved by averaging. Each stock contains a mixture of these two elements - stock news and index news. When we take an average of returns on many stocks, the individual stock news tends to cancel out. On any one day, there would be good stock-specific news for a few companies and bad stock-specific news for others. In a good index, these will cancel out, and the only thing left will be news that is common to all stocks. The news that is common to all stocks is news about India. That is what the index will capture.


For technical reasons, it turns out that the correct method of averaging is to take a weighted average, and give each stock a weight proportional to its market capitalization. Suppose an index contains two stocks A and B. A has a market capitalization of Rs.1000 crore and B has a market capitalization of Rs.3000 crore. Then we attach a weight of 1/4 to movements in A and 3/4 to movements in B. 


It is easy to create a portfolio, which will reliably get the same returns as the index. i.e. if the index goes up by 4%, this portfolio will also go up by 4%. Suppose an index is made of two stocks, one with a market cap of Rs.1000 crore and another with a market cap of Rs.3000 crore. Then the index portfolio will assign a weight of 25% to the first and 75% weight to the second. If we form a portfolio of the two stocks, with a weight of 25% on the first and 75% on the second, then the portfolio returns will equal the index returns. So if you want to buy Rs.1 lakh of this two-stock index, you would buy Rs.25,000 of the first and Rs.75,000 of the second; this portfolio would exactly mimic the two-stock index. A stock market index is hence just like other price indices in showing what is happening on the overall indices -- the wholesale price index is a comparable example. In addition, the stock market index is attainable as a portfolio. 


Traditionally, indices have been used as information sources. By looking at an index we know how the market is faring. This information aspect also figures in myriad applications of stock market indices in economic research. This is particularly valuable when an index reflects highly up to date information (a central issue which is discussed in detail ahead) and the portfolio of an investor contains illiquid securities - in this case, the index is a lead indicator of how the overall portfolio will fare.

In recent years, indices have come to the fore owing to direct applications in finance, in the form of index funds and index derivatives. Index funds are funds which passively `invest in the index'. Index derivatives allow people to cheaply alter their risk exposure to an index (this is called hedging) and to implement forecasts about index movements (this is called speculation). Hedging using index derivatives has become a central part of risk management in the modern economy. These applications are now a multi-trillion dollar industry worldwide, and they are critically linked up to market indices.


Finally, indices serve as a benchmark for measuring the performance of fund managers. An all-equity fund should obtain returns like the overall stock market index. A 50:50 debt: equity fund should obtain returns close to those obtained by an investment of 50% in the index and 50% in fixed income. A well-specified relationship between an investor and a fund manager should explicitly define the benchmark against which the fund manager will be compared, and in what fashion. 


The most important type of market index is the broad-market index, consisting of the large, liquid stocks of the country. In most countries, a single major index dominates benchmarking, index funds, index derivatives and research applications. In India, we have NIFTY 50 and SENSEX as the major index. In addition, more specialized indices often find interesting applications. In India, we have seen situations where a dedicated industry fund uses an industry index as a benchmark. In India, where clear categories of ownership groups exist, it becomes interesting to examine the performance of classes of companies sorted by ownership group.

DEALING IN SECURITIES

Who should one contact for stock market transactions? 

An investor should contact a broker or a sub broker registered with SEBI for carrying out the transactions pertaining to the capital market.

Who is a broker? 

A broker is a member of a recognized stock exchange, who is permitted to do trades on the screen-based trading system of different stock exchanges.  He is enrolled as a member with the concerned exchange and is registered with SEBI.

Who is a sub broker? 

A sub broker is a person who is registered with SEBI as such and is affiliated to a member of a recognized stock exchange.

How des one know if the broker or sub broker is registered?

One can confirm it by verifying the registration certificate issued by SEBI.  A broker's registration number begins with the letters "INB" and that of a sub broker with the letters “INS". For the brokers of derivatives segment, the registration number begins with the letters “INF”. There is no sub-broker in the derivatives segment. 

What factors should be considered when selecting a broker?

The broker/sub-broker must be registered with SEBI/ the concerned stock exchange, which one can verify from the registration certificate displayed at his office. The list of such authorized brokers/ sub-brokers is available with the respective exchanges. He should have the infrastructure to transact your business with speed and accuracy. Besides, the investor should also look for your convenience such as location, cost and quality of service, etc.

An investor should consider the following factors when selecting a broker:

· From where the broker/sub-broker has learnt the business?

· How long has he been serving the securities industry? 

· Whether he has eligible qualifications as a broker?

· How many clients does he serve? 

· What fees and expenses does he charge? 

What are the major obligations and responsibilities of a broker?

· Entering into an agreement with his client or with sub broker and client;
· Maintenance of separate books of accounts and records for clients;

· Maintenance of money of clients in a separate account and their own money in a separate account;

· Issue of daily statement of collateral utilization to clients;

· Appointment of compliance officer;

· Issue of contract note to his client within 24hrs of the execution of the contract;

· Delivery / Payment to be made to the client within 24 hrs of pay–out; and

· Other duties as specified in the SEBI (Stock Brokers and Sub-Brokers) Rules, 1992.

Is an investor required to sign any agreement with the broker or sub-broker? 

Yes. For the purpose of engaging a broker to execute trades on  behalf of the investor from time to time and furnish details relating to the investor for enabling the broker to maintain client registration form, an investor has to sign the “Member - Client agreement” if  dealing directly with a broker. In case the investor is dealing through a sub-broker, he has to sign a “Broker - Sub broker - Client Tripartite Agreement”. The Model Agreement between Broker-Client / Broker -Sub Broker - Client and Know your Client Form can be viewed from SEBI website                               (www.sebi.gov.in). Model Tripartite Agreement between Broker-Sub broker and Clients is applicable only for the cash segment. The Model Agreement has to be executed on the non-judicial stamp paper. The Agreement contains clauses defining the rights and responsibility of Client vis-à-vis broker/ sub broker. The documents prescribed are model formats. The stock exchanges/stock broker may incorporate any additional clauses in these documents provided these are not in conflict with any of the clauses in the model document, as also the Rules, Regulations, Articles, Byelaws, Circulars, Directives and Guidelines. 

What is Member-Client Agreement Form? 

This form is an agreement entered between client and broker in the presence of witness where the client agrees (is desirous) to trade/invest in the securities listed on the concerned Exchange  through the broker after being satisfied of brokers capabilities to deal in securities. The member, on the other hand agrees to be satisfied by the genuineness and financial soundness of the client and making client aware of his (broker’s) liability for the business to be conducted. 

What kind of details does an investor have to provide in Client Registration form? 

The brokers have to maintain a database of their clients, for which the investor would have to fill client registration form. In case of individual client registration, the investor has to broadly provide following information: 

· Name, date of birth, photograph, address, educational qualifications, occupation, residential status (Resident Indian/ NRI/others).

· Unique Identification Number (wherever applicable).

· Bank and depository account details.

· Income tax no. (PAN/GIR) which also serves as unique client code.

· If the investor is registered with any other broker, then the name of broker and concerned Stock exchange and Client Code Number.

· Proof of identity submitted either as MAPIN UID Card/Pan No./Passport/Voter ID/Driving license/Photo Identity card issued by Employer registered under MAPIN. 

For proof of address (any one of the following): 

· Passport 

· Voter ID 

· Driving License 

· Bank Passbook 

· Rent Agreement 

· Ration Card 

· Flat Maintenance Bill 

· Telephone Bill 

· Electricity Bill 

· Certificate issued by employer registered under MAPIN 

· Insurance Policy 

Each client has to use one registration form. In case of joint names /family members, a separate form has to be submitted for each person. 

In case of Corporate Client, following information has to be provided:

· Name, address of the Company/Firm.

· Unique Identification Number (wherever applicable).

· Date of incorporation and date of commencement of business.

· Registration number (with ROC, SEBI or any government authority).

· Details of PAN Account Number.

· Details of Promoters/Partners/Key managerial Personnel of the Company/Firm in specified format.

· Bank and Depository Account Details

· Copies of the balance sheet for the last 2 financial years (copies of annual balance sheet to be submitted every year). 

· Copy of latest share holding pattern including list of all those holding more than 5% in the share capital of the company, duly certified by the Company Secretary / Whole time Director/MD (copy of updated shareholding pattern to be submitted every year). 

· Copies of the Memorandum and Articles of Association in case of a company / body incorporate / partnership deed in case of a partnership firm. 

· Copy of the Resolution of board of directors' approving 
participation in equity / derivatives / debt trading and naming authorized persons for dealing in securities. 

· Photographs of Partners/Whole time directors, individual promoters holding 5% or more, either directly or indirectly, in the shareholding of the company and of persons authorized to deal in securities. 

· If registered with any other broker, then the name of broker and concerned Stock exchange and Client Code Number. 

What is meant by Unique Client Code? 

In order to facilitate maintaining database of their clients, it is mandatory for all brokers to use unique client code which will act as an exclusive identification for the client. For this purpose, PAN number/passport number/driving license/voters ID number/ ration card number coupled with the frequently used bank account number and the depository beneficiary account can be used for identification, in the given order, based on availability. 

What is a risk disclosure document? 

In order to acquaint the investors in the markets of the various risks involved in trading in the stock market, the members of the exchange have been required to sign a risk disclosure document with their clients, informing them of the various risks like risk of volatility, risks of lower liquidity, risks of higher spreads, risks of new announcements, risks of rumours etc.

How does one place orders with the broker or sub broker? 

An investor can either go to the broker’s /sub broker’s office or place an order over the phone /internet or as defined in the Model Agreement.

How does an investor know whether his order has been placed? 

The Stock Exchanges assign a Unique Order Code Number to each transaction, which is intimated by broker to his client and once the order is executed, this order code number is printed on the contract note. The broker member has also to maintain the record of time when the client has placed order and reflect the same in the contract note along with the time of execution of the order. 

What documents should be obtained from broker on execution of trade? 

An investor has to ensure receipt of the following documents for any trade executed on the Exchange: 

a. 
Contract note to be given within stipulated time. 

b. 
In the case of electronic issuance of contract notes by the brokers, the clients shall ensure that the same is digitally signed and in case of inability to view the same, shall communicate the same to the broker, upon which the broker shall ensure that the physical contract note reaches the client within the stipulated time.


It is the contract note that gives rise to contractual rights and obligations of parties of the trade.  Hence, an investor should insist on contract note from stock broker. 

What details are required to be mentioned on the Contract note issued by the stock broker? 

A broker has to issue a contract note to clients for all transactions in the form specified by the stock exchange. The contract note inter-alia should have following: 

· Name, address and SEBI Registration number of the Member broker. 

· Name of partner /proprietor /Authorized Signatory. 

· Dealing Office Address/Tel No/Fax no, Code number of the member given by the Exchange. 

· Unique Identification Number. 

· Contract number, date of issue of contract note, settlement number and time period for settlement. 

· Constituent (Client) name/Code Number. 

· Order number and order time corresponding to the trades. 

· Trade number and Trade time. 

· Quantity and Kind of Security brought/sold by the client. 

· Brokerage and Purchase /Sale rate separately mentioned. 

· Service tax rates and any other charges levied by the broker. 

· Securities Transaction Tax (STT) as applicable. 

· Appropriate stamps affixed on the original contract note or a mention that the consolidated stamp duty is paid. 

· Signature of the Stock broker/Authorized Signatory.  

A contract note provides for the recourse to the system of arbitrators for settlement of disputes arising out of transactions.  Only the broker can issue the contract notes. 

What is the maximum brokerage that a broker/sub broker can charge?

The maximum brokerage that can be charged by a broker has been specified in the Stock Exchange Regulations and hence, it may differ from across various exchanges. As per BSE & NSE Bye Laws, a broker cannot charge more than 2.5% brokerage from his clients. This maximum brokerage is inclusive of the brokerage charged by the sub-broker. Further, SEBI (Stock brokers and Sub brokers) Regulations, 1992 stipulates that sub broker cannot charge from his clients, a commission which is more than 1.5% of the value mentioned in the respective purchase or sale note. 

What are the charges that can be levied on the investor by a stock broker/sub broker? 

The trading member can charge: 

1. 
Brokerage charged by member broker.

2. 
Penalties arising on specific default on behalf of client (investor)

3. 
Service tax as stipulated.

4. 
Securities Transaction Tax (STT) as applicable. 

The brokerage, service tax and STT are indicated separately in the contract note. 

What is STT? 

Securities Transaction Tax (STT) is a tax being levied on all transactions done on the stock exchanges at rates prescribed by the Central Government from time to time. Pursuant to the enactment of the Finance (No.2) Act, 2004, the Government of India notified the Securities Transaction Tax Rules, 2004 and STT came into effect from October 1, 2004.  

How does trading takes place and what is the process of trading?

The normal course of online trading in the Indian market context is placed below:

Step 1. 
Investor / trader decides to trade

Step 2. 
Places order with a broker to buy / sell the required quantity of respective securities

Step 3. 
Best priced order matches based on price-time priority

Step 4. 
Order execution electronically communicated to the broker’s terminal

Step 5. 
Trade confirmation slip issued to the investor / trader by the broker

Step 6. 
Within 24 hours of trade execution, contract note is issued to the investor / trader by the broker

Step 7. 
Pay-in of funds and securities before T+2 day

Step 8. 
Pay-out of funds and securities on T+2 day

In case of short or bad delivery of funds / securities, the exchange orders for an auction to settle the delivery. If the shares could not be bought in the auction, the transaction is closed out as per SEBI guidelines.

What is an Account Period Settlement?

An account period settlement is a settlement where the trades pertaining to a period stretching over more than one day are settled. For example, trades for the period Monday to Friday are settled together. The obligations for the account period are settled on a net basis. Account period settlement has been discontinued since January 1, 2002, pursuant to SEBI directives. 

What is a Rolling Settlement?

In a Rolling Settlement trades executed during the day are settled based on the net obligations for the day.

Presently the trades pertaining to the rolling settlement are settled on a T+2 day basis where T stands for the trade day. Hence, trades executed on a Monday are typically settled on the following Wednesday (considering 2 working days from the trade day).

The funds and securities pay-in and pay-out are carried out on T+2 day.

What is the pay-in day and pay- out day? 

Pay in day is the day when the brokers shall make payment or delivery of securities to the exchange. Pay out day is the day when the exchange makes payment or delivery of securities to the broker. Settlement cycle is on T+2 rolling settlement basis w.e.f. April 01, 2003. The exchanges have to ensure that the pay out of funds and securities to the clients is done by the broker within 24 hours of the payout. The Exchanges will have to issue press release immediately after pay out.

What are the prescribed pay-in and pay-out days for funds and securities for Normal Settlement?

The pay-in and pay-out days for funds and securities are prescribed as per the Settlement Cycle. A typical Settlement Cycle of Normal Settlement is given below: 

	
	Activity 
	Day 

	Trading 
	Rolling Settlement Trading 
	T 

	Clearing 
	Custodial Confirmation 
	T+1 working days 

	
	Delivery Generation 
	T+1 working days 

	Settlement 
	Securities and Funds pay in 
	T+2 working days 

	
	Securities and Funds pay out 
	T+2 working days 

	Post Settlement
	Valuation Debit 
	T+2 working days 

	
	Auction 
	T+3 working days 

	
	Bad Delivery Reporting 
	T+4 working days 

	
	Auction settlement 
	T+5 working days 

	
	Close out 
	T+5 working days 

	
	Rectified bad delivery pay-in and pay-out 
	T+6 working days 

	
	Re-bad delivery reporting and pickup 
	T+8 working days 

	
	Close out of re-bad delivery 
	T+9 working days 


Note: The above is a typical settlement cycle for normal (regular) market segment. The days prescribed for the above activities may change in case of factors like holidays, bank closing etc. An investor may refer to scheduled dates of pay-in/pay-out notified by the Exchange for each settlement from time-to-time. 

In case of purchase of shares, when does an investor have to make payment to the broker? 

The payment for the shares purchased is required to be done prior to the pay in date for the relevant settlement or as otherwise provided in the Rules and Regulations of the Exchange. 

It is advisable to make payment by way of account payee cheque in the name of the broker/sub-broker only. A proper receipt should be collected from the intermediary. You should receive payment for securities within 48 hours of declaration of pay-out by the respective stock exchange.

In case of sale of shares, when should the shares be given to the broker? 

The delivery of shares has to be done prior to the pay in date for the relevant settlement or as otherwise provided in the Rules and Regulations of the Exchange and agreed with the broker/sub broker in writing. 

What margins or deposits are required by the broker?

The regulations do not mandate any requirement for the investor to keep a deposit with the broker. It depends on your understanding with the broker/sub- broker. You are, however, required to pay upfront margin to the broker before the trade is executed. Exchanges generally prescribe higher levels of margins to be collected from clients as upfront depending on the liquidity of the security.

How long it takes to receive money for a sale transaction and shares for a buy transaction? 

Brokers were required to make payment or give delivery within two working days of the pay - out day. However, as settlement cycle has been reduced fromT+3 rolling settlement to T+2 w.e.f. April 01, 2003, the pay out of funds and securities to the clients by the broker will be within 24 hours of the payout. 

Is there any provision where an investor can get faster delivery of shares in his account? 

The investors/clients can get direct delivery of shares in their beneficiary accounts. To avail this facility, you have to give details of your beneficiary account and the DP-ID of your DP to your broker along with the Standing Instructions for ‘Delivery-In’ to your Depository Participant for accepting shares in your beneficiary account. Given these details, the Clearing Corporation/Clearing House shall send pay out instructions to the depositories so that you receive pay out of securities directly into your beneficiary account. 

What is day trading?

Day trading refers to buying and selling of securities within the same trading day such that all positions will be closed before the market close of the trading day. In the Indian securities market, only retail investors are allowed to day trade.

Are all the investors mandated to comply with PAN requirement?

Yes. With effect from July 02, 2007, PAN has been made mandatory for all the investors participating in the securities market. In order to strengthen the Know Your Client (KYC) norms and identify every participant in the securities market with their respective PAN to ensure sound audit trail of all the transactions, SEBI has mandated PAN as the sole identification number for all persons transacting in the securities market, irrespective of the amount of transaction.

What is Trade for Trade Segment?

In a Trade for Trade segment, settlement of trades is done on the basis of gross obligations for the day. No netting is allowed and every trade is being settled separately.

What is Direct Market Access (DMA)?

Direct Market Access (DMA) is a facility which allows brokers to offer clients direct access to the exchange trading system through the broker’s infrastructure without manual intervention by the broker. Some of the advantages offered by DMA are direct control of clients over orders, faster execution of client orders, reduced risk of errors associated with manual order entry, greater transparency, increased liquidity, lower impact costs for large orders, better audit trails and better use of hedging and arbitrage opportunities through the use of decision support tools / algorithms for trading. Presently, DMA facility is available for institutional investors

What is an Auction?

The stock exchange purchases the requisite quantity in the Auction Market and gives them to the buying trading member. The shortages are met through auction process and the difference in price indicated in contract note and price received through auction is paid by member to the exchange, which is then liable to be recovered from the client. 

What happens if the shares are not bought in the auction? 

If the shares could not be bought in the auction i.e. if shares are not offered for sale in the auction, the transactions are closed out as per SEBI guidelines. 

The guidelines stipulate that “the close out Price will be the highest price recorded in that scrip on the exchange in the settlement in which the concerned contract was entered into and upto the date of auction/close out OR 20% above the official closing price on the exchange on the day on which auction offers are called for (and in the event of there being no such closing price on that day, then the official closing price on the immediately preceding trading day on which there was an official closing price), whichever is higher.

Since in the rolling settlement the auction and the close out takes place during trading hours, the reference price in the rolling settlement for close out procedures would be taken as the previous day’s closing price. 

What is Margin Trading Facility? 

Margin Trading is trading with borrowed funds/securities. It is essentially a leveraging mechanism which enables investors to take exposure in the market over and above what is possible with their own resources. SEBI has been prescribing eligibility conditions and procedural details for allowing the Margin Trading Facility from time to time.  

Corporate brokers with net worth of at least Rs. 3 crore are eligible for providing Margin trading facility to their clients subject to their entering into an agreement to that effect. Before providing margin trading facility to a client, the member and the client have been mandated to sign an agreement for this purpose in the format specified by SEBI.  It has also been specified that the client shall not avail the facility from more than one broker at any time.  

The facility of margin trading is available for Group 1 securities and those securities which are offered in the initial public offers and meet the conditions for inclusion in the derivatives segment of the stock exchanges. 

For providing the margin trading facility, a broker may use his own funds or borrow from scheduled commercial banks or NBFCs regulated by the RBI. A broker is not allowed to borrow funds from any other source. 

The "total exposure" of the broker towards the margin trading facility should not exceed the borrowed funds and 50 per cent of his "net worth". While providing the margin trading facility, the broker has to ensure that the exposure to a single client does not exceed 10 per cent of the "total exposure" of the broker. 

Initial margin has been prescribed as 50% and the maintenance margin has been prescribed as 40%.  

If the broker has borrowed funds for the purpose of providing margin trading facility, the name of the lender and amount borrowed should be disclosed latest by the next day. 

The stock exchange, in turn, has to disclose the scrip-wise gross outstanding in margin accounts with all brokers to the market. Such disclosure regarding margin-trading done on any day shall be made available after the trading hours on the following day. 

The arbitration mechanism of the exchange would not be available for settlement of disputes, if any, between the client and broker, arising out of the margin trading facility. However, all transactions done on the exchange, whether normal or through margin trading facility, shall be covered under the arbitration mechanism of the exchange.

What is Securities Lending Scheme?

Securities Lending and Borrowing is a scheme which enables lending of idle securities by the investors to the clearing corporation and earning a return through the same. For securities borrowing and lending system, clearing corporations of the stock exchange would be the nodal agency and be registered as the “Approved Intermediaries” (AIs). The clearing corporation can borrow, on behalf of the members, securities for the purpose of meeting shortfalls. The defaulter selling broker may make the delivery within the period specified by the clearing corporation. In the event of the defaulted selling broker failing to make the delivery within the specified period, the clearing corporation has to buy the securities from the open market and return the same to the lender within seven trading days. In case of an inability to purchase the securities from the market, the transaction shall be closed out. 

TRANSFER OF SECURITIES IN PHYSICAL MODE

How does transfer of securities take place in physical mode?

To effect a transfer in the physical mode the securities should be sent to the company along with a valid, duly executed and stamped transfer deed duly signed by or on behalf of the transferor (seller) and transferee (buyer). It would be a good idea to retain photo-copies of the securities and the transfer deed when they are sent to the company for transfer. It is essential that these are sent by registered post with acknowledgement due and watch out for the receipt of the acknowledgement card. If one does not receive the confirmation of receipt within a reasonable period, he should immediately approach the postal authorities for confirmation. 

Sometimes, for convenience, one may choose not to transfer the securities immediately. This may facilitate easy and quick selling of the securities. In that case one should take care that the transfer deed remains valid otherwise he will have revalidate the transfer deed with concerned ROC. However, in order to avail the corporate benefits like the dividends, bonus or rights from the company, it is essential that the securities are transferred in the buyer’s name.

What procedure does a company follow for transfer of securities?

On receipt of request for transfer, the company proceeds to transfer the securities as per provisions of the law. In case they find some mistakes in transfer deed and cannot effect the transfer, the company returns back the securities giving details of the grounds under which the transfer could not be effected. This is known as company objection.

What should one do in case a company sends company objection?

When one receives a company objection for transfer, he should proceed to get the errors/discrepancies corrected. He may have to contact the transferor (the seller) either directly or through your broker for rectification or replacement with good securities. Then one can resubmit the securities and the transfer deed to the company for affecting the transfer. In case one is unable to get the errors rectified or get them replaced, he has recourse to the seller and his broker through the stock exchange to get back the money. 
What should one do in case of securities are lost/ misplaced?

Sometimes, physical securities may be lost or misplaced. The investor should immediately request the company to record a stop transfer of the securities and simultaneously apply for issue of duplicate securities. For effecting stop transfer, the company may require the investor to produce a court order or the copy of the FIR filed with the Police. 

Further, to issue duplicate securities, the company may require the investor to submit indemnity bonds, affidavit, sureties etc. besides issue of a public notice. 

Chapter 14

	CONTINUING  DISCLOSURES BY LISTED COMPANIES


Investors are the primary users of financial statements. These are used to assess the present and the future business and profitability of an enterprise as the investors’ primary interest is in the future growth of a company's stock price and/or the likelihood of the company paying dividends.


Financial reporting consisting of Balance Sheet, Profit & Loss Account, Notes to Accounts, Cash Flow Statement, Auditor Report and Directors Report are some of the important disclosures made by listed companies, and are included as a part of the company’s annual report. 

Apart from this, the Listing Agreement requires companies to make disclosure under various clauses. Some of the clauses requiring disclosures are: 

Clause 41: 
Financial Results

Clause 35: 
Shareholding Pattern

Clause 49: 
Corporate Governance Report

In addition, the Listing Agreement requires immediate intimation to the exchange on occurrence of any material event (i.e. dividend declaration, financial statements disclosure, bonus shares, rights issue, takeover, insider trading, pledging etc.)
Chapter 15

	MUTUAL FUNDS


INTRODUCTION

What is a mutual fund?

A Mutual fund is a mechanism for pooling the resources of the investors and investing the same in the market, in accordance with the scheme objectives. Investors are issued units by a mutual fund against their investments. The profits or losses made by the mutual fund are shared by the investors in proportion to their investments. 

The units of the mutual funds are extremely liquid. In case of open ended schemes, the units can be redeemed on any working day at the applicable NAV of that day from the mutual fund itself. In the case of closed ended schemes, one can trade the units on the stock exchange where the units of the fund are listed. Recently, both NSE and BSE have also started platforms for trading of mutual fund units.

Most mutual funds offer a number of schemes, each with a different investment objective.

All mutual funds are regulated by SEBI.

Why invest in a mutual fund?

The securities market is highly complex. The risks also rise for people who neither have the time, skills or resources to select the right securities nor to monitor their investments subsequently nor to take decisions on exits. Selecting securities with growth and income potential from the large number of listed securities involves careful research and monitoring of the market, which is not possible for most small investors. Also the key to successful investing in securities markets lies in building a diversified portfolio, which requires substantial capital. 

A Mutual fund is a professional intermediary between the investor and the stock market. The mutual fund mitigates to a large extent the shortcomings of direct investing. 

Some specific advantages of investing in the market through a mutual fund are:

Professional Management: A mutual fund has investment management skills and research skills.

Diversification: An investor in a mutual fund acquires a diversified portfolio no matter how small his investment. Thus the risk of loss is spread over a large number of stocks.

Low Costs: A mutual fund has economies of scale; the fund pays lower cost because of larger volumes and this benefit is passed on to the investor.

Choice of Schemes: Mutual funds offer a wide range of schemes to suit the different needs of the investors.

How many mutual funds are operating in India?

Unit Trust of India was the first mutual fund set up in India in the year 1963. In early 1990s, Government allowed public sector banks and institutions to set up mutual funds. Subsequently, this sector was opened up to the private sector. 

Presently, there are 38 active mutual funds operating in India (list, with addresses, of all mutual funds is given in List 2 at the end of this Guide). The broad classification is as under:

	Type
	No.

	Bank Sponsored
	

	 Joint Ventures - Predominantly Indian
	2

	Joint Ventures -Predominantly Foreign
	1

	Others
	1

	 
	

	Institutions
	1

	 
	

	Private Sector
	

	Indian
	16

	Foreign
	5

	Joint Ventures-Predominantly Indian
	5

	Joint Ventures-Predominantly Foreign
	7

	Total
	38


What is the size of the mutual fund industry and what are the various types of assets under management with them?

The mutual fund industry has witnessed a phenomenal growth in the past few years. From a meagre Rs. 79,464 crore as on 31st March,2003, the assets under management with the mutual fund industry stood at Rs. 613,979 crore as on 31st March,2010.

It is, however, interesting to note that the equity assets comprised only 28 % of the total assets; the focus being on income funds.

The category-wise and type-wise details, as on 31st March 2010, are provided below:

                                                                                                                                                                                        (Rs. crore)

	Type
	Open End
	Close End
	Interval
	Total
	%l

	Income
	254,792
	41,579
	15,344
	311,715
	51

	Equity
	154,667
	19,157
	230
	174,054
	28

	Balanced
	1,628
	1,628
	-
	17,246
	3

	Liquid/Money Market
	78,094
	-
	-
	78,094
	13

	Gilt
	3,395
	-
	-
	3,395
	1

	ELSS-Equity
	20,911
	3,155
	-
	24,066
	4

	Gold ETF
	1,590
	-
	-
	1,590
	@

	Other ETFs
	957
	-
	-
	957
	@

	Fund of Funds
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 

	Investing Overseas
	2,862
	 
	 
	2,862
	@

	Total
	532,886
	15,574
	613,979
	613,979
	100


@ Less than 1 %.

SOURCE: AMFI

What is the role of SEBI in the mutual funds industry?

Until 1992, there was no regulation of this industry. In 1992, with the enactment of the SEBI Act, the mutual fund industry was brought under SEBI which formulates the policies and regulates this industry. 

All mutual funds schemes are required to be approved by SEBI before these are offered to the investors.

How is a mutual fund set up?

A mutual fund is set up in the form of a trust which has a sponsor, a trustee, an asset management company (AMC) and a custodian. The trust is established by a sponsor or more than one sponsor who is like a promoter of a company. 

The trustees of the mutual fund are assigned the responsibility of protecting the interests of the unitholders and are vested with the general power of superintendence and direction over the AMC. They monitor the performance and compliance of SEBI Regulations by the mutual fund. SEBI Regulations require that at least two thirds of the directors of the trustee company must be independent i.e. they should not be associated with the sponsors.

The AMC manages the funds by making investments in various types of securities. SEBI Regulations require that at least 50% of the directors of the AMC must be independent i.e. they should not be associated with the sponsors.

The Custodian holds the securities of various schemes of the fund in its custody.

MUTUAL FUND SCHEMES

Mutual funds offer a very large variety of options, to suit the investors’ needs. While some of the schemes are actively managed by the mutual fund, some schemes are passive schemes.

ACTIVE FUNDS

Schemes according to the Maturity Period

A mutual fund scheme can be classified into an open-ended scheme or a close-ended scheme. 

Open-ended Fund/ Scheme 

An open-ended fund or scheme is one that is available for subscription and repurchase on a continuous basis. These schemes do not have a fixed maturity period. Investors can buy and sell the units of the scheme at the Net Asset Value (NAV) related prices which are declared on a daily basis. The key feature of open-ended schemes is liquidity.

Close-ended Fund/ Scheme

A close-ended fund or scheme has a stipulated maturity period (example 5 years or 7 years). The scheme is open for subscription only during a specified period at the time of launch of the scheme. Subsequently, investors can buy or sell the units of the scheme on the stock exchanges where the units are listed. In order to provide an exit route to the investors, some close-ended funds give an option of selling back the units to the mutual fund through periodic repurchase at NAV related prices. These schemes normally disclose their NAVs on a weekly basis.  


Schemes according to the Investment Objective

A scheme can also be classified as growth scheme, income scheme or balanced scheme based upon its investment objective. Such schemes may be open-ended or close-ended schemes. Such schemes can be broadly classified as follows:

Growth / Equity Oriented Scheme

The aim of growth funds is to provide capital appreciation over the medium to long- term. Such schemes normally invest a major part of their corpus in equities, and as such carry higher risks/rewards. Growth schemes are good for investors having a long-term outlook. These schemes further offer three options- Growth, Dividend Payout and Dividend Re-invest. Under the growth option, no dividend is paid out and the NAV of the unit reflects the up-to- date capital appreciation. Under the dividend payout option, investors receive dividend if there is distributable surplus available and after payout of the dividend, the NAV of the scheme falls by the amount paid out per unit. This dividend is tax free in hands of investors. Under the dividend re-invest option, the dividend, instead of being paid out, is reinvested such that the number of units held increases. 

Income / Debt Oriented Scheme

The aim of the income schemes is to provide regular and steady income to the investors. As such, these schemes generally invest in fixed income securities such as bonds, corporate debentures, Government securities and money market instruments. Such funds offer low returns and are less risky. The NAVs of such funds get affected primarily because of changes in interest rates. If the interest rates fall, the NAVs of such schemes are likely to increase in the short run and vice versa. 

Balanced Scheme

Balanced funds offer the middle path by combining both growth and income. As such, these schemes invest both in equities and in fixed income securities. These are appropriate for investors who do not wish to take excessive risk and at the same time are also looking for some capital appreciation. Such schemes generally invest 40-60% in equity and the balance in debt instruments.  

Money Market or Liquid Schemes

These schemes are primarily like income schemes, with features of easy liquidity, preservation of capital and moderate income. These schemes invest exclusively in safe short-term instruments such as treasury bills, certificates of deposit, commercial paper and inter-bank call money, government securities etc.  These schemes are normally used by corporate and individual investors for parking surplus funds on a short term basis. Income received from such schemes is tax-free.

Gilt Fund

These funds invest exclusively in government securities, which have no default risk. NAVs of these schemes fluctuate due to the changes in interest rates and other economic factors. 

Sector Specific Funds/Schemes

These schemes invest in the securities of a pre-specified sector/industry (as disclosed in their offer document). Examples of such sectors include Pharmaceuticals, Software, Fast Moving Consumer Goods (FMCG), Petroleum, Public Sector etc. The returns in these funds are significantly dependent on the performance of the respective sector/industry. While these funds may give higher returns, they are also more risky.

Tax Saving Schemes

These schemes offer tax rebates to the investors under specific provisions of the Income Tax Act. A good example of this is the Equity Linked Savings Schemes (ELSS). Pension schemes launched by mutual funds also offer tax benefits. Such schemes are growth oriented and invest pre-dominantly in equities.

Capital Protection Oriented Schemes

Capital Protection Oriented Schemes are oriented towards protection of capital but not with guaranteed returns. Such schemes typically invest a part of their portfolio into AAA rated bonds in such a way that on maturity, this investment equals to 100 percent of initial investment portfolio, thereby protecting the original capital. The balance of portfolio is invested in other assets which offer higher returns.  SEBI requires a credit rating agency to rate and review the portfolio structure of such schemes on a quarterly basis.

Assured Return Schemes 

Assured Return Schemes are schemes that assure a specified return to the unitholders for the entire period of the scheme or only for a certain period, irrespective of the performance of the scheme. Such returns are required to be fully guaranteed by the sponsor or the AMC. Typically, such assured returns are on the lower side. 

Systematic Investment Plans (SIP), Systematic Withdrawal Plans (SWP) and Systematic Transfer Plans (STP)

Systematic Investment Plan (SIP) is a convenient option which offers disciplined saving and investing. Under SIP, an investor invests a fixed amount regularly, say every month or quarter. Such investments are made at the respective prevailing NAVs. The investor can redeem his units any time irrespective of whether he has completed his minimum investment in that scheme.  

Under the Systematic Withdrawal Plan (SWP), the unitholder may redeem a fixed number of units on a monthly, quarterly or annual basis.

Under the Systematic Transfer Plan (STP), an investor in one scheme can keep transferring funds to another scheme, depending upon his outlook of the market. The investor may transfer a fixed sum of money on a periodic basis. A transfer is treated as redemption of units from the existing scheme at applicable NAV and a fresh investment in units of the new scheme.

PASSIVE FUNDS

Index Funds, Exchange Traded Funds and Fund of Funds are largely passive investment funds. Instead of churning portfolio in search of good options/securities, the fund is expected to perform along with the specified index/benchmark by staying invested. In view of this, the total recurring expenses are also lower than actively managed funds.

Index Funds 

Index Funds replicate the portfolio of a particular index such as the BSE Sensex or the S&P NSE Nifty. These schemes invest in the securities in the same weightage as in the index. NAVs of such schemes rise or fall in accordance with the rise or fall of the index, though not exactly by the same percentage due to the “tracking error”.  

Exchange Traded Funds 

An Index fund selects a market index and makes investments in the basket of stocks drawn from the constituents of that index. The fund may invest in any or all of the stocks constituting that index but not necessarily in the same proportion. Exchange Traded Funds, popularly known as ETFs also make investments based on a market index or commodity but in a fixed number of units, say 1000 units. This is called a creation basket. ETFs are listed on a stock exchange for trading of units. Listing provides liquidity to units in less than creation size. Thus lots of less than 1000 ETF units can be traded by retail investors at the stock exchanges. In an ETF that is based on a market index, creation baskets will have stocks of that index in the same proportion as the index and hence the benchmark will be that particular index. 

Gold based ETFs 

Gold based ETFs were introduced in 2007. Just like in the case of an equity mutual fund, the underlying asset is the stocks of various companies, in the case of GETF, the underlying asset is standard gold bullion of 0.995 purity. The investors’ holding is denoted in units, which gets listed on a stock exchange.

Fund of Funds
A scheme that invests primarily in the schemes of the same mutual fund or of other mutual funds, and not directly in any security, is known as a Fund of Fund (FoF).  The NAV of the FoF depends upon the NAVs of the schemes in which it invests. An FoF scheme enables the investors to achieve greater diversification.

LOADS/EXPENSES

SEBI had earlier abolished initial issue expenses and mutual fund schemes were allowed to recover expenses connected with sales and distribution through entry load only. Further, investors making direct applications to the mutual funds were exempted from entry load.

Earlier, though the investor paid for the services rendered by the mutual fund distributors, the distributors were remunerated by the AMCs from the loads deducted from the invested amounts or from the redemption proceeds. SEBI also permitted AMCs to charge the scheme (under the annual recurring expense) for marketing and selling expenses including distributor’s commission.

Moreover, all loads including Contingent Deferred Sales Charge (CDSC) for the scheme were maintained in a separate account and this amount was used by the AMCs to pay commissions to the distributors and to take care of other marketing and selling expenses. It had been left to the AMCs to credit any surplus in this account to the scheme, whenever felt appropriate. In order to incentivize long term investors it was considered necessary that exit loads/CDSCs which are beyond reasonable levels are credited to the scheme immediately.

In order to empower the investors in deciding the commission paid to distributors in accordance with the level of service received, to bring about more transparency in payment of commissions and to incentivize long term investment, SEBI decided that with effect from August,2009, 

a) 
There shall be no entry load for all mutual fund schemes.

b) 
The scheme application forms shall carry a suitable disclosure to the effect that the upfront commission to distributors will be paid by the investor directly to the distributor, based on his assessment of various factors including the service rendered by the distributor.

c) 
Of the exit load or CDSC charged to the investor, a maximum of 1% of the redemption proceeds shall be maintained in a separate account which can be used by the AMC to pay commissions to the distributor and to take care of other marketing and selling expenses. Any balance shall be credited to the scheme immediately.

d) 
The distributors shall disclose all the commissions (in the form of trail commission or any other mode) payable to them for the different competing schemes of various mutual funds from amongst which the scheme is being recommended to the investor.

INVESTING IN A MUTUAL FUND

An investor can either select an existing scheme of a mutual fund or invest in a New Fund Offer of a mutual fund.

How to choose a scheme from a number of schemes available?

An investor should first define his investment objectives, for example, short-term returns or long term capital appreciation. Accordingly, suitable schemes matching the investment objective offered by various mutual funds should be identified.

One must study the offer document of the mutual fund scheme carefully. The past track record of performance of the scheme or other schemes of the same mutual fund is an important input in the decision making. Though past performance of a scheme is not an indicator of its future performance and good performance in the past may or may not be sustained in the future, this is one of the important factors for making the investment decision. One may also compare the performance with other schemes having similar investment objectives. Special attention should be paid to the scheme highlights, scheme specific risk factors, details of fees, expenses and load and past performance, apart from the investment objectives and policies and comparing it with other schemes.

If schemes in the same category of different mutual funds are available, should one choose a scheme with a lower NAV? 

Many investors are tempted to invest in schemes that are available at a low NAV. Accordingly, they are even drawn towards NFOs, which are made available at Rs. 10 per unit. Investors should understand that in case of mutual funds schemes, lower or higher NAVs of similar type schemes of different mutual funds have no relevance. At the entry point for the investor in an existing scheme, the NAV reflects the present value of the underlying assets, and a higher NAV in fact shows a comparative high quality of assets. In NFOs, the initial corpus shall be first invested and the NAV shall then depend upon the quality of investments. Investors, as such, should choose a scheme based purely on merit.  

What are New Fund Offers (NFOs)?

An asset management company (AMC) is eligible to bring out new schemes. These new schemes are called New Fund Offers (NFOs). Each of these schemes will have a defined investment objective. NFOs are launched along with scheme offer documents and their abridged versions, called the ‘Key Information Memorandum’ (KIM). Schemes are available for subscription during NFO for a certain period. After closure date of the NFO, allotment is made to investors. An open-ended scheme receives subscription on an ongoing basis even after the NFO closure and subsequent re-opening whereas close-ended schemes are not eligible to receive subscription after NFO closure. 

The funds so collected by the mutual fund in a scheme are then invested by it as per the objectives set out in the offer document.

Is there any difference between a New Fund Offering (NFO) of a mutual fund (NFO) and an initial public offering (IPO) of a company?

Yes, there is a difference. Investing in an IPO means that investment is being made in a specific company and as such the returns on such investments would entirely be dependent upon the stock price movement of the company which in turn would depend on the performance of the company and also market conditions. 

However, in the case of mutual funds, the funds collected from the investors are pooled in and then invested in a basket of companies, and not a single company. The NAV of the mutual fund would therefore be a net reflection of the performance of all the companies in the basket. In view of this, while the price of shares of a company may rise or fall in a significant manner, the NAV of a mutual fund would typically not be subject to significant rises or falls. Since a mutual fund would take some time to deploy the funds raised in an NFO, its true NAV would start reflecting only upon deployment of all the monies.

How does one invest in a scheme of a mutual fund? 

For NFOs, mutual funds normally release advertisements in newspapers/TV informing the scheme highlights and the date of launch of the NFO. Investors can also contact agents and distributors of mutual funds who are spread all over the country for necessary information and application forms. Filled application forms can be deposited with mutual funds through these agents/distributors that provide such services. Post offices and banks also distribute the units of mutual funds. In some cases, the mutual funds offer huge commissions to the distributors, who in turn, pass on a part of this to the investors. Investors should not be carried away by such commission/gifts given by agents/distributors for investing in a particular scheme. 
For investing in existing schemes, in case of open-ended schemes, the units can be purchased directly from the fund itself. One can approach the fund’s office or through the distributors/brokers/ sub-brokers/agents. In case of closed-ended schemes, one can buy the units from the stock exchange where the units are listed or from the funds providing repurchase facility. Recently, both BSE and NSE have also created platforms for purchase/sale of mutual fund units.

What should one look for in an offer document? 

An abridged offer document, which contains very useful information, is required to be given to each prospective investor by the mutual fund. One should read the whole offer document very carefully. Due care must be given to portions relating to main features of the scheme, risk factors, initial issue expenses and recurring expenses to be charged to the scheme, entry or exit loads, sponsor’s track record, educational qualification and work experience of key personnel including fund managers, performance of other schemes launched by the mutual fund in the past, pending litigations and penalties imposed. 

What are the KYC norms for mutual fund investments?

The need to ‘Know Your Client’ is vital for prevention of money laundering. AMCs are therefore required to seek information and documentation to establish the identity of the investors. In addition, Permanent Account Number (PAN) is now compulsory for the investors.

What care should be exercised while filling up the application form of a mutual fund scheme? 

One must clearly write his name, address, number of units applied for and such other information as required in the application form. The bank account details should be provided to prevent any fraudulent encashment of cheques/drafts issued by the mutual fund at a later date for the purpose of dividend or repurchase. 

Any changes in the address, bank account details etc. at a later date should be informed to the mutual fund immediately.  

When does the investor get the certificate or statement of account after investing in an NFO? 

Mutual funds are required to despatch certificates or statements of accounts within six weeks from the date of closure of the initial subscription of the scheme. In case of close-ended schemes, the investors would either get a demat account statement or unit certificates. In case of open-ended schemes, a statement of account is issued by the mutual fund within 30 days from the date of closure of initial public offer of the scheme.  

How long does it take for transfer of units after purchase from stock markets in case of close-ended schemes? 

Transfer of units is required to be done within thirty days from the date of lodgment of certificates with the mutual fund. 

How much time does it take to receive dividends/repurchase proceeds? 

A mutual fund is required to despatch the dividend warrants within 30 days of the declaration of the dividend and the redemption or repurchase proceeds within 10 working days from the date of redemption or repurchase request made by the unitholder.  

In case of failures to despatch the redemption/repurchase proceeds within the stipulated time period, the AMC is liable to pay interest as specified by SEBI from time to time (15% at present). 

Can a mutual fund change the asset allocation while deploying the funds raised from the investors? 

Considering the market trends, a prudent fund manager may like to change the asset allocation. For example, a fund manager may like to invest a higher percentage of the fund in equity compared to what is disclosed in the offer document. Such changes may also be necessary on a short term basis on defensive considerations i.e. to protect the NAV. As such, mutual funds are allowed certain flexibility in altering the asset allocation considering the interest of the investors. However, if a mutual fund proposes to change the asset allocation on a permanent basis, it is required to inform all the unitholders and give them an option to exit the scheme at prevailing NAV without any load. 

Can a mutual fund change the nature of the scheme from the one specified in the offer document? 

Yes. However, no change in the nature or terms of the scheme, known as fundamental attributes of the scheme e.g. structure, investment pattern, etc. can be carried out unless a written communication is sent to each unitholder and an advertisement is given in the newspapers. The unitholders have the right to exit the scheme at the prevailing NAV without any exit load if they do not want to continue with the scheme. The mutual funds are also required to follow similar procedure while converting the scheme from close-ended to open-ended scheme and in case of change in sponsor. 

How does one know where the mutual fund scheme has invested the money mobilized from the investors?

Mutual funds are required to disclose their complete portfolios of all of their schemes on a half-yearly basis and publish the same in the newspapers. Some mutual funds also send the portfolios to their unitholders. The scheme portfolio shows investment made in each security within each asset class i.e. equity, debentures, money market instruments, government securities, etc. and their quantity, market value and % to NAV. These portfolio statements are also required to disclose illiquid securities in the portfolio, investment made in rated and unrated debt securities, non-performing assets (NPAs), etc. Some mutual funds send newsletters to the unitholders on quarterly basis which also contain portfolios of the schemes.  

Advice from distributors/advisors

The investors may seek advice from experts and consultants including agents and distributors of mutual funds schemes while making investment decisions.  

MUTUAL FUND PERFORMANCE

What is Net Asset Value (NAV) of a scheme?

The performance of a particular scheme of a mutual fund is denoted by Net Asset Value (NAV). 

Mutual funds invest the monies collected in a scheme from the investors in the securities markets. The NAV is the market value of the securities held by the scheme. Since market value of securities changes every day, NAV of a scheme also varies daily. The NAV per unit is the market value of securities of a scheme divided by the total number of units of the scheme on any particular date. For example, if the market value of securities of a mutual fund scheme is Rs. 200 lakh and the mutual fund has issued 10 lakh units, the NAV per unit of the scheme would be Rs.20. NAV is required to be disclosed by the mutual funds on a daily basis for open ended schemes and on a weekly basis for close-ended schemes. 

How does one know the performance of a mutual fund scheme? 

The performance of a scheme is reflected in its net asset value (NAV). NAVs of mutual fund schemes are published in the newspapers. NAVs are also available on the websites of the mutual funds. All mutual funds are also required to put their NAVs on the website of the Association of Mutual Funds in India (AMFI) (www.amfiindia.com) and thus the investors can access NAVs of all mutual fund schemes at a single place. 

Mutual funds are also required to publish their performance in the form of half-yearly results which also include their returns/yields over a period of time i.e. last six months, 1 year, 3 years, 5 years and since inception of schemes. From these statements, an investor can also look into other details like percentage of expenses of total assets as these have an affect on the yield. 

Mutual funds are also required to send an annual report to all the unitholders at the end of each year. 

In addition, various studies/research/ analysis on the mutual fund schemes are regularly carried by newspapers, magazines and TV channels. These include ranking of various schemes in terms of their performance. 

Investors should study these reports and keep themselves informed about the performance of various schemes of different mutual funds. They can also compare the performance of the schemes in which they have invested with similar schemes of the other mutual funds as also with the benchmarks like BSE Sensex, S&P CNX Nifty, etc. 

What information is furnished to the investor after he invests in a mutual fund?
Each investor in mutual fund units is entitled to receive several pieces of information.  In the case of fresh subscription, the mutual fund is required to dispatch statements of accounts within a maximum 30 days. This statement contains information on allotment price and the load charged, number of units allotted, date of allotment, the folio number for the subscription, NAV as on date etc. Investors who invest through SIP/STP/SWP receive the statement of accounts within 10 days and an update on their investments every quarter of the year.

Where does one get information on the mutual funds industry? 

Almost all the mutual funds have their own websites. You can also access the NAVs, half-yearly results and portfolios of all mutual funds on the website of Association of Mutual Funds in India (AMFI) (www.amfiindia.com). AMFI has also published useful literature for the investors. One can also log on to the website of SEBI (www.sebi.gov.in) and go to “Mutual Funds” section for information on SEBI regulations and guidelines, data on mutual funds, draft offer documents filed by mutual funds, addresses of mutual funds, etc. 

MISC.

Are the companies which have names like ‘mutual benefit’ the same as mutual funds schemes? 

You should not assume that the companies having the name “mutual benefit” are mutual funds. These companies may not come under the purview of SEBI.  

Is the higher net worth of the sponsor a guarantee for better returns? 

In the offer document of any mutual fund scheme, financial performance including the net worth of the sponsor for a period of three years is required to be given. The only purpose is that the investors should know the track record of the company which has sponsored the mutual fund. However, higher net worth of the sponsor does not mean that the scheme would give better returns or the sponsor would compensate in case the NAV falls. 

Can Non-Resident Indians (NRIs) invest in mutual funds? 

Yes, NRIs can also invest in mutual funds.   

If a mutual fund scheme is wound up, what happens to the money invested? 

In case of winding up of a scheme, the mutual fund pays a sum based on prevailing NAV after adjustment of expenses.

Chapter 16

	INDIAN DEPOSITORY RECEIPTS (IDRs)


Can a foreign company access the Indian capital market for raising funds?

Yes, a foreign company can access the Indian capital market for raising funds. This can be done through the issue of Indian Depository Receipts (IDRs)

What is an IDR?

An IDR is an instrument denominated in Indian Rupees in the form of a depository receipt created by a Domestic Depository (custodian of securities registered with the SEBI) against the underlying equity of the issuing company.

Who is eligible to issue IDRs?

The foreign issuing company should have

· pre-issue paid-up capital and free reserves of at least US$ 50 million and have a minimum average market capitalization (during the last 3 years) in its parent country of at least US$ 100 million

· a continuous trading record or history on a stock exchange in its parent country for at least three immediately preceding years

· a track record of distributable profits for at least three out of immediately preceding five years

· listed in its home country and not been prohibited to issue securities by any regulatory body and has a good track record with respect to compliance with the securities market regulations.

The size of an IDR issue cannot be less than Rs. 50 crore.

Which major intermediaries are involved in issuance of IDRs?

· Overseas Custodian Bank is a banking company which is established in a country outside India and has a place of business in India and acts as custodian for the equity shares of the issuing company against which IDRs are proposed to be issued in the underlying equity shares of the issuer is deposited.

· Domestic Depository who is a custodian of securities registered with SEBI and authorized by the issuing company to issue IDRs.

· Merchant Banker registered with SEBI who is responsible for due diligence and through whom the draft prospectus for issuance of the IDR is filed with SEBI by the issuer company.

Whether the draft prospectus for IDRs has to be filed with SEBI as in the case of domestic issues?

Yes. The foreign issuer is required to file the draft prospectus with SEBI. 

Whether IDRs can be converted into underlying equity shares?

IDRs can be converted into the underlying equity shares only after the expiry of one year from the date of the issue of the IDR, subject to the compliance of the related provisions of Foreign Exchange Management Act and regulations issued there under by the RBI in this regard.

Who is responsible to distribute the corporate benefits to the IDR holders?

On receipt of dividend or other corporate action on the IDRs, the Domestic Depository is required to distribute the same to the IDR holders in proportion to their holdings of IDRs. 

What are the requirements for investing in IDRs?

· IDRs can be purchased by any person who is resident in India as defined under FEMA.

· Minimum application amount in an IDR issue is Rs.20,000.

· Investments by Indian companies in IDRs cannot exceed the investment limits, if any, prescribed for them under the applicable laws.

Who can invest in IDRs?

· In every issue of IDR—

(i) 
At least 50% of the IDRs issued have to be subscribed to by QIBs;

(ii)    The balance 50% is available for subscription by non-institutional investors, including the retail investors.

Chapter 17

	COLLECTIVE INVESTMENT SCHEMES


What is a Collective Investment Scheme? 

According to the SEBI Act, a Collective Investment Scheme (CIS) is any scheme   or arrangement made or offered by any company under which the contributions, or payments made by the investors, are pooled and utilized with a view to receive profits, income, produce or property, and is managed on behalf of the investors. Investors do not have day-to-day control over the management and operation of such schemes or arrangements. 

Schemes offered by the plantation companies are a good example of a CIS.

Which schemes are not treated as CIS? 

The following do not constitute a CIS: 

(i)
any scheme or arrangement made or offered by a co-operative society or a society being a society registered or deemed to be registered under any law relating to co-operative societies for the time being in force in any State; 

(ii)
any scheme or arrangement under which deposits are accepted by non-banking financial companies;

(iii)
any scheme or arrangement being a contract of insurance to which the Insurance Act, applies; 

(iv)
any scheme or arrangement providing for any Scheme, Pension Scheme or the Insurance Scheme framed under the Employees Provident Fund and Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1952; 

(v)
any scheme or arrangement under which deposits are accepted under section 58A of the Companies Act, 1956 (1 of 1956); 

(vi)
any scheme or arrangement under which deposits are accepted by a company declared as a Nidhi or a mutual benefit society under section 620A of the Companies Act, 1956 (1 of 1956); 

(vii)
any scheme or arrangement falling within the meaning of Chit business as defined in clause (d) of section 2 of the Chit Fund Act, 1982 (40 of 1982); 

(viii)
any scheme or arrangement under which contributions made are in the nature of subscription to a mutual fund.
Who is authorized to float CIS?

CIS
can be organized, operated and managed only by a Collective Investment Management Company (CIMC) registered with SEBI.

Can an existing CIS raise further funds? 

An existing CIS cannot launch any new scheme or raise money from the investors even under the existing scheme, unless a certificate of registration is granted to it by SEBI. 

Under what circumstances can a company registered as a CIMC raise funds from the public? 

A registered CIMC is eligible to raise funds from the public by launching schemes. Such schemes have to be compulsorily credit rated as well as appraised by an appraising agency. The schemes also have to be approved by the Trustee and contain disclosures, as provided in the Regulations, which would enable the investors to make informed decision. 

A copy of the offer document of the scheme has to be filed with SEBI and if no modifications are suggested by SEBI within 21 days from the date of filing then the CIMC is entitled to issue the offer document to the public for raising funds from them. 

Are the unit certificates issued under a CIS required to be listed on the stock exchanges? 

Yes, these have to be compulsorily listed on the stock exchanges as mentioned in the Offer document. 

Are the investors entitled to receive information about the schemes where they have invested and at what interval? 

The investors are entitled to receive a copy of the Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Account and a copy of the summary of the yearly appraisal report from CIMC, within two months from the closure of each financial year.  

Further, the scheme wise annual report or an abridged form thereof has to be published in a national daily not later than two calendar months from the date of finalization of accounts. Also, scheme wise un-audited quarterly financial results have to be published in a national daily by the CIMC within one month from the close of each quarter. 

Does just the filing of an offer document of a scheme by a CIMC with SEBI mean that the investment in that scheme is safe and sound?  

It is to be distinctly understood that submission of offer document to SEBI should not in any way be deemed or construed that the same has been cleared or approved by SEBI. SEBI does not take any responsibility either for the financial soundness of any scheme for which the offer document has been filed or for the correctness of the statements made or opinions expressed in the offer document.  It is the responsibility of the CIMC to ensure that the disclosures made in the offer document are generally adequate and are in conformity with the SEBI Regulations.  

Under what circumstances will an existing CIS be wound up?  

An existing CIS which failed to make an application for registration, or was not desirous of obtaining provisional registration, or has not been granted provisional registration, or having obtained provisional registration fails to comply with the provisions as laid down in the Regulations, was / is required to wind up the existing scheme(s).  

What is the procedure for winding up of an existing CIS? 

First of all, an existing CIS has to send an information memorandum to the investors who have subscribed to the schemes, detailing the state of affairs of the scheme, the amount repayable to each investor and the manner in which such amount is determined.  

The said information memorandum has to be dated and signed by all the Directors of the scheme. The information memorandum has to explicitly state that investors desirous of continuing with the scheme will have to give a positive consent, within one month from the date of the information memorandum, to continue with the scheme.  

If positive consent to continue with the scheme is received from only 25% or less of the total number of existing investors, the scheme shall be wound up and payment be made to the investors within three months of the date of the information memorandum. 

Does SEBI guarantees the repayment of money deposited under a CIS? 

As a regulatory body, SEBI does not guarantee or undertake the repayment of money to the investors. 

How can one ascertain the registration status a CIMC?  

Registration details of all CIMCs are available on the SEBI website. 

What are the penal provisions if a registered CIMC violates provisions of the Regulations? 

If a registered CIMC violates certain provisions of the Regulations, action in terms of suspension/ cancellation of certificate may be initiated against the entity by SEBI. 

SEBI may also, in the interests of the securities market and the investors, initiate criminal prosecution apart from passing of directions such as 

(i)
requiring the person concerned not to collect any money from investor or to launch any scheme;  

(ii)
prohibiting the person concerned from disposing of any of the properties of the scheme acquired in violation of the Regulations;  

(iii)
requiring the person concerned to dispose off the assets of the scheme in a manner as may be specified in the directions;  

(iv)
requiring the person concerned to refund any money or the assets to the concerned investors along with the requisite interest or otherwise, collected under the scheme;  

(v)
prohibiting the person concerned from operating in the capital market or from accessing the capital market for a specified period.

Chapter 18

	PORTFOLIO MANAGERS


Who is a Portfolio Manager? 

Any person who pursuant to a contract or arrangement with a client, advises or directs or undertakes on behalf of the client (whether as a discretionary portfolio manager or otherwise) the management or administration of a portfolio of securities or the funds of the client, as the case may be is a portfolio manager.

What is the difference between a discretionary portfolio manager and a non- discretionary portfolio manager? 

The discretionary portfolio manager individually and independently manages the funds of each client in accordance with the needs of the client in a manner which does not partake character of a Mutual Fund, whereas the non-discretionary portfolio manager manages the funds in accordance with the directions of the client.

What does SEBI consider while granting the certificate of registration to a portfolio manager? 

SEBI takes into account all matters which it deems relevant to the activities relating to portfolio management. The applicant has to be a body corporate and must have necessary infrastructure like adequate office space, equipments and the manpower to effectively discharge the activities of a portfolio manager. The principal officer of the applicant should have either –a professional qualification in finance, law, accountancy or business management from a university or an institution recognised by the Central Government or any State Government or a foreign university; or an experience of at least ten years in related activities in the securities market including in a portfolio manager, stock broker or as a fund manager. 

The applicant should have in its employment minimum of two persons who, between them, have at least five years experience as portfolio manager or stock broker or investment manager or in the areas related to fund management. The applicant also has to fulfill the capital adequacy requirements, etc.

Who is the principal officer of a portfolio manager? 

The principal officer of the applicant has either –
(i)
a professional qualification in finance, law, accountancy or business management from a university or an institution recognised by the  Central Government or any State Government or a foreign university; 
 
or
 
(ii)
an experience of at least ten years in related activities in the securities market including in a portfolio manager, stock broker or as a fund manager

What is the capital adequacy requirement of a portfolio manager? 

The portfolio manager is required to have a minimum net worth of Rs. 50 lakh.

Is it mandatory that a portfolio manager should appoint a custodian?   

Every portfolio manager who has total assets under management of value more than five hundred core rupees shall appoint a custodian. This condition will not be applicable to portfolio managers offering purely advisory services. 

How long does the certificate of registration remain valid? 

The certificate of registration remains valid for three years.

Whether any contract should be made between the portfolio manager and its client? 

Yes. The portfolio manager, before taking up an assignment of management of funds or portfolio of securities on behalf of the client, enters into an agreement in writing with the client clearly defining the inter se relationship and setting out their mutual rights, liabilities and obligations relating to the management of funds or portfolio of securities containing the details as specified in Schedule IV of the SEBI (Portfolio Managers) Regulations, 1993.

What fees can a portfolio manager charge from its clients for the services rendered by him? 

The SEBI (Portfolio Managers) Regulations, 1993, have not prescribed any scale of fee to be charged by the portfolio manager to its clients.  However, the regulations provide that the portfolio manager shall charge a fee as per the agreement with the client for rendering portfolio management services. The fee so charged may be a fixed amount or a return based fee or a combination of both. The portfolio manager shall take specific prior permission from the client for charging such fees for each activity for which service is rendered by the portfolio manager directly or indirectly (where such service is outsourced),

Is there any specified value of funds or securities below which a portfolio manager cannot accept from the client while opening the account for the purpose of rendering portfolio management service to the client? 

The portfolio manager is required to accept funds or securities having a minimum worth of five laky rupees from the client while opening the account for the purpose of rendering portfolio management service to the client.

Is a portfolio manager permitted to invest the fund of its clients in derivatives? 

A portfolio manager is permitted to invest in derivatives, including transactions for the purpose of hedging and portfolio rebalancing, through a recognized stock exchange. However, leveraging of portfolio is not permitted in respect of investment in derivatives. The total exposure of the portfolio client in derivatives should not exceed his portfolio funds placed with the portfolio manager and the portfolio manager should basically invest and not borrow on behalf of his clients.

What is the disclosure mechanism of the portfolio managers to their clients? 

The portfolio manager provides to the client the Disclosure Document at least two days prior to entering into an agreement with the client. The Disclosure Document, inter alia, contains the quantum and manner of payment of fees payable by the client for each activity for which service is rendered by the portfolio manager directly or indirectly ( where such service is out sourced), portfolio risks, complete disclosures in respect of transactions with related parties as per the accounting standards specified by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India in this regard, the performance of the portfolio manager and the audited financial statements of the portfolio manager for the immediately preceding three years.

On what basis is the performance of the portfolio manager calculated? 

The performance of a discretionary portfolio manager is calculated using weighted average method taking each individual category of investments for the immediately preceding three years and in such cases performance indicators is also disclosed.

Where can an investor look out for information on portfolio managers? 

Names and addresses of all SEBI-registered portfolio managers are available on SEBI website.

Chapter 19

	DELISTING


What is meant by delisting of securities?

The term “delisting” of securities means permanent removal of securities of a listed company from a specified stock exchange/s. As a consequence of delisting, the securities of that company are no longer traded at that stock exchange.

What is the difference between Voluntary Delisting and Compulsory Delisting?

In voluntary delisting, a company decides on its own to remove its securities from trading at a particular stock exchange/all stock exchanges where its securities are listed

Compulsory delisting refers to the permanent removal of securities of a listed company from a stock exchange as a penal measure at the behest of the stock exchange for not making submissions/complying with various requirements set out in the Listing Agreement. 

What is the exit opportunity available for investors in case a company gets delisted voluntarily?

If a company is listed at any national exchange (presently NSE and BSE) and wishes to voluntarily delist its securities from any or all of the regional stock exchanges, it does not need to provide any exit opportunity to the shareholders, the logic being that a market would continue to exist at the national exchange/s even after the delisting from the regional exchange/s.

However, if a company wishes to voluntarily delist its securities from all the stock exchanges where it is listed including from the national exchanges if it is listed there, it has to follow the SEBI Regulations which provide an exit mechanism, whereby the exit price of the securities is determined in accordance to book-building process. In cases where the equity shares are frequently traded in all the stock exchanges where these are listed, the average of the weekly high and low of the closing prices of the equity shares of the company during 26 weeks or 2 weeks preceding the date on which the recognized stock exchanges were notified of the board meeting in which the delisting proposal was considered, whichever is higher as quoted on the recognized stock exchange where the equity shares of the company are most frequently traded. 

Where the equity shares of the company are infrequently traded in all the recognized stock exchanges where they are listed, a floor price is required to be determined by the promoter and the merchant banker by taking into account  the highest price paid by the promoter for acquisitions, if any, of equity shares of the class sought to be delisted, including by way of allotment in a public or rights issue or preferential allotment, during the 26 weeks period prior to the date on which the recognized stock exchanges were notified of the board meeting in which the delisting proposal was considered and after that date up to the date of the public announcement and consider other parameters including return on net worth, book value of the shares of the company, earning per share, price earning multiple vis-à-vis the industry average. 

Where the equity shares of the company are frequently traded in some recognized stock exchanges and infrequently traded in some other recognized stock exchanges where they are listed, the price shall be highest of the prices arrived at in accordance with the factors as stated above.

Equity shares are deemed to be infrequently traded if on the recognized stock exchange, the annualized trading turnover in such shares during the preceding six calendar months prior to month in which the recognized stock exchanges were notified of the board meeting in which the delisting proposal was considered, is less than five per cent (by number of equity shares) of the total listed equity shares of that class and the term ‘frequently traded’ shall be construed accordingly.

Chapter 20

	BUYBACK


What is the manner in which a listed company can buyback its own shares? 

A company can buyback its own shares in any of the following manner: 

(i)
From the existing shareholders on a proportionate basis through the tender offer method; 

(ii)
From open market through: 


(a)
Book building process 


(b)
Stock exchange, 

(iii)
From odd lot shareholders. 

Can a company buyback its shares without passing shareholders’ resolution?

Yes. A company may buyback its shares without a shareholders’ resolution to the extent of 10% of its paid up equity capital and reserves. However, if a company intends to buyback its shares beyond this ceiling, the same has to be approved by the shareholders.

From where can one get details of the companies proposing to buyback their shares? 

Listed companies are required to inform the stock exchange/s about the general meetings and resolutions passed regarding buybacks. As such, information on companies proposing to buyback shares can be obtained from the stock exchanges. Subsequently, when the buyback offer document or public announcement is filed by the company with SEBI, SEBI puts the offer document on its website.  

TENDER METHOD

How does one tender his shares for buyback in the tender offer method? 

The company will send you a tender/offer form. The shareholder, in case he wishes to offer his shares, has to fill up the form as per the instructions of the company and enclose the documents asked for.  

How does one participate in the offer for buyback in case he does not receive the offer form? 

A shareholder can make an application on plain paper stating his folio number, name, address, number of shares held, share certificate number, distinctive numbers, number of shares tendered, together with the original share certificate and tender the same at the collection centres/registrars, as mentioned in the public announcement. If the shares are held in demat form, the information should include the relevant details like DP Account Number, DP ID etc.  

Is a shareholder compulsorily required to accept the buyback offer?

No. The decision to accept or forgo the offer lies exclusively with the shareholder.

How does one decide as to whether he should hold the shares or accept the offer?

The decision as to whether one should hold the shares or accept the offer depends upon various factors such as the price of the offer, expectations of the company’s performance in the future, liquidity of the shares, one’s cash requirements etc.

What is the manner in which the company decides the acceptances from each shareholder? 

In case the shares of the company are tradeable compulsorily in demat segment, the acceptances from any investor shall be on a proportionate basis irrespective of the number of shares tendered in the buyback, and irrespective of whether shares are in physical or demat form.  

If the shares are not in compulsory demat segment, first the entire shares tendered being less than the minimum market lot shall be accepted in full. Thereafter, the acceptances will be on proportionate basis in a manner to ensure that the acceptances are in market lot. In such a case, a draw of lots shall be done, as in the case of public issues.  

When do the shareholders receive intimation about acceptance of their shares?  

The company is required to send intimation to the tenderers within 15 days from the closure of the offer.  

When does the shareholder receive the payment? 

The company is required to send the payment within 21 days from the closure of the buyback offer.

What is the method of buyback of odd lot shares? 

The provisions pertaining to buy back through tender offer are applicable to odd lot shares. 

OPEN MARKET METHOD

What are the methods of buyback from the market?

Instead of making a buy back offer to each individual shareholder, a company may use the open market method under which it will buy back shares from the market and not from individual shareholders. It can do so through 

(i) book-building process or

(ii) stock exchange

What is the process of buyback through the bookbuilding method?

A company can buy-back its shares through the book-building process. It needs to make a public announcement which should contain the detailed methodology of the book-building process, the manner of acceptance, the format of acceptance to be sent by the shareholders and the details of bidding centres. 

The book building process has to be made through an electronically linked transparent facility. The offer has to remain open for a period not less than fifteen days and not exceeding thirty days. 

The merchant banker and the company determine the buy-back price based on the acceptances received. The final buy-back price, which shall be the highest price accepted shall be paid to all shareholders whose shares have been accepted for buy-back.

What is the process of buyback through the stock exchange?

The company is required to appoint a merchant banker and make a public announcement about the buyback, at least seven days prior to the commencement of buy-back. The buyback can be made only on stock exchanges having nationwide trading terminals. The buyback can be made only through the order matching mechanism except ‘all or none’ order matching system; 

The company and the merchant banker are required to submit the information regarding the shares or other specified securities bought back to the stock exchange on a daily basis and publish the said information in a national daily on a fortnightly basis and every time when an additional five per cent of the buy back has been completed.

What should a shareholder do in case a company is doing a buyback through the stock exchanges?

The shareholder has no role to play in this method as the company is buying back from the open market on an anonymous basis.

Chapter 21

	DERIVATIVES


A lot of people have different opinions and views on derivatives. The views range from them being useful instruments to being an unnecessary waste of time, effort and money. Are derivatives really useful or not? Are these financial tools inherently good or bad?

What is a derivative?

Derivatives are financial contracts which derive their value from movements in the spot price of an underlying asset. For example, wheat farmers may wish to enter into a contract to sell their harvest at a future date to eliminate the risk of a change in prices by that date. Such a transaction would take place through a forward or futures market. This market is the "derivatives market", and the prices of this market would be driven by the spot market price of wheat which is the "underlying". The term "contracts" is often applied to denote the specific traded instrument, whether it is a derivative contract in wheat, gold or equity shares. The world over, derivatives are a key part of the financial system. The most important contract types are futures and options, and the most important underlying markets are equity, treasury bills, commodities, foreign exchange, real estate etc.

The term 'Derivative' indicates that it has no independent value, i.e. its value is entirely “derived” from the value of the underlying asset. The underlying asset can be securities, commodities, bullion, currency, live stock or anything else. In other words, Derivative means a forward, future, option or any other hybrid contract of pre determined fixed duration, linked for the purpose of contract fulfillment to the value of a specified real or financial asset or to an index of securities.

The term Derivative has been defined in Securities Contracts (Regulations) Act, as:-

(a) 
a security derived from a debt instrument, share, loan, whether secured or unsecured, risk instrument or contract for differences or any other form of security; 

(b)
a contract which derives its value from the prices, or index of prices, of underlying securities;
How are derivatives categorized?

Derivatives are usually broadly categorized by the:

· relationship between the underlying and the derivative (e.g. forward, option, swap) 

· type of underlying (e.g. equity derivatives, foreign exchange derivatives, interest rate derivatives, commodity derivatives or credit derivatives) 

· market in which they trade (e.g., exchange traded or over-the-counter) 

· pay-off profile (Some derivatives have non-linear payoff diagrams due to embedded optionality)

There is no definitive rule for distinguishing one from the other, so the distinction is mostly a matter of custom. 

Why should an investor use derivatives?

Derivatives are used by investors to:

· provide leverage or gearing, such that a small movement in the underlying value can cause a large difference in the value of the derivative. Since the investor is required to pay a small fraction of the value of the total contract as margin, trading in futures is a leveraged activity since the investor is able to control the total value of the contract with a relatively small amount of margin. Thus the leverage enables the investors to  make a larger profit (or loss)  with  a comparatively small amount of capital.

· speculate and to make a profit if the value of the underlying asset moves the way they expect (e.g. moves in a given direction, stays in or out of a specified range, reaches a certain level) 

· hedge or mitigate risk in the underlying, by entering into a derivative contract whose value moves in the opposite direction to their underlying position and cancels part or all of it out 

· obtain exposure to underlying where it is not possible to trade in the underlying (e.g. weather derivatives) 

· create optionality where the value of the derivative is linked to a specific condition or event (e.g. the underlying reaching a specific price level) 
What are the benefits of investing in derivatives?

Derivatives facilitate the buying and selling of risk and many people consider this to have a positive impact on the economic system. Although someone loses money while someone else gains money with a derivative, under normal circumstances, trading in derivatives should not adversely affect the economic system because it is not zero sums in utility.
What are the downsides of derivatives?

A major disadvantage of derivatives is the risk of losing money. While derivatives help increase profits and reduce risks, they may also make an investor lose out on a lot of money or other assets. For example, a cotton farmer enters into a contract with a weaver. The cotton producer may agree on a fixed price to sell the cotton to the weaver on harvest time. This ensures a fixed income and a sure customer for the cotton farmer. On the other hand, the weaver is also ensured of a supply of cotton. This agreement could be a disadvantage when the price of cotton fluctuates. If the price of cotton goes up, the farmer would still have to sell the cotton at the earlier agreed cost. This makes the farmer lose out on the profit. Price fluctuations on the cotton could affect the weaver too. If the price of cotton goes down, he still has to pay the high cost that was agreed in the contract, regardless of the decrease in cotton's price or value.

Investors must understand that investment in derivatives has an element of risk and is generally not an appropriate avenue for someone of limited resources/ limited investment and/or trading experience and low risk tolerance. An investor should therefore carefully consider whether such trading is suitable for him or her in the light of his or her financial condition. An investor must accept that there can be no guarantee of profits or no exception from losses while executing orders for purchase and / or sale of derivative contracts, Investors who trade in derivatives at the Exchange are advised to carefully read the Model Risk Disclosure Document and the details contained therein. This document is given by the broker to his clients and must be read, the implications understood and signed by the investor. The document clearly states the risks associated with trading in derivatives and advises investors to bear utmost caution before entering into the markets.
What is hedging?
Hedging is a technique that attempts to reduce risk. It helps in reducing the risk associated with exposures in underlying market by taking a counter- positions in the futures market. For example, an investor who has purchased a portfolio of stocks may have a fear of adverse market conditions in future which may reduce the value of his portfolio. He can hedge against this risk by shorting the index which is correlated with his portfolio, say the Nifty 50 or the BSE Sensex. In case the markets fall, he would make a profit by squaring off his short  Nifty 50/ BSE Sensex position. This profit  would compensate for the loss he suffers in his portfolio as a result of the fall in the markets.

Hedging can be done by using derivatives. Derivatives allow transferring the risk associated with the underlying asset from one party to another. For example, a wheat farmer and a miller could sign a futures contract to exchange a specified amount of cash for a specified amount of wheat in the future. Both parties have reduced a future risk: for the wheat farmer, the uncertainty of the price, and for the miller, the availability of wheat. However, there is still the risk that no wheat will be available because of events unspecified by the contract, like the weather, or that one party will renege on the contract. Although a third party, called a clearing house, insures a futures contract, not all derivatives are insured against counterparty risk.

What is a forward contract?
In a forward contract, two parties agree to do a trade at some future date, at a stated price and quantity. No money changes hands at the time the deal is signed.
Why is forward contracting useful?
Forward contracting is very valuable in hedging and speculation. The classic hedging application would be that of a wheat farmer forward -selling his harvest at a known price in order to eliminate price risk. Conversely, a bread factory may want to buy bread forward in order to assist production planning without the risk of price fluctuations. If a speculator has information or analysis which forecasts an upturn in price, then he can go long on the forward market instead of the cash market. The speculator would go long on the forward, wait for the price to rise, and then take a reversing transaction making a profit.
What are the problems of forward markets?
Forward markets worldwide are afflicted by several problems:
(a) lack of centralisation of trading,

(b) illiquidity, and

(c) counterparty risk.

The forward market is like the real estate market in that any two persons can form contracts against each other. This often makes them design terms of the deal which are very convenient in that specific situation for the specific parties, but makes the contracts non-tradeable if more participants are involved. Also the "phone market" here is unlike the centralisation of price discovery that is obtained on an exchange, resulting in an illiquid market place for forward markets. Counterparty risk in forward markets is a simple idea: when one of the two sides of the transaction chooses to declare bankruptcy, the other suffers. Forward markets have one basic issue: the larger the time period over which the forward contract is open, the larger are the potential price movements, and hence the larger is the counter- party risk.
Even when forward markets trade standardized contracts, and hence avoid the problem of illiquidity, the counterparty risk remains a very real problem.
What is a Futures Contract? 

A futures contract is a legally binding agreement between two parties to buy or sell an asset at a certain time in the future at a certain price.  Future contracts are organized/standardized contracts in terms of quantity, quality (in case of commodities), delivery time and place for settlement on any date in future. The contract expires on a pre-specified date which is called the expiry date of the contract. On expiry, futures can be settled by delivery of the underlying asset or cash. Cash settlement enables the settlements of obligations arising out of the future/option contract in cash.
What is the difference between futures and forward contracts?
Futures markets were designed to solve all the three problems of forward markets. Futures markets are exactly like forward markets in terms of basic economics. However, contracts are standardised and trading is centralized (on a stock exchange). There is no counterparty risk (thanks to the institution of a clearing corporation which becomes counterparty to both sides of each transaction and guarantees the trade). In futures markets, unlike in forward markets, increasing the time to expiration does not increase the counter party risk. Futures markets are highly liquid as compared to the forward markets.

What is an Option contract? 

Option contract is a type of derivatives contract which gives the right, but not an obligation, to buy or sell the underlying at a stated date and at a stated price. The buyer/holder of the option, purchases the right from the seller/writer for a consideration which is called the premium. While a buyer/holder of an option pays the premium and buys the right to exercise his option, the seller/writer of an option is the one who receives the option premium and is therefore obliged to sell/buy the asset if the buyer exercises it on him. The underlying asset could include securities, an index of prices of securities etc. 

Under Securities Contracts (Regulations) Act, 1956 “option in securities” means a contract for the purchase or sale of a right to buy or sell, or a right to buy and sell, securities in future, and includes a teji, a mandi, a teji mandi, a galli, a put, a call or a put and call in securities. 

Options are of two types - Call and Put options:
"Calls" give the buyer the right but not the obligation to buy a given quantity of the underlying asset, at a given price on or before a given future date.
"Puts" give the buyer the right, but not the obligation to sell a given quantity of underlying asset at a given price on or before a given future date. 

Further, Options are classified based on when they can be exercised. The two most popular types are European or American. American options are options contracts that can be exercised at any time upto the expiration date. This request for exercise is submitted to the exchange, which randomly assigns the exercise request to the sellers of the options, who are obligated to settle the terms of the contract within a specified time frame. European options are options that can be exercised only on the expiration date. The price at which the option is to be exercised is called Strike price or Exercise price. 
 As in the case of futures contracts, option contracts can also be settled by delivery of the underlying asset or cash. However, unlike futures, cash settlement in an option contract entails paying/receiving the difference between the strike price/exercise price and the spot price of the underlying asset either at the time of expiry of the contract or at the time of exercise/ assignment of the option contract. 

What is the concept of In the money, At the money and Out of the money in respect of Options?
In- the- money options (ITM) - An in-the-money option is an option that would lead to positive cash flow to the holder if it were exercised immediately. A Call option is said to be in-the-money when the current price stands at a level higher than the strike price. If the Spot price is much higher than the strike price, a Call is said to be deep in-the-money option. In the case of a Put, the put is in-the-money if the Spot price is below the strike price.

At-the-money-option (ATM) - An at-the money option is an option that would lead to zero cash flow if it were exercised immediately. An option on the index is said to be "at-the-money" when the current price equals the strike price.
Out-of-the-money-option (OTM) - An out-of- the-money Option is an option that would lead to negative cash flow if it were exercised immediately. A Call option is out-of-the-money when the current price stands at a level which is less than the strike price. If the current price is much lower than the strike price the call is said to be deep out-of-the money. In case of a Put, the Put is said to be out-of-money if current price is above the strike price.

What are Index Futures and Index Option Contracts? 

Futures contract based on an index i.e. the underlying asset is the index, are known as Index Futures Contracts. For example, futures contracts on NIFTY Index and BSE-30 Index. These contracts derive their value from the value of the underlying index. 

Similarly, option contracts, which are based on some index, are known as Index Options Contracts. However, unlike Index Futures, the buyer of Index Option Contracts has only the right but not the obligation to buy / sell the underlying index on expiry. Index Option Contracts are generally European Style options.  

An index in turn derives its value from the prices of securities that constitute the index and is created to represent the sentiments of the market as a whole or of a particular sector of the economy. Indices that represent the whole market are broad based indices and those that represent a particular sector are sectoral indices. 

In the beginning, futures and options were permitted only on S&P Nifty and BSE Sensex. Subsequently, sectoral indices were also permitted for derivatives trading subject to fulfilling the eligibility criteria. Derivative contracts may be permitted on an index if 80% of the index constituents are individually eligible for derivatives trading. However, no single ineligible stock in the index should have a weightage of more than 5% in the index. The index is required to fulfill the eligibility criteria even after derivatives’ trading on the index has begun. If the index does not fulfill the criteria for 3 consecutive months, then derivative contracts on such index would be discontinued.

By its very nature, an index cannot be delivered on maturity of the Index futures or Index option contracts. Therefore, these contracts are essentially cash settled on Expiry.

What are the benefits of trading in Index Futures compared to any other security?
An investor can trade the 'entire stock market' by buying index futures instead of buying individual securities with the efficiency of a mutual fund.
The advantages of trading in Index Futures are:
· The contracts are highly liquid

· Index Futures provide higher leverage than any other stocks

· It requires low initial capital requirement

· It has lower risk than buying and holding stocks

· It is just as easy to trade the short side as the long side

· Only have to study one index instead of 100s of stocks

What is the structure of Derivative Markets in India? 
Derivative trading in India can take place either on a separate and independent Derivative Exchange or on a separate segment of an existing Stock Exchange. Derivative Exchange/Segment functions as a Self-Regulatory Organization (SRO) and SEBI acts as the oversight regulator. The clearing & settlement of all trades on the Derivative Exchange/Segment would have to be through a Clearing Corporation/House, which is independent in governance and membership from the Derivative Exchange/Segment. 

Which derivative contracts are permitted by SEBI? 
Derivative products have been introduced in a phased manner starting with Index Futures Contracts in June 2000. Index Options and Stock Options were introduced in June 2001 and July 2001 followed by Stock Futures in November 2001. Sectoral indices were permitted for derivatives trading in December 2002. Interest Rate Futures on a notional bond and T-bill priced off Zero Coupon Yield Curve (ZCYC) have been introduced in June 2003 and exchange traded interest rate futures on a notional bond priced off a basket of Government Securities were permitted for trading in January 2004.

What is the eligibility criteria for stocks on which derivatives trading may be permitted? 
A stock on which a stock option and a single stock future contract are proposed to be introduced is required to fulfill the following broad eligibility criteria:-

· The stock shall be chosen from amongst the top 500 stocks in terms of average daily market capitalization and average daily traded value in the previous six months on a rolling basis. 

· The stock’s median quarter-sigma order size over the last six months shall be not less than Rs.1 lakh. A stock’s quarter-sigma order size is the mean order size (in value terms) required to cause a change in the stock price equal to one-quarter of a standard deviation. 

· The market wide position limit in the stock shall not be less than Rs.50 crore. 

A stock can be included for derivatives trading as soon as it becomes eligible. However, if the stock does not fulfill the eligibility criteria for 3 consecutive months after being admitted to derivatives trading, then derivative contracts on such a stock would be discontinued.

What measures have been specified by SEBI to protect the rights of investor in the Derivatives Market? 
The measures specified by SEBI include:

· Investor’s money has to be kept separate at all levels and is permitted to be used only against the liability of the investor and is not available to the trading member or clearing member or even any other investor. 

· The Trading Member is required to provide every investor with a risk disclosure document which will disclose the risks associated with derivatives trading so that investors can take a conscious decision to trade in derivatives. 

· The investor would get the contract note duly time stamped for receipt of the order and execution of the order. The order will be executed with the identity of the client. Without client ID, the order will not be accepted by the system. The investor could also demand the trade confirmation slip with his ID in support of the contract note. This will protect him from the risk of price favour, if any, extended by the member. 

· In the derivative markets, all monies paid by the investor towards margins on all open positions is kept in trust with the Clearing House/Clearing Corporation and in the event of default of the trading or clearing member, the amounts paid by the client towards margins are segregated and not utilized towards the default of the member. However, in the event of a default by a member, losses suffered by the investor, if any, on settled/ closed out position are compensated from the Investor Protection Fund, as per the rules, bye-laws and regulations of the derivative segment of the exchanges.

· The Exchanges are required to set up arbitration and investor grievances redressal mechanism operative from all the four areas/ regions of the country. 

What is minimum contract size? 

SEBI has specified that the value of a derivative contract should not be less than Rs. 2 lakh at the time of introducing the contract in the market.  

What is a mini derivative contract?

The minimum contract size for the mini derivative contract on Index (Sensex and Nifty) is Rs. 1 lakh at the time of its introduction in the market. The lower minimum contract size means that smaller investors are able to hedge their portfolio using these contracts with a lower capital outlay. This means a better hedge for portfolio and also results in more liquidity in the market.

Why longer dated index options?

Longer dated derivatives products are useful for those investors who want to have a long term hedge or long term exposure in derivative market. The premiums for longer term derivatives products are higher than for standard options in the same stock because the increased expiration date gives the underlying asset more time to make a substantial move and for the investor to make a healthy profit. Presently, longer dated options on Sensex and Nifty with tenure of upto 3 years are available for the investors.

What is the Expiration Day?
It is the last day on which the contracts expire. Futures and Options contracts expire on the last Thursday of the expiry month. If the last Thursday is a trading holiday, the contracts expire on the previous trading day. For E.g. The January 2008 contracts mature on January 31,2008.
What is the lot size of contract in the equity derivatives market?

Lot size refers to number of underlying securities in one contract. The lot size is determined keeping in mind the minimum contract size requirement at the time of introduction of derivative contracts on a particular underlying.

For example, if shares of XYZ Ltd are quoted at Rs.1000 each and the minimum contract size is Rs.2 lakh, then the lot size for that particular scrips stands to be 200000/1000 = 200 shares i.e. one contract in XYZ Ltd. covers 200 shares.

What is the contract cycle for Equity based products?
Futures and Options contracts have a maximum of 3-month trading cycle -the near month (one), the next month (two) and the far month (three), except for the Long dated Options contracts. New contracts are introduced on the trading day following the expiry of the near month contracts. The new contracts are introduced for a three month duration. This way, at any point in time, there will be 3 contracts available for trading in the market (for each security) i.e., one near month, one mid month and one far month duration respectively. For example on January 26,2008 there would be three month contracts i.e. Contracts expiring on January 31,2008, February 28, 2008 and March 27, 2008. On expiration date i.e January 31,2008, new contracts having maturity of April 24,2008 would be introduced for trading.
What are Currency Futures?

Currency futures are contracts to buy or sell a specific underlying currency at a specific time in the future, for a specific price. Currency futures are exchange-traded contracts and they are standardized in terms of delivery date, amount and contract terms.

Currency future contracts allow investors to hedge against foreign exchange risk. Since these contracts are marked-to market daily, investors can—by closing out their position—exit from their obligation to buy or sell the currency prior to the contract’s delivery date. Currency Futures have been further explained in detail in Chapter 22.

Interest Rate Futures

Interest rate futures are derivative contracts which have an interest bearing GOI security as the underlying instrument. The buyer of an Interest Rate Futures contract agrees to take delivery of the underlying bonds when the contract expires, and the contract seller agrees to deliver the debt instrument. Most contracts are not settled by delivery, but instead are traded out before expiration.  The value of the contract rises and falls inversely to changes in interest rates. For example, if Govt. bond yields rise, prices of Govt. bonds fall and hence futures contracts on Govt. bonds also fall in price. Converse also holds true. Interest Rate Futures have been further explained in detail in Chapter 23.


BEGIN DERIVATIVES TRADING: QUESTIONS & ANSWERS 

Source: NSE


How do I start trading in the derivatives market?
Futures/ Options contracts in both index as well as stocks can be bought and sold through the trading members. Some of the trading members also provide the internet facility to trade in the futures and options market. You are required to open an account with one of the trading members and complete the related formalities which include signing of member-constituent agreement, Know Your Client (KYC) form and risk disclosure document. The trading member will allot to you a unique client identification number.   To begin trading, you must deposit cash and/or other collaterals with your trading member as may be stipulated by him.

Is there any margin payable?
Yes. Margins are computed and collected on-line, real time on a portfolio basis at the client level. Members are required to collect the margin upfront from the client & report the same to the Exchange.
How are the contracts settled?
All the Futures and Options contracts are settled in cash on a daily basis and at the expiry or exercise of the respective contracts as the case may be. Clients/Trading Members are not required to hold any stock of the underlying for dealing in the Futures / Options market. All out of the money and at the money option contracts of the near month maturity expire worthless on the expiration date.
FEW BASIC STRATEGIES 

Have a view on the market? 

Example A.
On 01 March an investor feels the market will rise
-
Buys 1 contract of March ABC Ltd. Futures at Rs. 260 (market lot: 300) 

09 March
-
ABC Ltd. Futures price has risen to Rs. 280
-
Sellsoff the position at Rs. 280. Makes a profit of Rs.6000 (300*20)
Example B.
On 01 March an investor feels the market will fall
-
Sells 1 contract of March ABC Ltd. Futures at Rs. 260 (market lot: 300)

09 March
· ABC Ltd. Futures price has fallen to Rs. 240

· Squares off the position at Rs. 240

· Makes a profit of Rs.6000 (300*20)

Example C.
Assumption: An investor feels the market will rise over the short term. Possible Action by you: Buy Nifty calls
Example:
Current Nifty is 3880. You buy one contract (lot size 50) of Nifty near month calls for Rs.20 each. The strike price is 3900. The premium paid by you : (Rs.20 * 50)= Rs.1000. Given these, your break-even Nifty level is 3920 (3900+20). If at expiration, Nifty advances to 3974, then:
Nifty expiration level
3974
Less Strike Price
3900
Option value
74.00(3974-3900)
Less Purchase price
20.00
Profit per Nifty
54.00
Profit on the contract
Rs. 2,700 (Rs. 54* 50)
Note:
1) If Nifty is at or below 3900 at expiration, the call holder would not find it profitable to exercise the option and would lose the premium i.e. Rs.1000. If at expiration, Nifty is between 3900 (the strike price) and 3920 (breakeven), the holder could exercise the calls and receive the amount by which the index level exceeds the strike price. This would offset some of the cost (premium).

2) The holder, depending on the market condition and his perception, may sell the call even before expiry.

Example D.
Assumption: An investor feels the market will fall over the short term Possible Action by you: Buy Nifty puts
Example:
Current Nifty is 3880. You buy one contract (lot size 50) of Nifty near month puts for Rs.17 each. The strike price is 3840. The premium paid by you will be Rs.850 (17*50). Given these, your break-even Nifty level is 3823 (i.e. strike price less the premium). If at expiration, Nifty declines to 3786, then:
Put Strike Price 

3840
Nifty expiration level      3786
Option value                     54 (3840-3786)
Less Purchase price        17
Profit per Nifty                37
Profit on the contract
Rs.1850(Rs.37*50)
Note:
1) 
If Nifty is at or above the strike price 3840 at expiration, the put holder would not find it profitable to exercise the option and would lose the premium i.e. Rs.850. If at expiration, Nifty is between 3840 (the strike price) and 3823 (breakeven), the holder could exercise the puts and receive the amount by which the strike price exceeds the index level. This would offset some of the cost (premium).
3)    The holder, depending on the market condition and his perception, may sell the put even before expiry.
Example E.
Use Put as a portfolio hedge?
Assumption: You are concerned about a downturn in the short term in the market and its effect on your portfolio. The portfolio has performed well and you expect it to continue to appreciate over the long term but would like to protect existing profits or prevent further losses.
Possible Action by you: Buy Nifty puts.
Example:
You hold a portfolio of 5000 shares of ABC Ltd. Ltd. valued at Rs. 10 Lakhs (@ Rs.200 each share). Beta of ABC Ltd. is 1. Current Nifty is at 4250. You wish to protect your portfolio from a drop of more than 10% in value (i.e. Rs. 9,00,000). Nifty near month puts of strike price 3825 (10% away from 4250 index value) is trading at Rs. 2. To hedge, you buy 5 puts i.e. 250 Nifties, equivalent to Rs.10 lakhs*1 (Beta of ABC Ltd) /4250 or Rs. 1130000/4250. The premium paid by you is Rs.500 (i.e.250*2). If at expiration, Nifty declines to 3500, and ABC Ltd. falls to Rs. 164.70, then
Put Strike Price                             3825

Nifty expiration level                   3500                    

Option value (per Nifty)              325 (3825-3500)

Less Purchase price (per Nifty)  2

Profit per Nifty                               323

 Profit on the contract   Rs.80,750 (Rs.323* 250)

ABC Ltd. shares value   Rs.8,23,500 

Profit on the Nifty          Rs.80,750

put contracts 

Total value                      Rs.9,04,250
Rs. 9,04,250 is approx. 10% lower than the original value of the portfolio. Without hedging and using puts, the investor would have lost more than 10% of the value.
Risks associated with trading in Derivatives- Some Examples
Example 1.
An investor purchased 100 Nifty Futures @ Rs. 4200 on June 10. Expiry date is June 26.
Total Investment : Rs. 4,20,000. 

Initial Margin paid : Rs. 42,000
On June 26, suppose, Nifty index closes at 3,800. 

Loss to the investor (4200 - 3780) X 100 = Rs. 42,000
The entire initial investment (i.e. Rs. 42,000) is lost by the investor.
Example 2.
An investor purchased 100 ABC Ltd. Futures @ Rs. 2500 on June 10. Expiry date is June 26.
Total Investment : Rs. 2,50,000. 

Initial Margin paid : Rs. 37,500
On June 26, suppose, ABC Ltd. shares close at Rs. 2000. 

Loss to the investor (2500 - 2000) X 100 = Rs. 50,000 

Example 3.
An investor buys 100 Nifty call options at a strike price of Rs. 4000 on June 15. Nifty index is at 4050. 

Premium paid = Rs. 10,000 (@Rs. 100 per call X 100 calls).

Expiry date of the contract is June 26.

On June 26, Nifty index closes at 3900.
The call will expire worthless and the investor losses the entire Rs. 10,000 paid as premium.
Example 4.
An investor buys 100 ABC Ltd. put options at a strike price of Rs. 400 on June 15. 

ABC Ltd. share price is at 380. 

Premium paid = Rs. 5,000 (@Rs. 50 per put X 100 calls).
Expiry date of the contract is June 26
On June 26, ABC Ltd. shares close at Rs. 410.
The put will expire worthless and the investor losses the entire Rs. 5,000 paid

Chapter 22

	CURRENCY DERIVATIVES


The Reserve Bank of India in its Annual Policy Statement for the Year 2007-08 proposed to set up a Working Group on Currency Futures to study the international experience and suggest a suitable framework to operationalise the proposal, in line with the current legal and regulatory framework. This Group submitted its report in April, 2008. Following this, RBI and Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) jointly constituted a Standing Technical Committee to inter-alia evolve norms and oversee implementation of Exchange Traded Currency Derivatives. The Committee submitted its report on May 29, 2008. This report laid down the framework for the launch of Exchange Traded Currency Futures in terms of the eligibility norms for existing and new Exchanges and their Clearing Corporations/Houses, eligibility criteria for members of such Exchanges/Clearing Corporations/Houses, product design, risk management measures, surveillance mechanism and other related issues.
The Regulatory framework for currency futures trading in the country, as laid down by the regulators, provide that persons resident in India are permitted to participate in the currency futures market in India subject to directions contained in the Currency Futures (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2008, which have come into force with effect from August 6, 2008.
The membership of the currency futures market of a recognised stock exchange has been mandated to be separate from the membership of the equity derivative segment or the cash segment. Banks authorized by the Reserve Bank of India under section 10 of the Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 as 'AD Category -I bank' are permitted to become trading and clearing members of the currency futures market of the recognized stock exchanges, on their own account and on behalf of their clients, subject to fulfilling certain minimum prudential requirements pertaining to net worth, non-performing assets etc.
NSE was the first exchange to have received an in-principle approval from SEBI for setting up currency derivative segment. National Stock Exchange was the first exchange to launch Currency futures trading in India on August 29, 2008 with the launch of currency futures trading in US Dollar-India Rupee (USD-INR). MCX-SX also commenced operations soon thereafter.  Moreover, United Stock Exchange, a joint venture promoted by BSE, is expected to launch the currency futures segment very soon.

Permitted Currencies

Currency futures are currently available in US Dollars, British Pounds, Euro and Japanese Yen. 

Trading Mechanism

The Currency Derivatives trading system  provides a fully automated screen-based trading for currency futures on a nationwide basis as well as an online monitoring and surveillance mechanism.

The system supports an order driven market, wherein orders match automatically. Order matching is essentially on the basis of security, its price and time. All quantity fields are in contracts and price in Indian rupees. The exchange notifies the contract size and tick size for each of the contracts traded on this segment from time to time. When any order enters the trading system, it is an active order. It tries to find a match on the opposite side of the book. If it finds a match, a trade is generated. If it does not find a match, the order becomes passive and sits in the respective order book in the system.

Contract Specifications for Currency Futures
Currency Derivatives contracts are traded having near 12 calendar month expiry cycles. All contracts expire two working days prior to the last working day of every calendar month (subject to holiday calendars). This is also the last trading day for the expiring contract. The contract would cease to trade at 12:00 noon on the last trading day. A new contract with 12th month expiry would be introduced immediately ensuring availability of 12 monthly contracts for trading at any point.

 Chapter 23

	INTEREST RATE FUTURES


The financial sector, corporate and even households are affected by interest rate risk. Interest rate fluctuations impact portfolios of banks, insurance companies, primary dealers, provident funds etc. Households with loans to pay off are affected by a rise in rates. Interest rates are linked to a variety of economic conditions. They can change rapidly, impacting investments and debt bligations.

Interest rate risk can be minimized through the use of interest rate futures. An interest rate futures contract is "an agreement to buy or sell a debt instrument at a specified future date at a price that is fixed today." Interest rate futures are derivative contracts which have an notional interest bearing security as the underlying instrument. The buyer of an interest rate futures contract agrees to take delivery of the underlying debt instruments when the contract expires and the seller of interest rate futures agrees to deliver the debt instrument.

The value of interest rate futures contracts rise and fall inversely to changes in interest rates. As interest rates rise, bond prices fall and consequently the futures prices fall and vice versa. The rationale is that as interest rates increase, the opportunity cost of holding bond decreases, since investors are able to realize greater yields by buying other investments that have higher interest rates. Futures prices mirror these rise and falls of the underlying bond prices.

Overview of Interest Rate Futures
· Interest rate futures are derivative contracts which have an interest bearing GOI security as the underlying instrument.

· The buyer of an Interest Rate Futures contract agrees to take delivery of the underlying bonds when the contract expires, and the contract seller agrees to deliver the debt instrument.

· Most contracts are not settled by delivery, but instead are traded out before expiration.

· The value of the contract rises and falls inversely to changes in interest rates. For example, if Govt. bond yields rise, prices of Govt. bonds fall and hence futures contracts on Govt. bonds also fall in price. Converse also holds true.

Interest Rate Futures at NSE
	Particulars
	Description

	Symbol
	10YGS7

	Market Type
	N

	Instrument Type
	FUTIRD

	Underlying
	10 Year Notional Coupon-bearing Government of India (GOI) security

	Notional Coupon
	7% with semi-annual Compounding

	Tick size
	0.25paise orINR 0.0025

	Trading Hours
	9:00 am to 5:00 pm (Monday to Friday)

	Contract Size
	INR 2 lakhs

	Quotation
	Similar to quoted price of GOI securities up to four decimals with 30/360 day count convention.

	Tenor
	Maximum Maturity: 12 months

	Contract Cycle
	Four Fixed quarterly contracts for entire year ending March, June, September & December. To start with NSE has introduced two quarterly contracts

	Daily Settlement Price
	Volume Weighted average price of the contract during the time period specified by the Exchange. If not traded in specified timings then the theoretical price of the contract as determined by the exchange will be the daily settlement price

	Settlement Mechanism
	•  Daily Settlement - Marked to market daily 

• Final Settlement - Physical settlement on delivery day in the delivery month i.e. last working day of the month

	Deliverable Grade Securities
	• GOI Securities maturing at least 8 years but not more than 10.5 years from first day of the delivery month with a minimum total outstanding of Rs 10,000 crores. The list of the deliverable grade securities will be informed by the exchange from time to time. 

• Further any new security which meets the eligibility criteria as mentioned above shall be added to the list of deliverable grade securities. However, additions, if any, shall be made not later than 10 business days before the first business day of the delivery month

	Conversion Factor
	The conversion factor would equate the deliverable security (per rupee of principal), to yield 7% with semiannual compounding.

	Invoice Price
	Futures settlement price times conversion factor plus accrued Interest

	Last Trading Day
	Two business day preceding the last business day of the delivery month.

	Delivery Day
	Last business day of the delivery month.

	Initial Margin
	SPAN ® Based Margin subject to minimum 2.33% on first day and 1.6% subsequently.

	Extreme loss Margin
	0.3% of the value of the gross open positions of the futures contracts


Physical Settlement Mechanism
· The Interest Rate Futures contracts at NSE would be physically settled by the delivery of deliverable grade securities.

· Physical delivery will be through electronic book entry system of NSDL, CDSL
and SGL/CSGL Settlement through RBIPDO

· Settlement cycle: T+2 delivery with seller's intention to deliver two business days prior to actual delivery date.

Conversion Factor System

· The invoice value of futures must be adjusted to reflect the specific pricing characteristics of the security that is tendered. Accordingly, bond futures utilize a "conversion factor" to reflect the value of the security that is tendered by reference to the 7% futures contract standard.

· Conversion factors for all the deliverable securities would be known on the first trading day of each futures contract.

Say for example, following are the conversion factors for deliverable securities for a 7% 10Y GOI security future contract:
	Security
	Conversion Factor

	6.90% GOI2019
	0.9931

	6.35% GOI2020
	0.9545

	7.94% GOI2021
	1.0713

	10.25% GOI2021
	1.2465

	8.20% GOI 2022
	1.0949


Cheapest to Deliver
· The short position holder can choose from the list of deliverable bonds, depending on which of the available bonds is the cheapest to deliver.

· For that we need to calculate the following for each of the deliverable bond:

· Current Market Price

· Adjusted Futures Price

The bond with the lowest basis would be the cheapest to deliver (CTD) bond. Basis is equal to the difference between market price of bond and adjusted futures price (futures price multiplied by conversion factor).
Financing Cost & Implied Repo Rate
· Financing cost is the cost of borrowing for funding the long bond position through repo.

· Implied repo rate is the rate of return that can be earned by simultaneously selling a bond futures contract and then buying an actual bond in the cash market  using borrowed money. The bond is held until it is delivered into the futures contract and the borrowing is repaid.

Applications of Interest Rate Futures
Retail participants can primarily use futures for trading and hedging purposes as illustrated below.

· Directional Trading
· If one has a strong view that interest rates will rise in the near future and wants to benefit from rise in interest rates; one can do so by taking short position in IRF contracts and benefit from the falling futures prices.
· Hedging loan against increase in interest rates (short hedge)
· A Individual expecting the interest rates to go up and thus, higher cash outflows in future, can hedge the risk by going short in the interest rate futures contracts.
IRF for Individuals having a Home loan

/ have taken a home loan on floating rate of interest. I am worried about rise in interest rates, which shall increase the EMI of my home loan. Can I protect myself against interest rate fluctuations?

Yes. With Interest rate futures, one can hedge against interest rate fluctuations. Let us understand the use of interest rate futures with the help of an example
Case Study 1 - Convert your floating rate home loan to fixed rate home loan
Atul has taken a home loan from a bank on floating rate of interest and needs to hedge his interest rate risk. If bank increases the floating rate it will affect the cash outflow of Atul due to increase in monthly EMI. Therefore to manage his Interest rate risk he may enter into IRF contract.

The bank is charging floating interest rate of (BPLR + 2%) which is currently at 7%. 

Loan Details
	Amount
	Rs.50 Lakhs

	Rate of Interest
	7%

	Tenure
	10Years(120Months)

	EMI
	Rs. 58,054 per month


In case there is 100 basis point increases in BPLR, it shall lead to change in floating rate from 7% to 8% which will impact his EMI as below:
	Rate of Interest
	8%

	EMI
	Rs. 60,663 per month


How can Atul hedge his above interest rate risk?

Atul can sell interest rate future contracts to minimize the loss due to rising interest rates.

Entering in to an IRF contract
Atul sells 25 contracts of IRF (25*2000*100) = INR 50 lakhs on 31st Aug- 2009.
	Trade date
	31-Aug-2009

	Interest Rate
	7%

	Futures Price
	Rs100

	Margin Paid
	Rs 125000 (2.5%)


If on 02-Nov-2009, the bank has increased the home loan interest rate to 8% due to increase of BPLR, then futures price will fall to Rs 93.21. Atul close out his position by buying 25 contracts and gain in futures market.

	Trade date
	02-Nov-2009

	Interest Rate
	8%

	Futures Price
	Rs 93.21

	Profit on Futures
	(100-93.21)*2000*25 =Rs.3,39,500

	Loss on Home Loan
	(60,663-58,054)*120 Months = Rs. 3,13,080

	Net Gain
	(3,39,500-3,13,080) = Rs. 26,420


Therefore, we can see that Atul has hedged his exposure of the home loan against Interest rate risk by taking the position in IRF.

In the above example we have seen that how one can convert his floating rate home loan to a fixed rate home loan. Similarly, one can convert his fixed rate home loan to a floating rate home loan. Let us understand the same with the help of a case study.

Case study 2- Convert your fixed rate home loan to floating rate home loan
Pradip is having a home loan on a fixed rate of interest and may incur a notional loss if Interest rates go down. He wants to convert his fixed rate home loan to floating rate loan. 

Loan Details
	Amount
	Rs.50 Lakhs

	Rate of Interest
	10%

	Tenure
	10Years(120Months)

	EMI
	Rs. 66,075


Even if interest rates go down the EMI of Pradip shall remain fixed. But Pradip will incur notional loss due to fall in interest rate.

If the bank has reduced the home loan interest rate to 9% due to decrease of BPLR then the notional loss on home loan will be Rs 2738 per month
	Rate of Interest
	9%

	Estimated EMI
	Rs. 63,337

	Notional Loss
	66,075-63,337 = (Rs.2738) per month



Therefore, he can hedge this notional loss by taking long position in IRF Pradip can buy interest rate future contracts to hedge his interest rate risk due to falling interest rate.

Entering in to an IRF contract

Pradip buys 25 contracts of IRF (25*2000*100) @ INR 50 lakhs on 31st Aug 2009

	Trade date
	31-Aug-2009

	Interest Rate
	7%

	Futures Price
	Rs100

	Margin Paid
	Rs 125000 (2.5%)


On 2-Nov-09 assuming the interest rate falls to 6% and the futures price is 107.44.

	Trade date
	02-Nov-2009

	Interest Rate
	6%

	Futures Price
	107.44

	Profit onFutures
	(107.44-100)*2000*25=Rs.3,72,000

	Loss on Home Loan
	(66,075-63,337)*120 Months = Rs. 3,28,560

	Net Gain
	(3,72,000-3,28,560) = Rs. 43,440


Therefore, Pradip has achieved his objective of converting his fixed rate home loan to a floating rate by taking position in IRF
Though interest rate futures contract is a hedging tool, however there would not be a perfect hedge as there may not be perfect relation between the interest rate on the home loan and the 10 yr interest rate.

Chapter 24

	INVESTOR ASSOCIATIONS


It is often difficult for an investor to fight for his rights at an individual level. This can also include settling of investor grievances. It is ideal for an investor to become a member of at least one investor association, who can take up causes on his behalf. Moreover, many of the investor associations regularly organize education seminars for their members, in addition to organizing special talks by eminent experts. Many of these efforts are supported by the Investor Education & Protection Fund, Ministry of Corporate Affairs and SEBI. 

The list of investor associations/NGOs/voluntary agencies registered with IEPF and SEBI is given in List 3 at the end of this Guide.

Chapter 25

	INVESTOR GRIEVANCE REDRESSAL


The capital market can grow only when investors find it safe for them to invest and they are assured that the rules governing the market are fair and just for all the players. Moreover, there has to be an effective mechanism for resolutions of disputes and grievances.

The following are the authorities/mechanisms for handling of investor grievances.
MINISTRY OF CORPORATE AFFAIRS

One of the important activities relating to investor awareness is the handling of investors’ grievances.  The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA), along with other financial sector regulators, needs to provide an efficient and effective grievance redressal framework to address and resolve the grievances speedily.

MCA has a multi-level framework for handling of the investor grievances.  At the first level, the investors can approach any of the officers of the Registrar of Companies, the Regional Directors as well as the Headquarters of MCA with their grievances.   As a standard process, the complaints received by these authorities are taken up with the respective companies. For complaints relating to areas not in the charter of MCA, these are forwarded to the relevant   regulator and the investors are also advised to approach the concerned regulator.

Investor Grievance Handling & Redressal acquired a special focus with the implementation of MCA21 e-Governance portal, which has a dedicated online facility for filing of grievances online without having to visit the ROC office.  It also has ‘online status tracking’ facility which enables an investor to monitor the progress of redressal. 
Investor Grievance handling under MCA21

There are three main steps:

1. Lodging of complaint

An investor first needs to log in to the MCA21 page of the Ministry’s website, www.mca.gov.in/MCA21/. This webpage provides an option of lodging the complaints under the link ‘Investor Grievances’. This link also provides an option for tracking the status of the complaints.

By clicking on the link for ‘Lodging Complaint’ an ‘Investor Complaint Form’ opens which is required to be filled in by the investor.

An important field in the form relates to ‘nature of complaint’ which helps in categorizing the complaints. The broad areas in which the nature of complaint has been divided into are as follows:

a. Shares or dividends

b. Debentures or bonds

c. Fixed deposits (non-receipt of amount)

d. Miscellaneous non-receipt

e. Non-filing of return of cessation of a director

f. Other complaints of serious nature

The form also allows for provision of attachment of relevant papers/ documents which an investor may like to submit in support of the complaint. An investor should ensure that the form is filled fully and correctly before submitting it. Upon successful submission, the system generates a unique ‘Service Request Number’ (SRN) which facilitates subsequent tracking of the complaint.

2. Processing of complaint 

Once a complaint is successfully submitted and SRN is generated, the e-complaint is directed to the back office portal of the concerned ROC office. who processes the complaint through correspondence for which ‘L1’ (Letter 1) is generated by the system. This L1 is a standard letter template which provides for forwarding the complaint to the concerned company and directing the company to respond to the complaint within 10 days time. The system also generates an ‘Acknowledgement Letter’ to the complainant intimating that the complaint has been taken up with the respective company.

In case no reply is received within the stipulated time, L2 (Letter 2), which is in the nature of reminder to the company, is generated through the system. If no reply is received, an order under Section 234(1) of the Companies Act is generated through the system, calling for relevant records to be produced before the ROC for verification/ scrutiny. This facilitates the ROC to legally enforce redressal of the complaint. In case the company still ignores this order, a prosecution is filed after issue of order under Section 234(3A) of the Companies Act.

In case the company responds within the specified time, the same is forwarded to the complainant and his comments are sought. In case the complainant is satisfied with the reply of the company and acknowledges the same to the ROC office, the complaint is treated as closed and the company is intimated accordingly. However, in case, the complainant is not satisfied with the reply, he can send his comments to the ROC which again takes up the matter with the company. The role of ROC, till this process, is of facilitating redressal by the company. However, in case it is observed that the company has been resorting to frivolous replies, the ROC steps in to invoke the provisions of Section 234(1) of the Companies Act, to enable taking the process to its logical end. The complainant is kept informed throughout the entire process through the online tracking facility.

3. Closure of complaint

Once intimation is received from the complainant that he is satisfied with the replies of the company or with the steps taken by the company for redressal of his grievances, the complaint is closed under intimation to him as well as the company. In cases where the complainant does not furnish his comments on the reply of the company, a reminder is sent to the complainant and if the response is still not received, the complaint is closed, but only after considering whether the issues have been addressed appropriately by the company.

The portal of the Ministry also provides  guidance to the investors who are desirous of filing complaints through ‘Frequently Asked Questions’ (FAQs) which also explains the process of filing and tracking of complaints. 

Investor Helpline

The Ministry also operates an outsourced service through www.investorhelpline.in. Investor Helpline is a dedicated portal to handle investor grievances under one roof covering areas related to various authorities like Ministry of Company Affairs, Registrar of Companies, Securities and Exchange Board of India and Reserve Bank of India. The service provider takes up the redressal of the complaints both with the concerned regulators as well as with the companies on behalf of the Ministry.  A number of investors have been using this facility.  

The investors can log-in their grievances related to the capital market and company deposits.  Investor Helpline processes these, follows up with the concerned entities and requests the regulators/authorities for intervention at an appropriate time, if required.

Step 1: How to lodge your grievance?

Investors are required to fill in a simple form to register. While registering, the investor can choose his own User ID and Password. The form has several novel and user friendly features. 

In all, there are eleven different types of Grievance Forms, suiting the need of the investor. Investors need Investor Helpline if

· You have not received refund order or allotment advice for shares applied for in a public issue

· You have not received dividend declared on your shares

· You have not received shares or units after allotment, transfer or declaration of bonus

· You have not received debentures, bond certificate, interest or principal amount on redemption

· You have not got an offer of Rights Issue from the company 

· You have not received interest payments from collective investment schemes or plantation companies

· You have not received the annual report, notice for AGM or proxy form

· The change in your address has not been recorded

· You have not received matured amount of your deposits

· There is a grievance relating to your Demat Account

While lodging the complaint, the user can search the company name from an online database which contains over 8000 entities including listed companies, mutual funds, Collective Investment Schemes (CIS) etc. For easy identification, the database contains both old and new names of the companies. In case, the user does not find the desired company in this database, he can request for addition of the company name to the database. IH will then search for the company in its offline database and process the request. 

Once a grievance is lodged, a unique grievance ID is assigned to the investor, which can be used by him for tracking his grievance. The investor need not remember this ID as a facility has been also provided for tracking the grievance by simply logging in the user ID and password. The investor can track the status of his grievance online along with a summarized history sheet detailing the steps taken for redressal of his grievance, replies received etc.

The website has an interactive tracking system and online reminder / redressal mechanism. It also contains a section to inform the investors about their rights under various acts and the procedures to get these enforced.

Step 2: Investor Helpline process

Stage 1 Upon submission, the grievances are scrutinized and the particulars given are checked on various parameters, and in appropriate cases, rejected. The valid complaints are then forwarded to the concerned company/entity for action within 30 days, and copies are sent to the concerned regulators in serious cases.

Stage 2 – If complaints are not responded to or resolved within 30 days, the same are forwarded to the concerned regulator.

Stage 3 – If no response is received from the company in another 30 days, the matter is again taken up with the concerned authorities.

Stage 4 – A further period of 45 days is provided for the redressal of grievance. 

Stage 5 – If the grievance is not redressed within 105 days of filing, the concerned regulator is requested for an intervention.

Stage 6 – After a period of six months, cases are taken up with the concerned regulators/authorities in a consolidated manner for appropriate action and reforms. 

SEBI

In the event of grievances not adequately resolved by the concerned company or the intermediary, investors should approach SEBI. The following kinds of complaints can be filed with SEBI:
Type-I: Refund Order/ Allotment Advise.

Type-II: Non-receipt of dividend.

Type-III: Non-receipt of share certificates after transfer.

Type-IV: Debentures.

Type-V: Non-receipt of letter of offer for rights.

Type VI: Collective Investment Schemes

Type VII: Mutual Funds/ Venture Capital Funds/ Foreign Venture Capital Investors/ Foreign Institutional Investors/ Portfolio Managers, Custodians.

Type VIII: Brokers/ Securities Lending Intermediaries/ Merchant Bankers/ Registrars and Transfer Agents/ Debenture Trustees/ Bankers to Issue/ Underwriters/ Credit Rating Agencies/ Depository Participants.

Type IX: Securities Exchanges/ Clearing and Settlement Organizations/ Depositories.

Type X: Derivative Trading

Type XI: Corporate Governance/ Corporate Restructuring/ Substantial Acquisition and Takeovers/ Buyback / Delisting / Compliance with Listing Conditions

In order to expedite the process of redressal of complaints and to make the process of lodging a complaint easier for the complainants, all SEBI registered intermediaries have been mandated to designate an e-mail ID of the grievance redressal division/compliance officer exclusively for the purpose of handling complaints. The intermediaries have also been advised to display the email ID and other relevant details prominently on their websites.

Primary Market

Most of the issue complaints pertain to non-receipt of refund or allotment, or delay in receipt of refund or allotment and payment of interest thereon. You can approach the compliance officer of the issue, whose name and contact number is mentioned on the cover page of the Offer Document. These complaints can also be made to the post issue Lead Manager, who in turn will take up the matter with registrar to redress the complaints. In case the investor does not receive any reply within a reasonable time, the investor may complain to SEBI.
Secondary Market

A complaint should be filed with the respective stock exchange who is required to resolve all the complaints. If necessary, an investor can also resort to arbitration.  However, if the complaint is not resolved or is unduly delayed, complaints along with supporting documents should be forwarded to SEBI.   

In case of complaint against a sub broker, the complaint should also be forwarded to the broker with whom the sub broker is affiliated. 

Arbitration is an alternative dispute resolution mechanism provided by a stock exchange for resolving disputes between the trading members and their clients in respect of trades done on the exchange. The detailed arbitration procedures are available on the websites of the exchanges.

Mutual Funds
The offer documents contain the name and contact details of the person whom the investors may approach in case of any query, complaints or grievances.  

If the complaints remain unresolved, investors may approach SEBI for facilitating redressal of their complaints. On receipt of complaints, SEBI takes up the matter with the concerned mutual fund and follows up with it regularly. Investors may also send their complaints directly to SEBI.

Collective Investment Schemes 

The investor should approach the concerned CIS. If satisfactory response is not received, the investor should write to SEBI. 

The investors should also approach the District Consumer Redressal Forums in case the concerned CIS fails to honour its commitments or for any deficiency in service. 

For bouncing of post-dated cheques issued by the CIS, investors can move the courts under Section 138 of the Negotiable Instruments Act. 

Where ever the investors do not have a right to the land or to the produce arising out of the land, such investment is treated as deposits and when a company fails to repay the deposits, it attracts the provisions of section 58A of the Companies Act, 1956. SEBI has no jurisdiction over such deposits.

For complaints against CIS before the date of notification of the SEBI Regulations on October 15, 1999, when most CIS had collected funds from the public, any action by SEBI against defaulting entities does not necessarily ensure the refund of money invested by the investors in such entities. 

Portfolio Managers 

Investors would find in the Disclosure Document the name, address and telephone number of the investor relation officer of the portfolio manager who attends to the investor queries and complaints. To help investors, the grievance redressal and dispute mechanism is also provided by the portfolio manager in the Disclosure Document. Investors can also approach SEBI for redressal of their complaints. 

Demat Account
In case of any complaint / problem / query, the investor should first contact his DP. If the DP is unable to resolve, the investor should approach the concerned depository, failing which SEBI should be contacted directly.

STOCK EXCHANGES (NSE/BSE)

The following types of complaints should be filed with the stock exchanges:

· Complaints related to securities traded/listed with the exchanges.

· Complaints regarding the trades effected in the exchange with respect to the companies listed on it. 

· Complaints against the brokers/sub-brokers of the exchange.

NSE: To cater to the needs of investors, NSE has established its Investor Services cell with offices in major towns. This Cell facilitates resolution of complaints of investors against the listed corporate entities and NSE members. The Investor Services Cell also renders administrative assistance to arbitration proceedings in respect of arbitration cases that are admitted for Arbitration under the Exchange's Arbitration Framework.

BSE: To cater to the needs of investors, NSE has established its Department of Investors Services with offices in major towns. This Cell facilitates resolution of complaints of investors against the listed corporate entities and NSE members.  The Investor Services Cell also renders administrative assistance to arbitration proceedings in respect of arbitration cases that are admitted for Arbitration under the Exchange's Arbitration Framework.

Investor Protection Fund: Investor Protection Fund is the fund set up by the Stock Exchanges to meet the legitimate investment claims of the clients of the defaulting members that are not of speculative nature. SEBI has prescribed guidelines for utilization of IPF at the Stock Exchanges. The Stock Exchanges have been permitted to fix suitable compensation limits, in consultation with the IPF/CPF Trust. It has been provided that the amount of compensation available against a single claim of an investor arising out of default by a member broker of a Stock Exchange shall not be less than Rs. 1 lakh in case of major Stock Exchanges viz., BSE and NSE, and  Rs. 50,000 in case of other Stock Exchanges. 

RESERVE BANK OF INDIA

The RBI website has a dedicated facility for investor grievances handling and resolution. All complaints relating to banks and company fixed deposits should be filed with RBI.

CONSUMER FORUM

Shares of debentures after they have been issued are regarded as goods. In case of deficiency of service by an intermediary or company, an investor can approach the Consumer Forum.

Chapter 26

	SOME USEFUL WEBSITES 


Some useful websites, especially related to the capital market, are listed below:

	GOVERNMENT, REGULATORY & OTHER BODIES
	WEBSITE

	COMPANY LAW BOARD
	www.clb.nic.in

	CREDIT INFORMATION BUREAU (INDIA) LTD.
	www.cibil.com

	MINISTRY OF CORPORATE AFFAIRS
	www.mca.gov.in

	MINISTRY OF FINANCE
	www.finmin.nic.in

	RESERVE BANK OF INDIA
	www.rbi.org.in

	SECURITIES & EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA
	www.sebi.gov.in

	

	EDUCATION 
	WEBSITE

	BSE TRAINING INSTITUTE
	www.bseindia.com

	FINANCIAL PLANNING STANDARDS BOARD,INDIA
	www.fpsbindia.org

	FT KNOWLEDGE MANAGEMENT CO.LTD.
	www.ftkmc.com

	ICSI-CENTRE FOR CORPORATE RESEARCH & TRAINING
	www.icsi.edu

	INDIAN INSTITUTE OF CAPITAL MARKETS
	www.utiicm.com

	INDIAN INSTITUTE OF CORPORATE AFFAIRS
	www.iica.in

	INSTITUTE OF CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS OF INDIA,THE
	www.icai.org

	INSTITUTE OF COMPANY SECRETARIES OF INDIA,THE
	www.icsi.edu

	INSTITUTE OF COST & WORKS ACCOUNTANTS OF INDIA
	www.icwai.org

	INVESTOR PROTECTION & EDUCATION FUND
	www.iepf.gov.in

	NATIONAL COUNCIL OF APPLIED ECONOMIC RESEARCH
	www.ncaer.org

	NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF SECURITIES MARKETS
	www.nism.ac.in

	
	

	DEPOSITORIES
	WEBSITE

	CENTRAL DEPOSITORY SERVICES (INDIA) LTD.  
	www.cdslindia.com 

	NATIONAL SECURITIES DEPOSITORY LTD.  
	www.nsdl.co.in 

	
	

	STOCK EXCHANGES
	WEBSITE

	AHMEDABAD STOCK EXCHANGE LTD.
	www.aselindia.org

	BANGALORE STOCK EXCHANGE LTD.
	www.bgse.co.in

	BHUBANESWAR STOCK EXCHANGE LTD.
	www.bhseindia.com

	BOMBAY STOCK EXCHANGE LTD.
	www.bseindia.com

	CALCUTTA STOCK EXCHANGE LTD.
	www.cse-india.com

	COCHIN STOCK EXCHANGE LTD.
	www.cochinstockexchange.com

	DELHI STOCK EXCHANGE LTD.
	www.dseindia.org.in

	INTER-CONNECTED STOCK EXCHANGE OF INDIA LTD.
	www.iseindia.com

	JAIPUR STOCK EXCHANGE LTD.
	www.jsel.in

	LUDHIANA STOCK EXCHANGE LTD.
	www.lse.co.in

	MADHYA PRADESH STOCK EXCHANGE LTD.
	www.mpseindia.com

	MADRAS STOCK EXCHANGE LTD.
	www.madrasstockexchange.in

	MCX STOCK EXCHANGE LTD.
	www.mcx-sx.com

	NATIONAL STOCK EXCHANGE OF INDIA LTD.
	www.nseindia.com

	OTC EXCHANGE OF INDIA
	www.otcei.net

	PUNE STOCK EXCHANGE LTD.
	www.punestockexchange.com

	UNITED STOCK EXCHANGE OF INDIA LTD.
	www.useindia.com

	UTTAR PRADESH STOCK EXCHANGE LTD.
	www.upse-india.com

	VADODARA STOCK EXCHANGE LTD.
	www.vselindia.com
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	ABBREVIATIONS


AMC 
Asset Management Company

AMFI  
Association of Mutual Funds in India

ANMI  
Association of NSE Members of India

ASE  
Ahmedabad Stock Exchange Ltd.

BgSE  
Bangalore Stock Exchange Ltd.

BTI  
Banker to the Issue

BO  
Beneficiary Owner

BSE  
Bombay Stock Exchange

BOLT  
BSE Online Trading System Ltd.

CBI  
Central Bureau of Investigation

CDSL  
Central Depository Services (India) Ltd.

CIS  
Collective Investment Scheme

CoSE  
Cochin Stock Exchange Ltd.

CPF  
Customer Protection Fund

CSE  
Calcutta Stock Exchange Ltd.

CSX  
Coimbatore Stock Exchange Ltd.

DFI  
Development Financial Institution

DP  
Depository Participant

DSE  
Delhi Stock Exchange Ltd.

ED  
Enforcement Directorate

FAQs  
Frequently Asked Questions

F&O  
Futures and Options

FII  
Foreign Institutional Investor

GoI  
Government of India

HSE  
Hyderabad Stock Exchange Ltd.

ICAI  
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India

ICSI  
Institute of Company Secretaries of India

IDR  
Indian Depository Receipts

IPF  
Investor Protection Fund

IPO  
Initial Public Offering

ISE  
Inter-connected Stock Exchange

ISIN  
International Securities Identification Number

KIM  
Key Information Memorandum

LSE  
Ludhiana Stock Exchange Ltd.

MBs  
Merchant Bankers

MCA  
Ministry of Corporate Affairs

MFs  
Mutual Funds

NAV  
Net Asset Value

NBFC  
Non Banking Financial Company

NII  
Non-Institutional Investor

NISM  
National Institute of Securities Markets

NSDL  
National Securities Depository Limited

NSE  
National Stock Exchange of India Limited

PIL  
Public Interest Litigation

PSU  
Public Sector Undertaking

QIB  
Qualified Institutional Buyer

RBI  
Reserve Bank of India

RHP  
Red Herring Prospectus

RII  
Retail Individual Investor

RSEs  
Regional Stock Exchanges

SAT  
Securities Appellate Tribunal

SEBI  
Securities and Exchange Board of India

SKSE  
Saurashtra Kutch Stock Exchange Ltd.

SRO  
Self Regulatory Organisation

STT  
Securities Transaction Tax

UCC  
Unique Client Code

UIN  
Unique Identification Number

UPSE  
Uttar Pradesh Stock Exchange

UTI  
Unit Trust of India

VCF  
Venture Capital Fund

VSE  
Vadodara Stock Exchange Ltd.

LIST 1

REGULATORY BODIES

ASSOCIATION OF MUTUAL FUNDS IN INDIA

706-708,BALARAMA

BANDRA-KURLA COMPLEX

BANDRA (E)

MUMBAI-400021

PHONE: 26590206, 26590243, 26590246

FAX: 26590209

EMAIL: sinor@amfiindia.com

URL: www.amfiindia.com

BAR COUNCIL OF INDIA

21,ROUSE AVENUE

INSTITUTIONAL AREA

NEW DELHI-110002

PHONE: 23231647, 23231648, 22918636

FAX: 23231767

EMAIL: info@barcouncilofindia.org

URL: www.barcouncilofindia.org

CENTRAL DEPOSITORY SERVICES (INDIA) LTD.

PHIROZE JEEJEEBHOY TOWERS,17TH FLOOR

DALAL STREET, FORT

MUMBAI-400001

PHONE : 22723333,22723334

FAX   : 22723199

EMAIL : investors@cdslindia.com

URL   : www.cdslindia.com
COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL OF INDIA

POCKET-9

DEEN DAYAL UPADHYAY MARG

NEW DELHI-110124

EMAIL: pdis@cag.gov.in

URL: www.cag.gov.in

INDIAN NEWSPAPER SOCIETY

INS BUILDING

RAFI MARG

NEW DELHI-110001

PHONE: 23715401

FAX: 23723800

EMAIL: ins@ins.org.in

URL: www.indiannewspapersociety.org

INSTITUTE OF CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS OF INDIA

ICAI BHAWAN

INDRAPRASTHA MARG

NEW DELHI-110002

PHONE: 30110401, 30110404, 39893989

FAX: 30110581

EMAIL: icaiho@icai.org

URL: www.icai.org

INSTITUTE OF COMPANY SECRETARIES OF INDIA

ICSI HOUSE

22, INSTITUTIONAL AREA

LODHI ROAD

NEW DELHI-110003

PHONE: 41504444, 24617321, 24617324

FAX: 24626727

EMAIL: info@icsi-india.com

URL: www.icsi.edu

INSTITUTE OF COST & WORKS ACCOUNTANTS OF INDIA

12, SUDDER STREET

KOLKATA-700016

PHONE: 22521031, 22521034, 22521035

FAX: 22527993

EMAIL: ceo@icwai.org

URL: www.icwai.org

INSURANCE REGULATORY & DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

PARISRAMA BHAVANAM, 3RD FLOOR

BASHEERBAGH

HYDERABAD-500004

PHONE: 23381100

FAX: 66823334

EMAIL: irda@irda.gov.in

URL: www.irdaindia.org

MINISTRY OF CORPORATE AFFAIRS

SHASTRI BHAVAN, 5TH FLOOR, A-WING

RAJENDRA PRASAD ROAD

NEW DELHI-110001

PHONE: 23382324, 23384017, 23389227

FAX: 23384257

EMAIL: hq.delhi@mca.gov.in

URL: www.mca.gov.in

MINISTRY OF FINANCE

DEPT.OF ECONOMIC AFFAIRS

NORTH BLOCK

NEW DELHI-110001

PHONE: 23014871

FAX: 23017271

EMAIL: igcell@nic.in

URL: www.finmin.nic.in

MINISTRY OF INFORMATION & BROADCASTING

A-WING, SHASTRI BHAWAN

DR.RAJENDRA PRASAD ROAD

NEW DELHI-110001

PHONE: 23384453

EMAIL: jsb.inb@nic.in

URL: www.mib.nic.in

NATIONAL HOUSING BANK

CORE 5-A, INDIA HABITAT CENTRE, 3RD-5TH FLOOR

LODI ROAD

NEW DELHI-110003

PHONE: 24649031, 24649032, 24649033

FAX: 24646988

EMAIL: ho@nhb.org.in

URL: www.nhb.org.in

NATIONAL SECURITIES DEPOSITORY LTD.

TRADE WORLD, A-WING, 4TH FLOOR

KAMALA MILLS COMPOUND

SENAPATI BAPAT MARG, LOWER PAREL

MUMBAI-400013

PHONE : 24994200

FAX   : 24976351

EMAIL : info@nsdl.co.in

URL   : www.nsdl.co.in
PRESS COUNCIL OF INDIA

SOOCHNA BHAWAN

8, C.G.O COMPLEX, LODHI ROAD

NEW DELHI-110003

PHONE: 24366746, 24366405, 24366404

FAX: 24366224

EMAIL: pcibpp@gmail.com

URL: www.presscouncil.nic.in

REGISTRAR OF COMPANIES
Registrar of Companies, Andhra Pradesh

MINISTRY OF CORPORATE AFFAIRS

2ND FLOOR, CPWD BUILDING

KENDRIYA SADAN

SULTAN BAZAR, KOTI

HYDERABAD-500195

PHONE: 040-4657937, 4652807

FAX: 040-4652807

EMAIL: roc.hyderabad@mca.gov.in

Registrar of Companies, Bihar & Jharkhand

MINISTRY OF CORPORATE AFFAIRS

4TH FLOOR, BLOCK A WESTERN WING

MAURYA LOK COMPLEX

DAK BANGLOW ROAD

PATNA-800001

PHONE: 0612-222172

FAX: 0612-222172

EMAIL: roc.patna@mca.gov.in

Registrar of Companies, Goa Daman & Diu

MINISTRY OF CORPORATE AFFAIRS

COMPANY LAW BHAWAN

PLOT NO.21, EDC COMPLEX, PATTO

PANAJI-403001

PHONE: 0832-2438617, 2438618

FAX: 0832-2438618

EMAIL: roc.goa@mca.gov.in

Registrar of Companies, Gujarat

MINISTRY OF CORPORATE AFFAIRS

ROC BHAVAN, OPP. RUPAL PARK SOCIETY

BEHIND ANKUR BUS STOP

NARANPURA

AHMEDABAD-380013

PHONE: 079-27437597

FAX: 079-27438371

EMAIL: roc.ahmedabad@mca.gov.in

Registrar of Companies, Jammu & Kashmir

MINISTRY OF CORPORATE AFFAIRS

HALL NO.405 - 408

BAHU PLAZA, SOUTH BLOCK

RAIL HEAD COMPLEX

JAMMU-180012

PHONE: 2470306

FAX: 0191-2470306

EMAIL: roc.jammu@mca.gov.in

URL: www.rocjammu.nic.in

Registrar of Companies, Karnataka, Bangalore

MINISTRY OF CORPORATE AFFAIRS

2ND FLOOR,'E' WING

KENDRIYA SADAN

KORAMANGALA

BANGALORE-560034

PHONE: 080-25537449, 25633104/5

FAX: 080-25538531

EMAIL: roc.bangalore@mca.gov.in

URL: www.kar.nic.in/roc

Registrar of Companies, Kerala & Lakshadweep

MINISTRY OF CORPORATE AFFAIRS

COMPANY LAW BHAWAN

BMC ROAD

THRIKKAKARA

KOCHI-682021

PHONE: 0484-2423749, 2421489

FAX: 0484-2422327

EMAIL: roc.ernakulam@mca.gov.in

URL: www.rockerala.nic.in

Registrar of Companies, M.P. & Chattisgarh, Gwalior

MINISTRY OF CORPORATE AFFAIRS

3RD FLOOR, SANJAY COMPLEX, 'A' BLOCK

JAYENDRA GANJ

GWALIOR-474009

PHONE: 0751-2321907

FAX: 0751-2331853

EMAIL: roc.gwalior@mca.gov.in

Registrar of Companies, Maharashtra, Mumbai

MINISTRY OF CORPORATE AFFAIRS

100, EVEREST,MARINE DRIVE

MUMBAI-400002

PHONE: 22812639

FAX: 022-22811977

EMAIL: roc.mumbai@mca.gov.in

Registrar of Companies, NCT of Delhi & Haryana

MINISTRY OF CORPORATE AFFAIRS

4TH FLOOR, IFCI TOWER

61, NEHRU PLACE

NEW DELHI-110019

PHONE: 011-26235703, 26235704

FAX: 011-26235702

EMAIL: roc.delhi@mca.gov.in

Registrar of Companies, Orissa

MINISTRY OF CORPORATE AFFAIRS

2ND FLOOR, CHALCHITRA BHAWAN

OFDC, BUXI BAZAR

CUTTACK-753001

PHONE: 0671-2305361, 2306958

FAX: 0671-2305361

EMAIL: roc.cuttack@mca.gov.in

Registrar of Companies, Puducherry

MINISTRY OF CORPORATE AFFAIRS

1ST FLOOR, NO. 35

ELANGO NAGAR

PUDUCHERRY-605011

PHONE: 0413-2240129

EMAIL: roc.pondicherry@mca.gov.in

URL: www.rocpondy.pon.nic.in

Registrar of Companies, Pune

MINISTRY OF CORPORATE AFFAIRS

PMT BUILDING, PUNE STOCK EXCHANGE

3RD FLOOR, DECCAN GYMKHANA

PUNE-411004

EMAIL: roc.pune@mca.gov.in

Registrar of Companies, Punjab, H.P. & Chandigarh

MINISTRY OF CORPORATE AFFAIRS

CORPORATE BHAWAN, PLOT NO.4 B

SECTOR 27 B

MADHYA MARG

CHANDIGARH-160019

PHONE: 0172-2639415, 2639416

FAX: 0172-2639416

EMAIL: roc.chandigarh@mca.gov.in

Registrar of Companies, Rajasthan, Jaipur

MINISTRY OF CORPORATE AFFAIRS

CORPORATE BHAWAN

2ND FLOOR,G/6-7,RESIDENCY AREA

CIVIL LINES

JAIPUR-302001

PHONE: 0141-2222465, 2222466

FAX: 0141-2222464

EMAIL: roc.jaipur@mca.gov.in

Registrar of Companies, Shillong

MINISTRY OF CORPORATE AFFAIRS

MORELLO BUILDING, GROUND FLOOR

SHILLONG-793001

PHONE: 0364-2223665

EMAIL: roc.shillong@mca.gov.in

Registrar of Companies, Tamilnadu, Chennai

MINISTRY OF CORPORATE AFFAIRS

2ND FLOOR,BLOCK NO. 6, B WING,SHASTRI BHAWAN

NO.26, HADDOWS ROAD

CHENNAI-600034

PHONE: 044-28277182, 28272676

FAX: 044-28234298

EMAIL: roc.chennai@mca.gov.in

URL: www.rocchennai.tn.nic.in

Registrar of Companies, Tamilnadu, Coimbatore

MINISTRY OF CORPORATE AFFAIRS

REGISTRAR OF COMPANIES

2ND FLOOR,STOCK EXCHANGE BUILDING

683,TRICHY ROAD, SINGANALLUR

COIMBATORE-641005

PHONE: 0422-2318170, 2319640(D)

FAX: 0422-2324012

EMAIL: roc.coimbatore@mca.gov.in

URL: www.roccoimbatore.tn.nic.in

www.rockovai.tn.nic.in

Registrar of Companies, Uttar Pradesh & Uttaranchal, Kanpur

MINISTRY OF CORPORATE AFFAIRS

10/499 B, ALLENGANJ,KHALASI LINE

KANPUR-208002

PHONE: 0512-352304

FAX: 0512-291769

EMAIL: roc.kanpur@mca.gov.in

Registrar of Companies, West Bengal

MINISTRY OF CORPORATE AFFAIRS

NIZAM PALACE, 2ND M.S.O. BUILDING

2ND FLOOR, 234/4, A.J.C.BOSE ROAD

KOLKATA-700020

PHONE: 033-22800409

FAX: 033-22903795

EMAIL: roc.kolkata@mca.gov.in

RESERVE BANK OF INDIA

CENTRAL OFFICE

SHAHID BHAGAT SINGH ROAD

MUMBAI-400001

PHONE: 22600502, 22630502

FAX: 22600358

EMAIL: helpdoc@rbi.org.in

URL: www.rbi.org.in
	SECURITIES & EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA


HEAD OFFICE

SEBI BHAVAN,PLOT NO.C-4A,G-BLOCK

BANDRA-KURLA COMPLEX, BANDRA (EAST)

MUMBAI-400051

PHONE: 26449000, 40459991

FAX: 26449013

EMAIL: sebi@sebi.gov.in

URL: www.sebi.gov.in
NORTH ZONE 
5TH FLOOR, BANK OF BARODA BUILDING
16,SANSAD MARG
NEW DELHI-110001. 
PHONE : 23724001-05
FAX   : 23724006
EMAIL : sebinro@sebi.gov.in 
SOUTH ZONE
3RD FLOOR,D'MONTE BUILDING
32,D'MONTE COLONY
TTK ROAD,ALWARPET
CHENNAI-600018 
PHONE : 24674000/24674150
FAX   : 24674001 
EMAIL : sebisro@sebi.gov.in  
EAST ZONE
3RD FLOOR,L&T CHAMBERS
16,CAMAC STREET
KOLKATA-700017
PHONE : 23023000
FAX   : 22874307 
EMAIL : sebiero@sebi.gov.in  
WEST ZONE
GROUND FLOOR,UNIT NO-002,SAKAR I
NEAR GANDHIGRAM RAILWAY STATION 
OPP.NEHRU BRIDGE ASHRAM ROAD 
AHMEDABAD-380009
PHONE : 26583633/35 
EMAIL : sebiwro@sebi.gov.in 

 STOCK EXCHANGES
Ahmedabad Stock Exchange Ltd.

KAMDHENU COMPLEX

OPP.SAHAJANAND COLLEGE, AMBAWADI

AHMEDABAD-380015

PHONE: 26307971, 26307972, 26307973

FAX: 26308877

EMAIL: info@aselindia.org

URL: www.aselindia.org

Bangalore Stock Exchange Ltd.

STOCK EXCHANGE TOWERS

51,J.C.ROAD,1ST CROSS

BANGALORE-560027

PHONE: 41575234, 41575235

FAX: 41575232

EMAIL: bgse@bgse.co.in

URL: www.bgse.co.in

Bhubaneswar Stock Exchange Ltd.

STOCK EXCHANGE BHAVAN

P-2,JAYADEV VIHAR

P.O.CHANDRASEKHARPUR

BHUBANESWAR-751023

PHONE: 2545082

FAX: 2545094

EMAIL: bhse@sancharnet.in

URL: www.bhseindia.com

Bombay Stock Exchange Ltd.

PHIROZE JEEJEEBHOY TOWERS

DALAL STREET, FORT

MUMBAI-400001

PHONE: 22721234, 22721233

FAX: 22721919

EMAIL: info@bseindia.com

URL: www.bseindia.com

Calcutta Stock Exchange Ltd.

7,LYONS RANGE

KOLKATA-700001

PHONE: 22104470, 22306977, 22306928

FAX: 22102210

EMAIL: cseadmn@cse-india.com

URL: www.cse-india.com

Cochin Stock Exchange Ltd.

36/1565-A-17,4TH FLOOR, MES BUILDINGS

JUDGES AVENUE,KALOOR

KOCHI-682017

PHONE: 3048519

FAX: 2400330

EMAIL: cse1@vsnl.com

URL: www.cochinstockexchange.com

Delhi Stock Exchange Ltd.

DSE HOUSE

3/1,ASAF ALI ROAD

NEW DELHI-110002

PHONE: 46470002, 23278918, 46470005

FAX: 46470053

EMAIL: info@dseindia.org.in

URL: www.dseindia.org.in

Gauhati Stock Exchange Ltd.

SARAF BUILDINGS ANNEX

A.T.ROAD

GUWAHATI-781001

PHONE: 517273, 553670, 517883

FAX: 543272

EMAIL: iseght@iscindia.com

Inter-Connected Stock Exchange of India Ltd.

INTERNATIONAL INFOTECH PARK

TOWER 7,5TH FLOOR

SECTOR 30,VASHI

NAVI MUMBAI-400703

PHONE: 27812056, 27812058, 27812062

FAX: 27812061

EMAIL: isesc@bom3.vsnl.net.in

URL: www.iseindia.com

Jaipur Stock Exchange Ltd.

STOCK EXCHANGE BUILDING

J.L.N.MARG, MALVIYA NAGAR

JAIPUR-302017

PHONE: 2729100, 2729094, 2729041

FAX: 2729082

EMAIL: info@jsel.in

URL: www.jsel.in

Ludhiana Stock Exchange Ltd.

FEROZE GANDHI MARKET

LUDHIANA-141001

PHONE: 2774716, 2772317, 4612317

FAX: 2401645

EMAIL: ise@satyam.net.in

URL: www.lse.co.in

Madhya Pradesh Stock Exchange Ltd.

PALIKA PLAZA,PHASE-II

201,M.T.H.COMPOUND,2ND FLOOR

INDORE-452001

PHONE: 432842, 432843, 432844

FAX: 432849

EMAIL: mpse@mpseindia.com

URL: www.mpseindia.com

Madras Stock Exchange Ltd.

EXCHANGE BUILDING

NEW NO.30 (OLD NO.11)

SECOND LINE BEACH

CHENNAI-600001

PHONE: 25228951, 25224392, 25224382

FAX: 25244897

EMAIL: mseed@vsnl.com

URL: www.madrasstockexchange.in

MCX Stock Exchange Ltd.

EXCHANGE SQUARE

CTS NO.255,SUREN ROAD, ANDHERI (E)

MUMBAI-400093

PHONE: 67319000

FAX: 67319004

EMAIL: info@mcx-sx.com

URL: www.mcx-sx.com

National Stock Exchange of India Ltd.

EXCHANGE PLAZA

BANDRA-KURLA COMPLEX

BANDRA (E)

MUMBAI-400051

PHONE: 26598100, 66418100

FAX: 26598120

EMAIL: cc_nse@nse.co.in

URL: www.nseindia.com

OTC Exchange of India

92,MAKER TOWERS 'F'

CUFFE PARADE

MUMBAI-400005

PHONE: 22188164, 22188165, 22188511

FAX: 22188503

EMAIL: otcexin@vsnl.com

URL: www.otcei.net

Pune Stock Exchange Ltd.

SHIVLEELA CHAMBERS,4TH FLOOR

752,SADASHIV PETH

R.B.KUMATHEKAR MARG

PUNE-411030

PHONE: 24485702

FAX: 24460083

EMAIL: punestock@vsnl.com

URL: www.punestockexchange.com

United Stock Exchange of India Ltd.

C-7,LAXMI TOWERS,2ND FLOOR

BANDRA-KURLA COMPLEX

BANDRA (E)

MUMBAI-400051

PHONE: 42444999

FAX: 42444900

EMAIL: info@useindia.com

URL: www.useindia.com

Uttar Pradesh Stock Exchange Ltd.

PADAM TOWERS

14/113,CIVIL LINES

KANPUR-208001

PHONE: 2338115, 2338074

FAX: 2338175

EMAIL: upse@vsnl.in

URL: www.upse-india.com

Vadodara Stock Exchange Ltd.

FORTUNE TOWERS,3RD FLOOR

2547,SAYAJIGUNJ

VADODARA-390005

PHONE: 2361534, 2340378, 2363194

FAX: 2361452

EMAIL: vse@d2visp.com

URL: www.vselindia.com
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AEGON MUTUAL FUND

AMC : AEGON ASSET MANAGEMENT CO.PVT.LTD.
GYS INFINITY,3RD FLOOR                            

PARANJPE 'B' SCHEME,SUBHASH ROAD                  

VILE PARLE (E)                                    

MUMBAI-400057

PHONE  : 67310000

EMAIL    : services@religareaegon.com

WEBSITE: www.religareaegonmf.com

AIG GLOBAL INVESTMENT GROUP MUTUAL FUND

AMC : AIG GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT CO. (INDIA) PVT.LTD.
FCH HOUSE,GROUND FLOOR                            

PENINSULA CORPORATE PARK                          

GANPATRAO KADAM MARG,LOWER PAREL                  

MUMBAI-400013

PHONE  : 40930000,40930101

EMAIL    : investorcare@aig.com

WEBSITE: www.aiginvestments.co.in

AXIS MUTUAL FUND

AMC : AXIS ASSET MANAGEMENT CO.LTD.
NARIMAN BHAVAN,11TH FLOOR                         

VINAY K.SHAH MARG                                 

NARIMAN POINT                                     

MUMBAI-400021

PHONE  : 39403300

EMAIL    : customerservice@axismf.com

WEBSITE: www.axismf.com

BARODA PIONEER MUTUAL FUND

AMC : BARODA PIONEER ASSET MANAGEMENT CO.LTD.
501,TITANIUM,5TH FLOOR                            

WESTERN EXPRESS HIGHWAY                           

GOREGAON (E)                                      

MUMBAI-400063

PHONE  : 30741000

EMAIL    : info@barodapioneer.in

WEBSITE: www.barodapioneer.in

BENCHMARK MUTUAL FUND

AMC : BENCHMARK ASSET MANAGEMENT CO.PVT.LTD.
405,RAHEJA CHAMBERS                               

213,FREE PRESS JOURNAL MARG                       

NARIMAN POINT                                     

MUMBAI-400021

PHONE  : 66512727

EMAIL    : webmaster@benchmarkfunds.com

WEBSITE: www.benchmarkfunds.com

BHARTI AXA MUTUAL FUND

AMC : BHARTI AXA INVESTMENT MANAGERS PVT.LTD.
51,KALPATARU SYNERGY,EAST WING,5TH FLOOR          

VAKOLA                                            

SANTACRUZ (E)                                     

MUMBAI-400055

PHONE  : 40479000

EMAIL    : service@bhartiaxa-im.com

WEBSITE: www.bhartiaxa-im.com

BIRLA SUN LIFE MUTUAL FUND

AMC : BIRLA SUN LIFE ASSET MANAGEMENT CO.LTD.
TOWER A,AHURA CENTRE,2ND FLOOR                    

MAHAKALI CAVES ROAD,MIDC                          

ANDHERI (E)                                       

MUMBAI-400093

PHONE  : 66928000

EMAIL    : connect@birlasunlife.com

WEBSITE: www.birlasunlife.com

CANARA ROBECO MUTUAL FUND

AMC : CANARA ROBECO ASSET MANAGEMENT CO.LTD.
CONSTRUCTION HOUSE,4TH FLOOR                      

5,WALCHAND HIRACHAND MARG                         

BALLARD ESTATE                                    

MUMBAI-400001

PHONE  : 66585000,66585001,66585002            

EMAIL    : crmf@canararobeco.com

WEBSITE: www.canararobeco.com

DEUTSCHE MUTUAL FUND

AMC : DEUTSCHE ASSET MANAGEMENT (INDIA) PVT.LTD.
222,KODAK HOUSE,2ND FLOOR                         

DR.D.N.ROAD                                       

FORT                                              

MUMBAI-400001

PHONE  : 66584300

EMAIL    : dws.mutual@db.com

WEBSITE: www.dws-india.com

DSP BLACKROCK MUTUAL FUND

AMC : DSP BLACKROCK INVESTMENT MANAGERS LTD.
TULSIANI CHAMBERS,WEST WING,11TH FLOOR            

NARIMAN POINT                                     

MUMBAI-400021

PHONE  : 66578000

EMAIL    : service@dspblackrock.com

WEBSITE: www.dspblackrock.com

EDELWEISS MUTUAL FUND

AMC : EDELWEISS ASSET MANAGEMENT LTD.
CHANDERMUKHI,10TH FLOOR                           

NARIMAN POINT                                     

MUMBAI-400021

PHONE  : 40979900

EMAIL    : investor.amc@edelcap.com

WEBSITE: www.edelweissmf.com

ESCORTS MUTUAL FUND

AMC : ESCORTS ASSET MANAGEMENT LTD.
11,SCINDIA HOUSE                                  

CONNAUGHT CIRCUS                                  

NEW DELHI-110001

PHONE  : 23351343,23321654,23325177            

EMAIL    : help@escortsmutual.com

WEBSITE: www.escortsmutual.com

FIDELITY MUTUAL FUND

AMC : FIL FUND MANAGEMENT PVT.LTD.
56,MAKER CHAMBERS VI,5TH FLOOR                    

220,NARIMAN POINT                                 

MUMBAI-400021

PHONE  : 66554000

EMAIL    : investor.line@fidelity.co.in

WEBSITE: www.fidelity.co.in

FORTIS MUTUAL FUND

AMC : FORTIS INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (INDIA) PVT.LTD.

101,SAKHAR BHAVAN,10TH FLOOR                      

NARIMAN POINT                                     

MUMBAI-400021

PHONE  : 66560000

EMAIL    : customercare@fortisinvestments.in

WEBSITE: www.fortisinvestments.in

FRANKLIN TEMPLETON MUTUAL FUND

AMC : FRANKLIN TEMPLETON ASSET MANAGEMENT (INDIA) PVT.LTD.

WOCKHARDT TOWERS,LEVEL 4                          

BANDRA-KURLA COMPLEX , BANDRA (E)                                        

MUMBAI-400051

PHONE  : 67519100

EMAIL    : mktg@templeton.com

WEBSITE: www.franklintempletonindia.com

GOLDMAN SACHS MUTUAL FUND

AMC : GOLDMAN SACHS ASSET MANAGEMENT (INDIA) PVT.LTD.

951-A,RATIONAL HOUSE                              

APPASAHEB MARATHE MARG                            

PRABHADEVI                                        

MUMBAI-400025

PHONE  : 66279322,66279032

EMAIL    : gsamindia@gs.com

WEBSITE: www.gsam.in

HDFC MUTUAL FUND

AMC : HDFC ASSET MANAGEMENT CO.LTD.
RAMON HOUSE,3RD FLOOR                             

H.T.PAREKH MARG                                   

169,BACKBAY RECLAMATION,CHURCHGATE                

MUMBAI-400020

PHONE  : 66316333

EMAIL    : cliser@hdfcfund.com

WEBSITE: www.hdfcfund.com

HSBC MUTUAL FUND

AMC : HSBC ASSET MANAGEMENT (INDIA) PVT.LTD.
314,D.N.ROAD, FORT                                              

MUMBAI-400001

PHONE  : 66145000

EMAIL    : hsbcmf@hsbc.co.in

WEBSITE: www.assetmanagement.hsbc.com/in

ICICI PRUDENTIAL MUTUAL FUND

AMC : ICICI PRUDENTIAL ASSET MANAGEMENT CO.LTD.
PENINSULA TOWER,8TH FLOOR                         

PENINSULA CORPORATE PARK                          

GANPATRAO KADAM MARG,LOWER PAREL                  

MUMBAI-400013

PHONE  : 24997000

EMAIL    : enquiry@icicipruamc.com

WEBSITE: www.icicipruamc.com

IDBI MUTUAL FUND

AMC : IDBI ASSET MANAGEMENT LTD.
IDBI BUILDING,2ND FLOOR                           

PLOT NO.39-41,SECTOR-11                           

CBD BELAPUR                                       

NAVI MUMBAI-400614

PHONE  : 66096100

EMAIL    : contactus@idbimutual.co.in

WEBSITE: www.idbimutual.co.in

IDFC MUTUAL FUND

AMC : IDFC ASSET MANAGEMENT CO.PVT.LTD.

1,INDIABULLS CENTRE                               

841,JUPITER MILL COMPOUND                         

SENAPATI BAPAT MARG,ELPHISTONE ROAD (W)           

MUMBAI-400013

PHONE  : 66289999

EMAIL    : investor@idfcmf.com

WEBSITE: www.idfcmf.com

ING MUTUAL FUND

AMC : ING INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (INDIA) PVT.LTD.

601/602,WINDSOR                                   

OFF C.S.T.ROAD                                    

KALINA,SANTACRUZ (E)                              

MUMBAI-400098

PHONE  : 40827999

EMAIL    : information@in.ing.com

WEBSITE: www.ingim.co.in

JM FINANCIAL MUTUAL FUND

AMC : JM FINANCIAL ASSET MANAGEMENT CO.LTD.

101,MAKER CHAMBERS III,10TH FLOOR                 

NARIMAN POINT                                     

MUMBAI-400021

PHONE  : 39877777

EMAIL    : mktg@jmfinancial.in

WEBSITE: www.jmfinancialmf.com

JP MORGAN MUTUAL FUND

AMC : JP MORGAN ASSET MANAGEMENT INDIA PVT.LTD.

KALPATARU SYNERGY,3RD FLOOR,WEST WING             

SANTACRUZ (E)                                     

MUMBAI-400055

PHONE  : 67837000

EMAIL    : india.investors@jpmorgan.com

WEBSITE: www.jpmorganmf.com

KJMC MUTUAL FUND

AMC : KJMC ASSET MANAGEMENT CO.LTD.

168,ATLANTA                                       

NARIMAN POINT                                     

MUMBAI-400021

PHONE  : 2832350,2832351

EMAIL    : kjmcmutual@kjmcmutual.com

KOTAK MAHINDRA MUTUAL FUND

AMC : KOTAK MAHINDRA ASSET MANAGEMENT CO.LTD.

5A,BAKHTAWAR,5TH FLOOR                            

229,NARIMAN POINT                                 

MUMBAI-400021

PHONE  : 66384444

EMAIL    : mutual@kotak.com

WEBSITE: www.kotakmutual.com

L&T MUTUAL FUND

AMC : L&T INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT LTD.
WORLD TRADE CENTRE COMPLEX,CENTRE-1,27TH FLOOR, CUFFE PARADE                                      

MUMBAI-400005

PHONE  : 61366600

EMAIL    : ltmf@lntmf.com
WEBSITE: www.lntmfl.com

LIC MUTUAL FUND

AMC : LIC MUTUAL FUND ASSET MANAGEMENT CO.LTD.
INDUSTRIAL ASSURANCE BUILDING                     

4TH FLOOR                                         

OPP.CHURCHGATE STATION                            

MUMBAI-400020

PHONE  : 22842521,22851663,22851661            

EMAIL    : licmfamc@licmutual.com

WEBSITE: www.licmutual.com

MIRAE ASSET MUTUAL FUND

AMC : MIRAE ASSET GLOBAL INVESTMENTS (INDIA) PVT.LTD.
UNIT 606,WINDSOR,6TH FLOOR                        

OFF CST ROAD, KALINA,SANTACRUZ (E)                              

MUMBAI-400098

PHONE  : 67800300,67800301

EMAIL    : customercare@miraeassetmf.co.in

WEBSITE: www.miraeassetmf.co.in

MORGAN STANLEY MUTUAL FUND

AMC : MORGAN STANLEY INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT PVT.LTD.
FORBES BUILDING,5TH FLOOR                         

CHARANJIT RAI MARG, FORT                                              

MUMBAI-400001

PHONE  : 22096600

EMAIL    : mfinvestorcare@morganstanley.com

WEBSITE: www.morganstanley.com/indiamf

MOTILAL OSWAL MUTUAL FUND

AMC : MOTILAL OSWAL ASSET MANAGEMENT CO.LTD.
81/82,BAJAJ BHAVAN,8TH FLOOR                      

NARIMAN POINT                                     

MUMBAI-400021

PHONE  : 39804263

EMAIL    : mfservice@motilaloswal.com

WEBSITE: www.motilaloswal.com/assetmanagement
PEERLESS MUTUAL FUND

AMC : PEERLESS FUNDS MANAGEMENT CO.LTD.
1,CHOWRINGHEE SQUARE, 3RD FLOOR                                         

KOLKATA-700069

PHONE  : 40185000

EMAIL    : connect@peerlessmf.co.in

WEBSITE: www.peerlessmf.co.in

PRINCIPAL MUTUAL FUND

AMC : PRINCIPAL PNB ASSET MANAGEMENT CO.PVT.LTD.
EXCHANGE PLAZA,2ND FLOOR,B WING                   

BANDRA-KURLA COMPLEX, BANDRA (E)                                        

MUMBAI-400051

PHONE  : 67720555

EMAIL    : customer@principalindia.com

WEBSITE: www.principalindia.com

QUANTUM MUTUAL FUND

AMC : QUANTUM ASSET MANAGEMENT CO.PVT.LTD.
107,REGENT CHAMBERS,1ST FLOOR                     

NARIMAN POINT                                     

MUMBAI-400021

PHONE  : 22875923

EMAIL    : investorrelations@quantumamc.com

WEBSITE: www.quantumamc.com

RELIANCE MUTUAL FUND

AMC : RELIANCE CAPITAL ASSET MANAGEMENT LTD.
ONE INDIABULLS CENTRE,TOWER 1,12TH FLOOR          

JUPITER MILLS COMPOUND. ELPHINSTONE ROAD                                  

MUMBAI-400013

PHONE  : 30994600

EMAIL    : customer_care@reliancemutual.com

WEBSITE: www.reliancemutual.com

RELIGARE MUTUAL FUND

AMC : RELIGARE ASSET MANAGEMENT CO.PVT.LTD.
GYS INFINITY,3RD FLOOR                            

PARANJPE 'B' SCHEME                               

SUBHASH ROAD,VILE PARLE (E)                       

MUMBAI-400057

PHONE  : 67310000

EMAIL    : service@religaremf.com

WEBSITE: www.religaremf.com

SAHARA MUTUAL FUND

AMC : SAHARA ASSET MANAGEMENT CO.PVT.LTD.

97-98,ATLANTA,9TH FLOOR                           

NARIMAN POINT                                     

MUMBAI-400021

PHONE  : 67520121,67520122,67520127            

EMAIL    : saharamutual@saharamutual.com

WEBSITE: www.saharamutual.com

SBI MUTUAL FUND

AMC : SBI FUNDS MANAGEMENT PVT.LTD.
191,MAKER TOWERS 'E' ,CUFFE PARADE                                      

MUMBAI-400005

PHONE  : 22180221,22180223,22180222            

EMAIL    : partnerforlife@sbimf.com

WEBSITE: www.sbimf.com

SHINSEI MUTUAL FUND

AMC : SHINSEI ASSET MANAGEMENT (INDIA) PVT.LTD.
HARCHANDRAI HOUSE,5TH FLOOR                       

81,MAHARSHI KARVE ROAD                            

MARINE LINES                                      

MUMBAI-400002

PHONE  : 66142900

EMAIL    : investorcare@shinseifunds.com

WEBSITE: www.shinseifunds.com
SUNDARAM BNP PARIBAS MUTUAL FUND

AMC : SUNDARAM BNP PARIBAS ASSET MANAGEMENT CO.LTD.

SUNDARAM TOWERS,2ND FLOOR                         

46,WHITES ROAD, ROYAPETTAH                                        

CHENNAI-600014

PHONE  : 28583362,28583367,22851181            

EMAIL : sundarammutual@sundarambnpparibas.in

WEBSITE: www.sundarambnpparibas.in

TATA MUTUAL FUND

AMC : TATA ASSET MANAGEMENT LTD.
FORT HOUSE                                        

221,DR.D.N.ROAD                                   

FORT                                              

MUMBAI-400001

PHONE  : 66578282,66578259

EMAIL    : kiran@tataamc.com

WEBSITE: www.tatamutualfund.com

TAURUS MUTUAL FUND

AMC : TAURUS ASSET MANAGEMENT CO.LTD.
AML CENTRE-1,GROUND FLOOR                         

8,MAHAL INDUSTRIAL ESTATE                         

MAHAKALI CAVES ROAD,ANDHERI (E)                   

MUMBAI-400093

PHONE  : 66242700

EMAIL    : queries@taurusmutualfund.com

WEBSITE: www.taurusmutualfund.com

UTI MUTUAL FUND

AMC : UTI ASSET MANAGEMENT CO.LTD.
UTI TOWER,GN BLOCK                                

BANDRA-KURLA COMPLEX                              

BANDRA (EAST)                                     

MUMBAI-400051

PHONE  : 66786666

EMAIL    : khurshid.mistry@uti.co.in

WEBSITE: www.utimf.com
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ACTION OF STUDENTS AND YOUTH FOR AWARENESS AND DEVELOPMENT
409,1ST FLOOR,RAMA MARKET
MUNIRKA
NEW DELHI - 110067
   

ADARSH SEVA SANSTHAN
VILLAGE : DEEH - 225202
ASHOKPUR CHACHU SARAIN
POST : SIRAULI KALAN
DISTRICT : BARABANKI
   

AGENCY FOR BACKWARD COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT (ABCD)
AT : MOONLAND
VIA : BRAHMAGIRI
P.O.BHUBAN PUR - 752011
DISTRICT : PURI
   

ADARSHA RURAL DEVELOPMENT & TRAINING SOCIETY
KODIKONDA - 515601
CHILAMATHUR
DISTRICT : ANANTAPUR
   

ANNAI KASTURBA MAGLIR MUNNETRA SANGAM
126,THIRUMALAI COLONY,7TH STREET
PP.CHAVADI
DISTRICT : MADURAI
  

ARUN INSTITUTE OF RURAL AFFAIRS (AIRA)
AT : ASWAKHOLA
VIA : MAHIMAGADI
P.O.KARAMUL - 759014
DISTRICT : DHENKANAL
  

ASSOCIATION FOR WOMEN AWARENESS & RURAL DEVELOPMENT (AWARD)

55A,ANNA SALAI                                         

ATHANI-638502

DISTRICT : ERODE

ASSOCIATION OF FINANCIAL PLANNERS
907,TOLSTOY HOUSE
15-17,TOLSTOY MARG
NEW DELHI - 110001
PHONE : (011)-51522962
FAX : (011)-51522961
  

AVADH GRAMEEN VIKAS SANSTHAN
619,SHAHGANJ (NEAR HEAD POST OFFICE)
SULTANPUR - 228001
PHONE : (05362)-223018, (05362)-225553, (05362)-255023
  

AVADH SAMAJ SEVA SANSTHAN
VILLAGE : KURMIDEEHA
POST : RAMADASPATTI
TEHSHIL : AKBARPUR
DISTRICT : AMBEDKARNAGAR
 

BASTI AREA DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL
AT/P.O.SOVARAMPUR - 756001
DISTRICT : BALASORE
  

BHAGYA ABHIVRIDHI SEVA SAMSTHE
NO.43,NEW VENKATESH NAGAR
KOTNOOR
DISTRICT : GULBARGA
  

BHARAT JYOTI
JHANJIRI MANGALA
CUTTACK - 753009
  

BHARTIYA MAHILA KALYAN SAMITI
PRAKASH BHAWAN
FAIZABAD ROAD
BARABANKI - 225001
  

BRIGHT ASSOCIATION FOR NOBLE & DECENT HUMAN UNDERSTANDING (BANDHU)
MADHUBAN,3RD LANE
PURI - 752002
  

CENTRE FOR ALTERNATIVE TRAINING EVALUATION AND RESEARCH (CATER)
RAJENDRA NAGAR,P.O.MADHUPATANA
CUTTACK - 753010
PHONE : (0671)-2343462
FAX : (0671)-2343462
EMAIL: caterorrissa@hotmail.com, caterorissa@yahoo.co.in
  

CENTRE FOR COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT
PATHAPATNAM ROAD
NEAR CHECK POST
PARALAKHEMUNDI - 761200
  

CENTRE FOR HUMAN RIGHTS RESEARCH STUDIES
37/1,LALMOHAN GHOSH ROAD
NEAR BUS STAND
P.O.KRISHNANAGAR - 741123
DISTRICT : NADIA
  

CENTRE FOR SOCIAL EDUCATION & DEVELOPMENT (CSED)
45,EAST VAITHYANATHAPURAM
MADURAI - 625018
  

CHARITES & SOCIAL RESEARCH FOUNDATION

551/JHA/204,RAM NAGAR                                 

ALAMBAGH                                   

LUCKNOW-226005

CHETTANA VIKAS
ALAGARKOIL - 6255301
DISTRICT : MADURAI
  

CHEYUTA FOUNDATION
H.NO.2-2-763,TULASINAGAR COLONY
GOLNAKA AMBERPET
HYDERABAD - 500013
  

CHITRAKOOT SEVA ASHRAM
MISSION ROAD
NEAR CHURCHGATE
SATRUGHANPURI,KARVI
CHITRAKOOT - 210205
  

CITIZENS ASSOCIATION FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT (CARD)
CORPORATION ROAD
BERHAMPUR - 760001
DISTRICT : GANJAM
  

COMMUNITY ORGANISED FOR OPPRESSED AND DEPRESSED UPLIFTMENT (COODU)
22/29-B3,PALANIAPPA NAGAR
TRICHY ROAD
RAMANATHPURAM
COIMBATORE - 641045
  

CONSUMER ASSOCIATION OF PONDICHERRY
MIG-15,AYYANKUTTIPALAYAM
PONDICHERRY - 605009
  

CONSUMER EDUCATION AND RESEARCH SOCIETY
SURAKSHA SANKOOL, THALTEJ
AHEMDABAD-GANDHINAGAR HIGHWAY
AHMEDABAD - 380054
PHONE : (079)-27489945, (079)-27450528, (079)-27451097
FAX : (079)-27489947
  

CONSUMER UNITY AND TRUST SOCIETY (CUTS)
D-217,BHASKAR MARG,BANI PARK
JAIPUR - 302016
PHONE : (0142)-207482
FAX : (0414)-2207486, (0414)-2203998
EMAIL: cuts@cuts.org
  

DEEP VIDYA MANDIR SAMITI
GAYATRINAGAR
DAUSA - 303303
  

DEEPA RURAL DEVELOPMENT SOCIETY
1/1/321,R.K.NAGAR
OPP.USHODAYA E.M.SCHOOL
ANANTAPUR
  

DEVELOPMENT EDUCATION & WELFARE INSTITUTE (DEWI)
NO.149/2,DALLDURAI BUNGALOW STREET
KOVILPATTI - 628502
DISTRICT : THOOTHUKUDI
  

DOMPUKAR HUMAN DEVELOPMENT SOCIETY
PS : CHAPRA
VILL.& PO DOMPUKAR - 741123
DISTRICT : NADIA
  

EDUCATION,COMMUNICATION & DEVELOPMENT TRUST (EDUCATOR)
PONDUKUDIL
2/5A,MAMARATHUPATTI ROAD
USILAMPATTI - 625532
DISTRICT : MADURAI
  

EETARAM YOUTH ASSOCIATION
H.NO.2-2-7/3/1,LAXMAREDDY COLONY
UPPAL - 500039
DISTRICT : R.R.
  

ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE AND HUMAN CARE
OFFICE NO.1057,SAMINATHAPURAM
OORGAM POST
KOLAR GOLD FIELDS - 563120
DISTRICT : KOLAR
  

FEDERATION OF CONSUMER ORGANISATION
S1,BEACONE VIEW
26,KARANEESWARAR PAGODA STREET
CHENNAI - 600004
  

GANIA UNNAYAN COMMITTEE
P.O.BELAPADAPATNA - 752069
DISTRICT : NAYAGARH
  

GAURI JAN KALYAN VIKAS SAMITI
ME MINI MIG-48
HEMANTH VIHAR,BARRA - 2
KANPUR - 208027
  
GHATKOPAR INVESTORS' WELFARE ASSOCIATION (GIWA)
8,NEEM CHHAYA
M.G.ROAD
GHATKOPAR(EAST)
MUMBAI - 400077
PHONE : (022)-25110426, (022)-25160544, (022)-25115115
WEBSITE : www.ghatkoparinvestors.org
  

GRAM VIKAS PARISHAD
RANGALOO
VIA : KATHIATOLI
P.O.JUMARMUR - 782427
DISTRICT : NAGAON
PHONE : (03672)-249012
EMAIL: gvp79@hotmail.com
  

GRAMA VIKAS SOCIETY
AGALAGURKI - 562101
TALUK : CHICKBALLAPUR
DISTRICT : KOLAR
  

GRAMYA UNNAYAN SANSTHA
POST BOX.38
VILL.P.O.BARKOLA - 782001
DISTRICT : NAGAON
  

GUJARAT INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS ASSOCIATION
KIMSIM,3RD FLOOR
NEAR NAVRANGPURA POST OFFICE
AHMEDABAD - 380009
PHONE : (079)-26430170
FAX : (079)-6568967
  

GURU NANAK SILAI BUNAI KADAI PRAKSHIKSHAN SAMITI
WARD NO.4
PILIBANGA - 335603
DISTRICT : HANUMANGARH
  

HARIHAR BAHUUDDESHIYA SANSTHA
C/O NAKHATE
NAGPUR ROAD,VIDHYA NAGAR
SHREEKRUSHNA MANDIR
WARDHA - 442001
  

HEALTH CARE & SOCIAL WELFARE SOCIETY
24/1676, BRAHMANANDAPURAM
DARGAMITTA
NELLORE - 524003
  

INDIAN INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY & ENTREPRENEURS (INDIA)
IICR CAMPUS
NEAR MANGLA TRADERS
SHAKTI CHOWCA
BIJNOR - 246762
  
INSTITUTE OF COMPANY SECRETARIES OF INDIA,THE (ICSI)
ICSI HOUSE
22,INSTITUTIONAL AREA
LODHI ROAD
NEW DELHI - 110003
  

INTEGRATED WOMEN DEVELOPMENT INSTITUTE
14/57,THIRU NAGAR, VILLIVAKKAM
CHENNAI - 600049
PHONE : (044)-6180489
FAX : (044)-6184970
EMAIL: womenaid@md3.vsnl.net.in
  

INVESTORS AND MARKETING MEMBER'S WELFARE SOCIETY,THE
87,LENIN STREET,1ST FLOOR
KOLKATA - 700013
  

INVESTORS GRIEVANCE FORUM (IGF)
NEELAM NAGAR
MULUND(EAST)
MUMBAI - 400081
PHONE : (022)-5644151
EMAIL: igf.mumbai@vsnl.net
  

INVESTORS GRIEVANCES FORUM (A)
1-8-522/7,SHYAM PRASAD INSTITUTE OF SOCIAL SERVICES
HOTEL SWARAJ LANE
CHIKKADAPALLY
HYDERABAD - 500020
  

JAN KALYAN SEVA SANSTHAN
JAGDISH BHAVAN
MOHALLA GOORAN TALAIYA
NEAR MARWARI SCHOOL
SHAHJANPUR - 242001
  

KAMALNISTHA SANSTHAN
VILLAGE & POST : KOLSIA - 333042
TALUKA : NAWALGARH
DISTRICT : JHUNJHUNU
  

KARIMPUR SOCIAL WELFARE SOCIETY
1,TARAKDAS ROAD
NADIA - 741152
DISTRICT : NADIA
  

KARTIK SHIKSHAN SANSTHAN
127/289,JUHI BUS DEPOT
KANPUR - 208014
  

KERALA INVESTOR PROTECTION AND EDUCATION SOCIETY
36/1669,MULLENKUZHI HOUSE
OPP.SKYLINE MARBLE ARCH,KATTAKARA ROAD
P.O.KALOOR
KOCHI - 682017
  

KISAN BAL AVAM MAHILA KALYAN SAMITI
VILLAGE PARVANPUR
POST.BALPUR
TEHSIL KENALGANJ - 271001
DISTRICT : GONDA
  

KOLHAPUR INVESTORS' ASSOCIATION
KOLHAPUR - 416001
PHONE : (0231)-2667727, (0231)-2653227, 942204475
MR.GIRISH.C.DOSH
EMAIL: kial@vsnl.com
  

KRISHNA JAN KALYAN SAMITI
KHARKA ROAD
HUSSAINABAD
JAUNPUR
  

LITERATE WELFARE ASSOCIATION,TAMILNADU
MAIN ROAD
P.O.KADAMALAIKUNDU - 625579
TALUK : AUNDIPATTI
DISTRICT : THENI
  

MAA KUSHARI MAHILA VIKAS SANSTHAN
VILLAGE AND POST : KUSUMBI
VIA : NAWABGANJ
DISTRICT : UNNAO
  

MAHADEV VIKAS SAMITI
292,JIWAJI NAGAR
THATIPUR
GWALIOR - 474011
  

MAHILA MANDAL SEWA SANSTHAN
476,RAMJANAKI NAGAR
VASHARATHPUR
GORAKHPUR
 

MARCH OF YOUTH FOR HEALTH, EDUCATION & ACTION FOR RURAL TRUST (MY-HEART)
RP-115,PANDAV NAGAR
TANKAPANI ROAD
BHUBANESWAR - 751018
  

MIDAS TOUCH INVESTORS ASSOCIATION
AGARWALA BUILDING
THE MALL
KANPUR - 208001
PHONE : (0512)-304854, (0512)-304844, 983903225
MR.VIRENDRA JAIN
EMAIL: akn@gaitode.com, aish@md3.vsnl.net.in
  

NATURE ENVIRONMENT EDUCATION & DEVELOPMENT SOCIETY (NEEDS)
2/202,WATER TANK ROAD
POST : VALLIPATET
VANIYAMBADI
DISTRICT : VELLORE
  

NEELKANTH SARVSEWA SANSTHAN
3/199,VIKAS NAGAR
LUCKNOW - 226022

NEHRU YUVA MANDAL AKKARA RESULPUR SAMITI
VILLAGE : AKKARA RASULPUR
POST : DADRAUL
SHAHJAHANPUR - 242001
  

NEHRUJI SEVA CENTRE
182,MAIN ROAD
P.O.METTUPETTI - 626203
DISTRICT : VIRUDHUNAGAR
  

NILACHAL SEVA PRATISTHAN
AT : DAYAVIAHAR
VIA : KANAS
P.O.GADASAHI - 752017
DISTRICT : PURI
  

ODD FOUNDATION
PLOT NO.759
SAHEED NAGAR
BHUBANESWAR
  

ORGANIZATION FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT
29/1,MULLAI NAGAR
PULIYAGOUNDAMPATTY
KARUMATHUR P.O - 625514
TALUK : THIRUMANGALAM
DISTRICT : MADURAI
  

PRAGATI EVAM PRERENA SANSTHA
ABOVE CHHAVI STUDIO
RAM NAGAR,SODALA
JAIPUR - 302019
  

PRAKRITIK CHIKITSALAYA TATHA SAMITI
NEAR MAIDAN
TANSEN ROAD,PADAV
GWALIOR


PRIME INVESTORS PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AND LEAGUE (PIPAL)
C-43A,GANGOTRI ENCLAVE
ALAKNANDA
NEW DELHI - 110019
PHONE : (011)-26027164, (011)-32906381
MR.ASHISH AGARWAL, SR.GENERAL MANAGER
EMAIL: info@watchoutinvestors.com
WEBSITE : www.watchoutinvestors.com
  

RAJ MAHILA SHILP KALA VIKAS SANSTHAN
VILLAGE : HEMARIA
LUCKNOW ROAD,VASANTPUR
POST : KOTVALI DEHATH
BAHRAICH - 271801


  

RAJKOT SAHER JILLA GRAHAK SURAKSHA MANDAL
329,POPATBHAI SORATHIA BHAVAN
SADAR BAZAR
RAJKOT - 360001
EMAIL: mavaniramb@sancharnet.in
 

REENA SAMAJ SEVA SAMITI

LATE SHRI SANTHOSH SHARMA VAKIL KA MAKAN              

RAJGADH PHATHAK KE NEECHE                    

DATIYA

RURAL DEVELOPMENT TRUST
64/235,GOVERNMENT HOSPITAL ROAD
THENI - 625531
 

S.K.PUBLIC SCHOOL SAMITI
CHANDNI CHOWK
PURANI ABADI
SRI GANGANAGAR - 335001
  

SARDAR PATEL SANSTHAN
87,BHOOP COLONY,STREET NO.1
NEAR SKHIV MANDIR
S.S.B.ROAD
SRI GANGANAGAR - 335001
  

SAVERA
F-18,70 FEET ROAD
PREM NAGAR-1
KIRADI,NANGLOI
NEW DELHI - 110086
  

SEEMANT GRAMIN MAHILA VIKAS SAMITI
RITHA BAGRAH
POST : BHARADHI
DISTRICT : BAGESWAR
  

SHARDA SHIKSHA SAMITI
SHAHAPUR,NAGAR PALIKA COLONY
SHUJALPUR CITY
SHUJALPUR - 465331
  

SHIV SHIKSHAN SANSTHAN
PRATAP NAGAR
SHOYOPUR,SANGANER
JAIPUR - 302003
  

SHREE JNANODAYA GRAMIN VIDYA TRUST
NO.3704,SUBRAMANI BUILDING
MUTYALPET,MULBAGAL TOWN
DISTRICT : KOLAR
  

SNEKITHI TRUST
V.PUTHUR
SATHIYAMANGALAM POST - 639120
TALUK : KULITHALAI
DISTRICT : KARUR
  

SOCIAL & LITERACY DEVELOPMENT ASSOCIATION (SLDA)
SS-1285,SECTOR-H
LDA COLONY,KANPUR ROAD
LUCKNOW - 226012
  

SOCIETY FOR CAPITAL MARKET RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
10-D,BIGJOS TOWER,10TH FLOOR
NETAJI SUBHASH PLACE
PITAMPURA
DELHI - 110034
PHONE : (011)-27190478
FAX : (011)-27187407
EMAIL: scmrd@bol.net.in
  

SOCIETY FOR COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT PROJECT

88,SREERANGAPALAYAM ROAD                              

KUMARASAMYPATTY                            

SALEM-636007

SOCIETY FOR CONSUMER'S & INVESTORS PROTECTION (SCIP)
1/109,2ND FLOOR
OLD RAJENDER NAGAR
NEW DELHI - 110060
  

SOCIETY FOR DEVELOPMENT OF THE OPPRESSED
40,AVAIYAR STREET
MULLAIVADI - 636141
TALUK : ATTUR
DISTRICT : SALEM
  

SOCIETY FOR EDUCATION ACTION AND DEVELOPMENT
4/34 A,1ST FLOOR
UCHAPPARAMBHU MAIN ROAD
AIYYAR BUNGLOW
MADURAI - 625017
  

SOCIETY FOR EMANCIPATING NEO SOCIAL EDUCATION (SENSE)
MAIN ROAD
THIRUPPACHETTI - 630610
DISTRICT : SIVAGANGI
  

SOCIETY FOR REHABILITATION & DEVELOPMENT OF RURAL WORKERS (SHRUTI)
FLAT NO.135,PLOT NO.56
AMRAPALI GROUP HOUSING SOCIETY
I.P.EXTENSION, PATPARGANJ
DELHI - 110092
  

SRAVANI MAHILA MANDAL
12/4/340,OBULADEVA NAGAR
ANANTAPUR - 515001
  

SURYA RURAL DEVELOPMENT SOCIETY
MOTAKAPALLI
GULUR POST - 561207
TALUK : BAGEPALLI
DISTRICT : KOLAR
  

TAMILNADU INVESTORS ASSOCIATION
AJ-97,9TH MAIN ROAD
ANNA NAGAR
CHENNAI - 600040
PHONE : (044)-4960449, (044)-28312539, 9840162830
MR.A.K.NARAYAN, PRESIDENT
EMAIL: aish@vsnl.com, aish@md3.vsnl.net.in
WEBSITE : www.taindia.com
  

TECHNICAL & SOCIAL RESEARCH ACADEMY
B-32/6,SABHAPATI BHAVAN
NARIA
VARANASI - 221005
  

TRY
H.O.A-33
NEW SELAMPUR MARKET
DELHI - 110053
  

VIVEKANAND GRAMODYOG SANSTHAN

KESHAV NAGAR COLONY                                   

SHAHJAHANPUR-242001

VOC RURAL DEVELOPMENT CENTRE (VOCRDC)
KATCHAIKATTY - 625218
TALUK : VADIPATTY
DISTRICT : MADURAI
  

VOLUNTARY ORGANIZATION IN INTEREST OF CONSUMER EDUCATION (VOICE)
441,(BASEMENT)
JANGPURA
MATHURA ROAD
NEW DELHI - 110044
PHONE : (011)-24319081, (011)-24319078
EMAIL: voice@vsnl.com
100. YUGA MURTI SEVA ASHRAM
GOPALPUR - 752025
DISTRICT : NAYAGARH

WOMENS ORGANISATION FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT (WORD)

POST BOX NO.1                                         

P.O.PANDAMANGALAM-637208

TALUK : PARMATHI VELUR

DISTRICT : NAMAKKAL

INVESTOR ASSOCIATIONS REGISTERED WITH SEBI

ALL GUJARAT INVESTOR PROTECTION TRUST

KRISHNA COMPLEX,BASEMENT                          

NEAR CHOICE RESTAURANT                            

C.G.ROAD                                          

AHMEDABAD-380009

PHONE : 30080881

EMAIL : info@agipt.org

WEBSITE   : www.agipt.org

BHOPAL STOCK INVESTORS ASSOCIATION

79,MALVIYA NAGAR                                  

BHOPAL-462003

PHONE : 2555396,2572758

BOMBAY SHAREHOLDERS' ASSOCIATION,THE

56,BHUPEN CHAMBERS,3RD FLOOR                      

9,DALAL STREET, FORT                                              

MUMBAI-400023

PHONE : 22674885

FAX   : 22674885            

CITIZENS AWARENESS GROUP

2812,SECTOR 38-C                                  

CHANDIGARH 

PHONE : 2692147

EMAIL : contact@cagchandigarh.org

WEBSITE   : www.cagchandigarh.org

COIMBATORE DISTRICT CONSUMERS PROTECTIVE COUNCIL
POST BOX NO.344                                   

7,YMCA BUILDING                                   

HEAD POST OFFICE ROAD                             

COIMBATORE-641001

PHONE : 2301717

CONSUMER EDUCATION & RESEARCH SOCIETY

SURAKSHA SANKOOL, THALTEJ                                           

AHMEDABAD-GANDHINAGAR HIGHWAY                     

AHMEDABAD-380054

PHONE : 27489945,27450528,27451097

FAX   : 27489947            

EMAIL : cerc@cercindia.org

WEBSITE   : www.cercindia.org

CONSUMER GUIDANCE SOCIETY OF INDIA

BLOCK J,MAHAPALIKA MARG                           

AZAD MAIDAN                                       

OPP.CAMA HOSPITAL                                 

MUMBAI-400001

PHONE : 22621612

FAX   : 22659715            

EMAIL : cgsibom@mtnl.net.in

CONSUMER UNITY & TRUST SOCIETY

D-217,BHASKAR MARG, BANI PARK                                         

JAIPUR-302016

PHONE : 2282821

FAX   : 2282485             

EMAIL : cuts@cuts.org

WEBSITE   : www.cuts-international.org

CONSUMERS` GUIDANCE SOCIETY

SRI DEVI COMPLEX,1ST FLOOR                        

Y.V.R.STREET                                      

OPP.DONKA ROAD,PATAMATA                           

VIJAYWADA-520010

PHONE : 2554324

EMAIL : consumerssociety@yahoo.com

FEDERATION OF CONSUMER ASSOCIATIONS,WEST BENGAL

PREMLATA                                          

39,SHAKESPEARE SARANI,7TH FLOOR                   

KOLKATA-700017

PHONE : 22805927

FAX   : 22805927            

EMAIL : fcawb@cal2.vsnl.net.in

GUJARAT INVESTORS & SHAREHOLDERS ASSOCIATION,THE

K.DESAI & CO.                                     

SMIT COMPLEX,4TH FLOOR                            

OFF C.G.ROAD,CHOICE LANE,NAVRANGPURA              

AHMEDABAD-380009

PHONE : 26447712

FAX   : 26568967            

INVESTOR EDUCATION & WELFARE ASSOCIATION

G/5,SIDDHI APARTMENT                              

BEHIND PARAS OIL DEPOT                            

CAMA LANE,GHATKOPAR (WEST)                        

MUMBAI-400086

PHONE : 65753534

FAX   : 25128715            

WEBSITE   : www.ghatkoparinvestors.org

INVESTORS' GRIEVANCES FORUM

9/C,NEELAM NAGAR, MULUND(E)                                         

MUMBAI-400081

PHONE : 21634152

FAX   : 21637432            

EMAIL : igfmumbai@vsnl.net

WEBSITE   : www.igfindia.org

KARIMPUR SOCIAL WELFARE SOCIETY

1,TARAKDAS ROAD                                   

DIST.NADIA-741152

PHONE : 255060

KOLHAPUR INVESTORS' ASSOCIATION

1031/K/2,E-WARD STERLING TOWER                    

GAVAT MANDAI ROAD                                 

SHAHUPURI                                         

KOLHAPUR-416001

PHONE : 2667727,2667427,2653227

EMAIL : kial@vsnl.com

LOKMANYA SEVA SANGH,PARLE

TILAK MANDIR                                      

RAM MANDIR ROAD                                   

VILE PARLE (E)                                    

MUMBAI-400057

PHONE : 26141276,26142123

FAX   : 26117185            

EMAIL : info@lssparle.org.in

WEBSITE   : www.lssparle.org.in

MIDAS TOUCH INVESTORS ASSOCIATION

PEAREY LAL BHAWAN                                 

2,BAHADURSHAH ZAFAR MARG                          

NEW DELHI-110002

PHONE : 42512422,65955297

EMAIL : midas@investorhelpline.in

WEBSITE   : www.investorhelpline.in

MIZORAM CONSUMERS` UNION

LALAT CHAMBER,5TH FLOOR                           

TEMPLE SQUARE,TUIKUAL`S`                          

NEAR SBI MAIN BRANCH,AIZAWL                       

MIZORAM-796001

PHONE : 2311514

EMAIL : mizoconsumer@yahoo.com

WEBSITE   : www.mizoconsumer.org

ORISSA CONSUMERS' ASSOCIATION

DEBAJYOTI UPOVOKTA KALYAN BHABAN                  

BISHWANATH LANE                                   

CUTTACK-753002

PHONE : 2368644

RAJKOT SAHAR JILLA GRAHAK SURAKSHA MANDAL

329,POPATBHAI SORATHIA BHAVAN,3RD FLOOR           

SADAR BAZAR                                       

RAJKOT-360001

PHONE : 2471122,3041329,3047888

FAX   : 2471122             

EMAIL : mavaniramb@sancharnet.in

WEBSITE   : www.consumerramraj.org

SOCIETY FOR CONSUMERS & INVESTORS PROTECTION

118,2ND FLOOR,DD SITE NO.1                        

NEW RAJINDER NAGAR                                

NEW DELHI-110060

PHONE : 28744789,20544692,45082832

FAX   : 28744789            

EMAIL : scipindia@yahoo.com

WEBSITE   : www.scipindia.org

TAMILNADU INVESTORS ASSOCIATION

NO.10-D,AVENUE ROAD                               

NUNGAMBAKKAM                                      

CHENNAI-600034

PHONE : 28312538,26283094

FAX   : 28312539            

EMAIL : akn@tiaindia.com

WEBSITE   : www.tiaindia.com

VOICE SOCIETY

441,JANGPURA                                      

MATHURA ROAD                                      

NEW DELHI-110014

PHONE : 27379078,27379079,27379080

FAX   : 27379081            

EMAIL : legal@consumer-voice.org

WEBSITE   : www.consumer-voice.org
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DISCLAIMER

The information provided herein is purely for dissemination of information and creating awareness among the investors about various aspects of the capital market.  Although due care and diligence has been taken in the preparation/compilation of this reading material, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs or the Editor or the organizations distributing this reading material  shall not be responsible for any loss or damage resulting from any action or decision taken by a person on the basis of the contents of this reading material.

It may also be noted that laws/regulations governing the capital market are continuously updated/changed, and hence an investor should familiarize himself with the latest laws/regulations by visiting the relevant websites or contacting the relevant regulatory body.
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